Public Document Pack

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE
Date:

Monday, 2 June 2014

Time:

6:00 pm

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Executive Members: Those Members Appointed at Annual Council

-2-

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of Executive held on 12
May 2014.

3.

Executive Leader's Announcements

4.

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct.

5.

Petitions

6.

Deputations
To receive any deputations, of which notice has been lodged.

7.

Minutes / References from Other Committees
To receive any reference from the committees or panels held.

(1)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 22 April 2014 of Housing Tenancy Board
(Pages 7 - 12)
Matters for Decision in Public

Note: Where an urgent item of business is raised in accordance with Part 3 of the
Constitution, it will be considered with the relevant service decisions as appropriate.
8.

Appointment of Members to Areas of Responsibility
The Executive Leader is invited to appoint Executive Members to the areas of
responsibility.

9.

Executive Appointments
To appoint Executive Members to the following bodies in 2014/15:(i)

Fareham Museum Joint Management Committee (In 2013/14, the
Executive appointed Councillors Mrs C L A Hockley and B Bayford).

(ii)

Portchester Crematorium Joint Committee (In 2013/14, the Executive
appointed Councillors K D Evans and L Keeble).
(NB. In the past, the Executive has not appointed ‘substitute’ members to
this joint committee. However, the Executive may, if it so wishes
authorise other members of the Executive to act as deputies).

(iii)

Fareham and Gosport Building Control Members’ Panel – (In 2013/14,
the Executive appointed Councillor T M Cartwright).

-3-

(v)

Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH)
As PUSH is a formal Joint Committee, the following appointments are
required to be made by the Executive for 2014/15:(a)

Joint Committee representatives – (In 2012/13, the Borough
Council’s representatives were: Executive Leader (Councillor S D T
Woodward) and Deputy Executive Leader (Councillor T M
Cartwright));

(b)

Sub-Group Meetings – (In 2013/14, the Borough Council’s
representatives were the appropriate Executive Members (as
relevant)); and

(c)

Meeting with Key Consultees and similar Consultation Meetings –
(In 2013/14, the Borough Council’s representatives were Councillors
S D T Woodward and T M Cartwright).

(vi) CCTV Partnership:
(In 2013/14, the Executive appointed Councillor T M Cartwright).
(vii) Fareham and Gosport Environmental Health Partnership Panel
(In 2013/14, the Borough Council's representative was Councillor T M
Cartwright).

10. Leisure and Community
Key Decision Notice
(1)

Award of Contract - Bath Lane Changing Rooms (Pages 13 - 18)
A report by the Director of Community.

11. Planning and Development
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Community Infrastructure Levy Review - Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule (Pages 19 - 70)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

(2)

Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document - Draft
for Consultation (Pages 71 - 164)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

-4-

(3)

Welborne Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document Draft for Consultation (Pages 165 - 216)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

(4)

Fareham Borough Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning
Document (excluding Welborne) - Draft for Consultation (Pages 217 262)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

12. Policy and Resources
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Matched Funding Report (Pages 263 - 272)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

13. Exclusion of Public and Press
To consider whether it is in the public interest to exclude the public and
representatives of the Press from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that
the matters to be dealt with involve the likely disclosure of exempt information, as
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972.
Exempt Matters for Decision
Note: Where urgent items of business are raised in accordance with Part 3 of the
Constitution, they will be considered with the relevant service decisions as appropriate.
14. Policy and Resources
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Business Rate Relief Application - The Rowans Hospice Trading
Company Ltd (Pages 273 - 298)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

(2)

Tenders - Six Monthly Report (Pages 299 - 308)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

P GRIMWOOD
Chief Executive Officer
www.fareham.gov.uk
21 May 2014

-5-

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2

Minutes of the
Executive
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 12 May 2014

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Present:
S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
T M Cartwright, MBE, Public Protection (Deputy Executive
Leader)
B Bayford, Health and Housing
K D Evans, Planning and Development
Mrs C L A Hockley, Leisure and Community
L Keeble, Streetscene
Also in attendance:
P J Davies, Chairman of Housing Tenancy Board; for item 9(1)
M J Ford, JP, Chairman of Appeals Committee
Mrs K Mandry, Chairman of Public Protection Policy Development and Review Panel
Mrs K K Trott, for item 11(1)

Page 1

Executive

1.

-2-

12 May 2014

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies given for this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 7 April
2014 be confirmed and signed as correct record.

3.

EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Executive Leader noted that the meeting marked not only the end of the
municipal year but of the electoral cycle and he offered his thanks to officers
for the support they have provided during this two year cycle. He wished good
luck to all councillors standing for re-election.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor S D T Woodward declared a non-pecuniary interest for item 9(2) as
he is appointed as a Hampshire County Council representative to the
Management Committee for the Genesis Young People’s Centre. Councillor
Woodward remained present at the meeting and took part in the discussion of
the item.
Councillor K D Evans declared a non-pecuniary interest for item 9(2) as he is
appointed as a Hampshire County Council representative to the Management
Committee for the Genesis Young People’s Centre. Councillor Woodward
remained present at the meeting and took part in the discussion of the item.

5.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions presented at this meeting.

6.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

7.

MINUTES / REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES
There were no references given at this meeting.

8.

HEALTH AND HOUSING

(1)

Award of Contract - Emergency Lighting Upgrading Works Contract at
Frosthole Close and Garden Court

That the tender submitted by the contractor which achieved the subsequent
highest overall score, as detailed in the appended evaluation matrix and
complied fully with FBC Terms and Conditions of Contract, be accepted and a
contract awarded to this company
Page 2

Executive

9.

-3-

12 May 2014

LEISURE AND COMMUNITY

(1)

Fareham Park Project Six Monthly Report

At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillor P J Davies addressed the
Executive on this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a)

approves the matched funding of £5,000 from the Fareham Park
Development budget, towards the ‘Clued Up 2 Go’ initiative;

(b)

notes the progress of the Fareham Park Project;

(c)

supports the new priority selected by the Steering Group;

(d)

receives an annual update on the progress of the project, with the next
report being April 2015; and

(e)

requests that the Executive Leader sends a strongly worded letter to
Hampshire County Council to request that the land owned by the County,
at 96 Highlands Road, be developed for community use as a matter of
priority.

(2)

Genesis Young People's Centre - Proposed New Management
Arrangements

Councillor S D T Woodward declared a non-pecuniary interest for this item as
he is appointed as a Hampshire County Council representative to the
Management Committee for the Genesis Young People’s Centre. Councillor
Woodward remained present at the meeting and took part in the discussion of
the item.
Councillor K D Evans declared a non-pecuniary interest for this item as he is
appointed as a Hampshire County Council representative to the Management
Committee for the Genesis Young People’s Centre. Councillor Woodward
remained present at the meeting and took part in the discussion of the item.
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a)

notes that Hampshire County Council has agreed to terminate the
Management Agreement in relation to Genesis and return the building
to Fareham Borough Council, with effect from 31 May 2014;

(b)

agrees to grant Y-Services a tenancy at will (for up to two years) in
return for developing and promoting a programme of youth activities
from the centre;

(c)

requests the Leisure and Community Panel to review the proposed
arrangements after 12 months of operation; and

Page 3

Executive

(d)

10.

-4-

12 May 2014

agrees that Fareham Borough Council holds the funds for the Genesis
Management Committee, pending a review of their constitution,
enabling them to hold funds in their own right.

PUBLIC PROTECTION

(1)

Community Safety Strategy

RESOLVED that the Community Safety Strategy 2014-2017 and the actions
contained therein be endorsed by the Executive and be recommended to the
Council for approval.

(2)

Food Safety Plan

RESOLVED that the Food Safety Service Plan 2014/15, as detailed in
Appendix A to this report, be endorsed by the Executive and be recommended
to Council for approval.

11.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

(1)

Wallington Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management
Strategy: Adoption

At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillor Mrs K K Trott addressed
the Executive on this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive agrees to:
(a)

the Wallington Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management
Strategy, as set out in Appendix B to this report, be adopted as evidence
in support of the Fareham Borough Local Plan Review (June 2000)
saved policies, the policies contained within the Fareham Local Plan Part
1: Core Strategy and the emerging policies of the Fareham Local Plan
Part 2: Development Sites & Policies;

(b)

the preparation of an article 4 direction, as recommended in the
character appraisal document, is supported. Delegated authority was
granted by the Executive to the Executive Member for Planning and
Development in July 2010 to make article 4 directions in accordance with
the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (England) Order 2010; and

(c)

grant delegated authority to the Director of Planning and Environment in
consultation with the Executive Member for Planning and Development
to make minor factual and formatting alterations, including updating of
photographs where appropriate, prior to publication of the adopted
document.

Page 4

Executive

12.

-5-

12 May 2014

POLICY AND RESOURCES

(1)

Business Rate Discretionary Rate Relief

RESOLVED that the Executive agrees:
(a)

to vary the Charitable Relief Policy to allow relief to be granted in the
specific circumstances detailed in the report; and

(b)

to delegate the award of the discretionary relief, as detailed in the report,
to officers in accordance with relevant guidance issued by Government.

(2)

Daedalus Innovation Centre - Provision of Solar Panels on Roof

RESOLVED that the Executive;

13.

(a)

agrees to install PV panels on the roof of the Daedalus Innovation
Centre;

(b)

agrees that the total cost of this is met from the Council’s Capital Fund
Reserves, and;

(c)

approves the procurement of PV panels from an approved installer
through the Design and Build contract for the construction of the
Innovation Centre.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
RESOLVED that in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 the
Public and Press be excluded from the remainder of the meeting, as the
Executive considers that it is not in the public interest to consider the matters
in public on the grounds that they will involve the disclosure of exempt
information, as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act.

14.

POLICY AND RESOURCES

(1)

Young Citizen of the Year Award 2014 - 12-18 Year Old Category

RESOLVED that the Executive approves the selection of two of the candidates
nominated, as Young Citizens of the Year (12-18 year olds).

(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.31 pm).

Page 5

Page 6

Agenda Item 7(1)

Minutes of the
Housing Tenancy Board
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Tuesday, 22 April 2014

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

PRESENT:
Councillor P J Davies (Chairman)
(Vice-Chairman)
Councillors:

Mrs K K Trott and D M Whittingham

Co-opted
members:

Mrs P Weaver, Mr G Wood, Mr B Lee and Mr S Lovelock

Also
Present:

Councillor B Bayford, Executive Member for Health and Housing
(item 2)

Page 7

Housing Tenancy Board

1.

-2-

22 April 2014

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mrs K Mandry.

2.

MINUTES
It was AGREED that the minutes of the Housing Tenancy Board held on 27
January 2014 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.
The Director of Community addressed the Board on this item in regards to
minute item 6 – Arras House Petition. He explained to the Board that following
the last Housing Tenancy Board meeting an offer was made to all residents of
Arras House to replace or move their night storage heaters. Since that offer
has been made the Director of Community met with the Head of Building
Services and agreed a plan of works for Arras House that will include the
installation of gas central heating and new UPVC windows and doors. Tenants
and leaseholders are to be consulted on this proposal within the next few
weeks.
At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor Bayford Executive Member for
Health and Housing addressed the Board on this item.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Chairman’s announcements.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISCLOSURES OF ADVICE OR
DIRECTIONS
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

6.

TENANCY SERVICES PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 2013/14
The Board considered a report by the Director of Community on the Quarterly
Performance Monitoring data for Tenancy Services. The Tenancy Services
Manager presented the report and took questions from members after each
section of the report.
Rent Arrears:
The Board noted that rent arrears have significantly decreased since the last
quarterly report. The Board also noted the increase in notices seeking
possession and evictions.
Empty Homes:
The Board noted the increase in time in letting empty properties, it was
explained to the Board that the main cause of the increase is with sheltered
accommodation, some of which is becoming difficult to let since the recent
Page 8

Housing Tenancy Board

-3-

22 April 2014

changes to the allocations policy came in, as fewer people are now eligible for
these properties.
The Board discussed this item at length, concern was raised by Graham Wood
regarding the possibility of reclassifying some sheltered properties to general
needs properties as some sheltered tenants feel that mixed age groups will not
be compatible due to differences in lifestyles. A suggestion of fitting stairlifts
into some blocks of flats was suggested in order to encourage more sheltered
applicants to apply for these properties. The Director of Community explained
that the installation of stairlifts would be very costly and would not address the
issue of letting the properties due to the requirements of the allocations policy
and it would therefore not help reduce the pressure on the waiting list.
Estate Management:
The Board noted the results of the 6 Estate inspections that have taken place
since the last meeting. Paula Weaver raised an issue regarding the lack of
feedback from Housing Officers regarding issues identified at these meetings,
and the length of time it is taking for some of these issues to be actioned. The
Tenancy Services Manger asked for details of outstanding issues so that these
can be followed up. He also advised the Board that issues regarding grounds
maintenance works are being addressed and that tenants should soon see
improvements in this service.
It was AGREED that the content of the report be noted.
7.

ESTATE IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAMME 2014/15
The Board considered a report by the Director of Community on the Estate
Improvements Programme for 2014/15 and an update on the 2013/14
programme.
Paula Weaver raised an issue regarding the landscaping works at Ransome
Close which should have been completed during 2013/14, and has now been
deferred to the current year 2014/15. She stated that these works have been
outstanding for some time and the works keep being deferred to the following
year. The Tenancy Services Manager informed the Board that this is currently
being addressed with the contractor and that he would liaise with Paula
regarding the start date for these works.
It was AGREED that the Board:(a) noted the content of the report; and
(b) endorses the schemes identified within the report.

8.

BUILDING SERVICES PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 2013/14
The Board considered a report by the Director of Environmental Services on
the Building Services Performance report for 2013/14.
The report was presented by the Planned Maintenance Manager who
explained to the Board that for future meetings the report will look very
different as a result of the new Vanguard (systems thinking) approach that
Page 9

Housing Tenancy Board

-4-

22 April 2014

Building Services are currently piloting. It is hoped that future reports will be
more transparent and easier to understand.
Graham Wood raised the issue of satisfaction cards which are not currently
being used under the new trial. The Director of Community addressed the
Board to explain that the new way of working should remove the need for
satisfaction cards.
Graham Wood also suggested providing customers with a job number when
the book an appointment with the maintenance department to help find their
request should they need to make further contact regarding that request. The
Planned Maintenance Manager stated that this would be looked into. He also
informed the Board that shortly an invitation will be sent to all members and
tenant representatives inviting them to a meeting and walkthrough of the
systems thinking approach in use by Building Services, highlighting how the
process is working and the outcomes to date.
It was AGREED that the content of the report be noted.
9.

UPDATE ON PAST PROGRAMME OF MOBILITY SCOOTER STORAGE
The Board considered a report by the Director of Community which gave an
update on the past programme of Mobility Scooter Storage.
It was AGREED that Board note the content of the report.

10.

GENERAL TENANTS FORUM - CHAIRMAN'S REPORT
At the invitation of the Chairman, Steve Lovelock Chairman of the Tenants
Forum addressed the Board to give an overview of the matters discussed at
the last Forum Meeting.
Some of the items discussed at the Forum meeting included; re-election of the
Chairman, cleaning contract, tenant services update, voids, car parking,
tenants voice newsletter and sheltered housing.
It was AGREED that the Chairman of the Tenants Forum be thanked for his
update.

11.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2013/14 AND FINAL
CONSIDERATION OF DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME
The Board considered a report by the Director of Community which reviewed
the Annual Work Programme for 2013/14 and gave final consideration of the
draft Work Programme for 2014/15.
Councillor Trott addressed the Board to put forward suggestions for the current
work programme, these were; an update in January on the impact on the
removal of the spare room subsidy (RSRS) and an invitation to be sent to the
Streetscene Operations Manager to attend a future meeting to answer
questions for the tenant representatives.
It was AGREED that:Page 10

Housing Tenancy Board

22 April 2014

-5-

(a) the outcomes of the work programme for 2013/14, together with the
revisions stated within the report, be noted;
(b) the proposed work programme for 2014/15, together with the revisions
stated and with the addition of the suggestions above, be approved;
and
(c) the proposed work programme for 2014/15 be submitted to the
Executive for endorsement.

Appendix A
HOUSING TENANCY BOARD –WORK PROGRAMME 2014/2015
Date
28 July 2014

Subject
•

Work Programme 2014/15

•

Quarterly Performance Report – Tenancy Services

•

Quarterly Performance Report – Building Services

•

20 October 2014

26 January 2015

21 April 2015

Appointment of Co-opted Tenant and Leaseholder
Representatives and Deputees to the Housing Tenancy
Board

•

Review and Update of Local Standards

•
•

Tenant and Leaseholder Satisfaction Survey
Work Programme 2014/15

•

Quarterly Performance Report - Tenancy Services

•

Quarterly Performance Report - Building Services

•

Update on Estates Improvement Programme 2014/2015

•

Preliminary review of Work Programme for 2014/15 and
preliminary draft Work Programme for 2015/16

•

Housing Revenue Account including Housing Capital
Programme for 2015/16

•

Quarterly Performance Report - Tenancy Services

•

Quarterly Performance Report - Building Services

•

Review of Annual Work Programme for 2014/15 and
final consideration of draft Work Programme for 2015/16
Page 11

Housing Tenancy Board

22 April 2014

-6-

Date

Subject
•

Annual Performance Report for 2014/15 - Tenancy
Services

•

Annual Performance Report for 2014/15 - Building
Services

•

Estates Improvement Programme for 2015/16

Page 12

Agenda Item 10(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
02 June 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:

Leisure and Community
Award of Contract - Bath Lane Changing Rooms
Director of Community
Leisure Strategy

Corporate
Objective:

Leisure for Health and for Fun

Purpose:
This report presents the tenders received for extension and refurbishment of the
changing room at Bath Lane Recreation Ground, together with the demolition of the
existing club house facility and replacement of the grounds maintenance store.

Executive summary:
As part of the open spaces improvement programme (as approved annually by the
Executive) the Council is undertaking a project to improve the built facilities at the
Bath Lane Recreation Ground.
Tenders have been received and it is recommended that a contract be awarded to
Hampshire Partitioning Contracts in the sum of £464,270.76
The tenders are approximately 4% above the approved budget due to the
increasingly buoyant construction market. In addition there is an extra cost of
£20,000 which needs to be payable to Network Rail to allow scaffold to be erected
on their land to allow work to the northern elevation of the building. Whilst the
Council were aware of the need for Network Rail approval, the actual cost is
significantly higher than anticipated.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive agrees:
(a)

to award a contract to Hampshire Partitioning Contracts for the sum of
£464,270.76 for the extension and refurbishment of the sports changing
rooms at the Bath Lane Recreation Ground; and

(b)

that the capital budget for the changing rooms element of the project be
increased by £44,000 to a total of £444,000

Page 13

Reason:
To allow the extension and refurbishment of the changing rooms at Bath Lane
Recreation Ground and the demolition of the current club house which has reached
the end of its life and is beyond repair.

Cost of proposals:
Within the Open Spaces Improvement programme a combined capital budget of
£450,000 is available for works, of which £10,000 has been spent committed on
project related fees. The total project cost is anticipated to be £494,000 and
additional funding of £44,000 is requested to allow the works to proceed.
The additional funding to be funded from the current uncommitted Section 106
funding for the Fareham CATs area.

Appendices:

A: Tender Evaluation.

Background papers:

Page 14

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 June 2014
Subject: Award of Contract - Bath Lane Changing Rooms
Briefing by: Director of Community
Portfolio: Leisure and Community

INTRODUCTION
1.

As part of the open spaces improvement programme (as approved annually by
the Executive) the Council is undertaking a project to improve the built facilities at
the Bath Lane Recreation Ground.

2.

A capital budget of £400,000 has been allocated to extension and refurbishment
for the changing room’s project with an additional £50,000 for the provision of a
replacement grounds maintenance store. The total budget of £450,000 is to
cover all works and fees.

TENDERS
3.

Following the completion of the detailed design and specification for the works,
tender documents were issued to six following receipt of pre-qualification
questionnaires. Three contractors returned the tenders.

4.

The evaluation of the tenders is included as Appendix A to this report.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
5.

The submitted tender from Hampshire Partitioning Contracts has been
arithmetically checked and found to be correct.

6.

An additional £20,000 is required to obtain the consent of Network Rail to erect
scaffold on their land. The requirement for Network Rail consent was known at
the time, but the actual fee is higher than anticipated.

7.

Of the original £400,000 budget, £10,000 has been spent on fees, leaving a
residual budget of £390,000. The full £50,000 allocated for the grounds
maintenance store is available leaving a total available budget of £440,000.

8.

If the lowest tender is accepted and with the additional costs of achieving the
consent of Network Rail, the total budget cost is £494,000 which leaves a
shortfall of £44,000
Page 15

9.

There is currently £216,000 uncommitted in the Open Spaces Improvement
Programme for the Fareham CATs area and it is proposed that £44,000 of this be
allocated to the Bath Lane project.

10. It is therefore recommended that the capital budget be increased by £44,000 to a
total of £440,000.
RISK ASSESSMENT
11. A risk assessment has been carried out and no significant risks have been
identified.
CONCLUSION
12. The tenders have been received for the extension and refurbishment of the
changing rooms at Bath Lane Recreation Ground. There is a budget shortfall of
£44,000 and it is proposed that this be financed by a corresponding increase in
the budget funded from the currently uncommitted funds in the open spaces
improvement programme.

Page 16

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 17

Page 18

Agenda Item 11(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
02 June 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate Objective:

Planning and Development
CIL First Review - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
Director of Planning and Development
Fareham Local Plan
To protect and enhance the environment
To maintain and extend prosperity
To ensure that Fareham remains a safe and healthy place
to live and work
To provide a reasonable range of leisure opportunities for
health and fun
To work with our key partners to enable and support a
balanced housing market
To build strong and inclusive communities
To be a dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report seeks Executive consideration and approval of the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) First Review Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule for
consultation in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations
2010 (as amended).

Executive summary:
The Community Infrastructure Levy was first introduced by Fareham Borough
Council in May 2013. A commitment was provided at that time to review the
Borough’s CIL rates once the infrastructure planning and viability evidence to
support the Welborne Plan was complete to ensure that rates applicable at
Welborne would be appropriate and would not threaten the viability of that strategic
development.
Consultation on a Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule is the first stage in the
review of the Borough’s CIL and is required by the legislation. The production of the
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule has been based on evidence gathering,
including updating the economic viability assessment undertaken in support of the
current CIL and drawing on updated known infrastructure requirements, costs and
funding streams, including those produced to support the Welborne Plan.
The revised Community Infrastructure Levy rates proposed in the Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule are as follows:
• Any development at Welborne : £0 / m2 (Please note: Whilst a zero rate/£0 is
proposed at Welborne, s106 agreements/planning obligations will be used to

Page 19

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

secure satisfactory development and deliver essential infrastructure, including
the delivery of affordable housing.)
Residential (1-4 units): £185 / m2
Residential (5+ units): £120 / m2
‘Extra Care’ to meet housing needs which require public subsidy: £0 / m2
Hotels: £35 / m2
Care homes for the elderly: £35 / m2
Retail:
o Comparison retail1 (out of town): £35 / m2
o Comparison retail (in-town): £0 / m2
o Convenience retail2 (500m2 or more): £140 / m2
o Convenience retail (499m2 or less): £75 / m2
Standard Charge (applies to all development not separately defined for example:
offices, warehouses, leisure, education): £0 / m2

Recommendation:
(a) That the First Review Community Infrastructure Levy Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule consultation document (as set out at Appendix A) be
approved for a six week consultation period in accordance with the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).
(b) That the Director of Planning and Development, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Strategic Planning and Environment, be authorised to
make any necessary minor changes to the Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule consultation document prior to publication for consultation.
(c) That the proposed timetable for the review of CIL, set out in the accompanying
Executive Briefing Paper, be approved.

Reason:
Consultation on the Community Infrastructure Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
is required by Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).

Cost of proposals:
The cost of preparing the CIL Charging Schedule, to include updating the Boroughwide viability assessment by consultants and the independent CIL examination, is
currently estimated at £75k spread over the two financial years, 2013-14 and 201415. These costs can be met within existing budgets, but part or all of which may be
recovered in due course under the provision of the Community Infrastructure Levy
arrangements.

Appendices:

A: First Review CIL Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
Consultation Document
B: Fareham Economic Viability Assessment (Update 2014)
Executive Summary

1

A convenience unit is a shop or store selling mainly everyday essential items, including food, drinks,
newspapers/magazines and confectionary.
2
A comparison unit is a shop or store selling mainly goods which are not everyday essential items.
Such items include clothing, footwear, household and recreational goods.

Page 20

Background papers:
- Updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan for Fareham Borough (excluding
Welborne) – to be published as part of the consultation exercise
- Fareham Economic Viability Assessment (Update 2014) – to be published as
part of the consultation exercise

Page 21

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 June 2014
Subject: CIL First Review - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
Briefing by: Director of Planning and Development
Portfolio: Planning and Development

INTRODUCTION
1.

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a planning charge on new
development. The ability for a local planning authority to charge the levy came
into effect from April 2010 and Fareham first introduced the levy in May 2013
with approximately £169,000 in levy receipts having been received by the
Council in the intervening period.

WELBORNE AND THE NEED TO REVIEW CIL
2.

Fareham’s current CIL applies across the whole Borough, including Welborne
which means that the current CIL rates for residential, retail and other
development would apply to Welborne. However, based on clear evidence
provided by the infrastructure planning and viability appraisal work
underpinning the Welborne Plan, the decision has been made to use section
106 agreements as the mechanism to secure developer contributions for
Welborne. Section 106 agreements which provide greater flexibility than CIL in
terms of setting trigger points for key infrastructure delivery required at large
strategic sites over significant planning timeframes and allow for the use of a
deferral of contributions policy which is a key part of the approach to ensuring
that the Welborne Plan can operate in a flexible way.

3.

National CIL Guidance requires local authorities to keep their CIL rates under
review and to revise rates where circumstances have changed and where
current rates may no longer be appropriate. Although Fareham’s CIL has only
recently been introduced, the finalisation of the Welborne Plan and the decision
to rely on section 106 for Welborne have given rise to the need to review
current CIL rates. A commitment to undertake such a review, once the
Welborne Plan was complete, was made when the current CIL rates were
being set in late 2012 and early 2013.

Page 22

4.

The CIL legislation requires that any review of CIL applies to the whole of the
charging authority’s area, which means the Borough of Fareham. Therefore, a
review of the rates within the Welborne area alone is not possible and in order
to ensure that an appropriate differential CIL rate can be applied at Welborne, a
full review of the Borough’s CIL is required. It also provides the opportunity to
reflect changes in recent legislation and guidance, as well as reflect on the
impact of CIL on development since operating within the Borough.

THE PRELIMINARY DRAFT CHARGING SCHEDULE
5.

The first formal stage in the review of the Borough’s CIL Charging Schedule is
to publish a Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule for public consultation. The
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule needs to be based on viability evidence
and be informed by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).

6.

To illustrate that a CIL rate is justifiable the charging authority (Fareham
Borough Council) must determine the size of its total or aggregate infrastructure
funding gap. To determine the size of the infrastructure funding gap, officers
have updated the IDP in consultation with infrastructure providers. The IDP
identifies the quantum and type of infrastructure required to realise local
development needs as set out in Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy and within
the emerging Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan. The IDP
estimates costs, identifies potential funding sources and the lead delivery
organisation for each piece of infrastructure. The updated IDP, covering the
parts of the Borough outside of Welborne, is included as a background paper to
this report and will undergo public consultation alongside the Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule between mid-June and late July3. The overall aggregated
infrastructure costs from the IDP are summarised in the Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule Consultation Document (See Table 1 in Appendix A).

7.

The updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan indicates that there is a total funding
gap of £93,528,800 in the Borough, taking into account the other known
sources of funding that will or are likely to be available. It is important to note
that the above figure does not include any infrastructure that will be required to
deliver the Welborne development, due to the use of section 106, rather than
CIL to fund a significant proportion of Welborne’s infrastructure requirements. In
practice additional external funding will also be required, beyond developer
contributions, in order to ensure that the infrastructure required by Welborne is
deliverable. Therefore the funding gap referred to above relates entirely to the
infrastructure required by other development within Fareham Borough as set
out with the Core Strategy and the emerging Development Sites and Policies
Plan. It should be noted that whilst it is necessary to identify a total funding
gap as part of the CIL Review, this calculation represents a snapshot in time,
and sources of infrastructure funding other than CIL will change over time and
in nature. It is anticipated that non-CIL sources of funding will become more
defined as development proposals progress, and opportunities to reduce the

3

There is also a separate IDP covering the Welborne development. As the Welborne IDP has not
been updated and was consulted on alongside the Publication Draft Welborne Plan, it has not been
included as a background document to this report and will not be consulted on in June/July.

Page 23

gap will emerge.
8.

In reviewing and setting CIL rates, the Council is required to strike an
appropriate balance between the desirability of funding infrastructure from CIL
and the potential effects (taken as a whole) of the imposition of CIL on the
economic viability of development across the Borough, using appropriate
available evidence to inform the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule.

9.

To this effect independent consultants were appointed to undertake an updated
CIL economic viability assessment to consider the impacts of the proposed
revised CIL rates on the economic viability of development across the Borough.
An Executive Summary of the updated viability assessment is attached at
Appendix B and the full report will be made available as part of the consultation
exercise.

10. Consistent with their approach in 2012 assessment, the consultants used the
‘residual valuation method’ to assess development viability, in line with
accepted practice and as recommended by Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors and other guidance. Residual valuation methodology was applied to
different land uses and development scenarios, taking account of differences in
values across the Borough. The schemes and scenarios tested were drawn
from the types of development being proposed within the emerging
Development Sites and Policies Plan. In each case a formula was used to
estimate typical residual land values, which is what the site should be worth
once it had full planning permission. The residual value calculation requires a
wide range of inputs, or assumptions, including the costs of development and
the required developer's return.
11. Having estimated the residual value, the consultants then compared this with
the 'benchmark land value' or 'land cost', which is the minimum land value the
landowner might be expected to accept to release his or her land for the
development specified. If the residual land value is below the benchmark value,
the development is not financially viable, even without CIL. If the residual value
is above the benchmark value, the development is viable and the excess of
residual over benchmark value measures the maximum amount that may be
potentially captured by CIL. If the two values are equal, the development is just
viable, but there is no surplus value available for CIL.
12. The report tests a series of development scenarios and in the main the
imposition of CIL is not considered a critical factor in determining whether a
scheme is viable or not, with the relationship between scheme value, costs, the
provision of affordable housing and existing use value benchmarks being far
more important. However, there are a number of reasons why the level of CIL
charged should not be set at the margin of viability, or in other words, it should
not seek to capture too much of the residual value above the benchmark value:
•

The viability evidence undertaken is a snapshot in time and property
markets change constantly over time which means that the CIL rates set
must ensure that they can remain appropriate for the life of the charging
schedule and not result in choking off significant amounts of development,

Page 24

•

•

•

for example, if there was a further downturn in the market. The Statutory
Guidance on CIL specifically requires charging authorities to take this
aspect into account.
The viability appraisals are undertaken using generalised assumptions to
find an 'average' valuation for the type of development being appraised. In
reality, both values and costs vary significantly which means that the levy
rates chosen must allow for the fact that some developments have
abnormally high costs, for example, where the remediation of
contaminated land is required.
The viability appraisals themselves involve a relatively wide margin of
error due to the assumptions that have to be made. Levy rates must take
this into account when being set.
A charge that seeks to extract very high levels of value relative to the
maximum viability would be much more likely to be strenuously opposed
by landowners and developers which will make the levy more difficult to
implement and would be more likely to put development in the area at
serious risk.

13. Taking these factors into account, the consultants have proposed charges that
secure the best possible level of funding for infrastructure but avoid the
problems of setting rates too close to the margin of viability.
Residential
14. For residential development, the appraisals were undertaken on a variety of
development sizes and types. These resulted in a wide range of maximum
possible levy charges, depending on the type and size of development, ranging
from £0 to £413 per square metre. However, one of the most significant factors
in determining the maximum potential charge is the level of affordable housing
delivery assumed. Those residential developments within the Borough where
40% on-site affordable housing would be sought were found to have a
maximum levy charging potential at the lower end of this wide range.
Therefore, in order to ensure that affordable housing would remain deliverable
at the levels set out in the Core Strategy, the residential charge rates proposed
needed to be well below the top of the range of maximum charges.
15. Neither the legislation nor the guidance set requirements on how far below
potential maximum charge levels a charging authority's rates should be set.
This is left to the judgement of the authority. In Fareham's case, where a
current CIL is in operation, the advice provided was to maintain the current
level of CIL charge for most residential developments. Taking into account the
annual mandatory index-linked increases in CIL rates, a rate equivalent to the
£105 per square metre that was set in May 2013 would be £120 per square
metre, assuming that the revised CIL rates take effect after 1 January 2015.
16. One of the recent changes to CIL legislation that has taken effect after
Fareham introduced its current CIL rates is the power to set differential rates by
reference to the size of developments. Taking account of the residential viability
evidence referred to above, the potential now exists for Fareham to set a higher
differential rate for small residential developments which do not make any
contributions to affordable housing. The viability evidence demonstrates that

Page 25

such developments, comprising 1-4 dwellings, have stronger viability than other
residential development and could bear a higher CIL rate. The Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule sets out a rate of £185 per square metre for such schemes.
Extra Care and similar schemes designed to meet housing needs
17. In the current Fareham CIL rate structure, schemes developed for the elderly
that comprise of self-contained dwelling units and which offer care and support
on site (sometimes known as ‘Extra Care’) are charged CIL at the normal
residential rate. This situation ignores the fact that some such schemes are
developed specifically to meet the needs of those who cannot access private
market equivalents. These will only be viable with direct public sector financial
support, even where they do incorporate a small portion of units for private rent
or sale. Having considered the views of Hampshire County Council and others,
it is proposed to recognise such specific circumstances as a separate form of
development and to provide a new ‘zero’ differential rate for Extra Care or
similar schemes which provide more than 50% affordable housing and which
require public sector support to become viable.
Care homes
18. The current CIL charging schedule includes a £60 per square metre rate for
care homes. Further viability work on this type of development has been
undertaken and this has indicated that, such schemes are struggling in viability
terms within the Fareham area. Although they remain generally viable, they are
unlikely to be able to bear the level of CIL currently applicable within Fareham.
Therefore, it is proposed to reduce the differential rate for care homes to £35
per square metre. This is a level, which the evidence indicates would be less
likely to threaten the viability of care home developments.
Retail
19. As with the previous evidence undertaken, the viability of retail development is
complex due to the highly variable values of different types of retail in the
Borough. For example, the consultants found that medium-large format
'convenience retail'4 is generally able to sustain a much higher levy charge than
‘in-town’ 'comparison retail5' within Fareham. A weakening of viability in ‘intown’ comparison retail is reflected in a weakening ‘in town’ comparison retail
market, as for example, the effect of internet shopping continues to increase. A
new finding of the evidence was that the viability of convenience retail did not
vary very much with location across the Borough. Clear viability differences
were found however, depending on the size of development, with smaller
convenience retail showing a reduced level of viability compared to larger
schemes, which included the main supermarkets.
20. As a result of the updated evidence, some changes to Fareham’s current retail
CIL rate structure are proposed. Based on the findings, it is proposed to
maintain the zero differential rate for ‘in-town’ comparison retail, and reflecting
4

A convenience unit is a shop or store selling mainly everyday essential items, including food, drinks,
newspapers/magazines and confectionary.
5
A comparison unit is a shop or store selling mainly goods which are not everyday essential items.
Such items include clothing, footwear, household and recreational goods.

Page 26

the weaker viability of this type of development ‘out-of-town’ the differential rate
for ‘out-of-town’ comparison retail is proposed to be reduced to £35 per square
metre. This geographical differential rate structure within and outside of
Fareham’s town, district and local centres does not apply to convenience retail.
For convenience retail, the evidence pointed to rolling forward the current CIL
rate for larger schemes. Taking indexation into account, £140 per square metre
is proposed for schemes with a net addition of more than 500 square metres of
convenience retail floorspace. For smaller convenience schemes, below the
500 square metre threshold, a reduced rate of £75 per square metre is
proposed to take account of the weaker viability of these forms of development.
Hotels
21. Updated viability appraisal work was undertaken on the viability of a three-star
‘budget’ hotel with 55 bedrooms, typical of out-of-town business park locations.
Although the viability of such schemes was found to be fractionally weaker than
previously seen, it was concluded that there was adequate viability to continue
charging a CIL rate of £35 per square metre. It is recommended that CIL
remains at this rate for hotels within the Borough.
Office and light industrial
22. Viability appraisal work was also undertaken on a range of employment uses,
including office and light industrial developments. The appraisals looked at
speculative development within the Borough, in other words developments
where there was no established user for the building being developed. The
results indicated that there was a negative viability and therefore, there
continues to be no potential for any levy charge at the present time. This
situation is consistent with the findings of other authorities outside of central
London that have already introduced CIL.
Other development
23. The consultants also looked at a number of other uses which were not covered
by the categories referred to above, including youth hostels, cinemas, scrap
yards and others. No specific viability appraisals were undertaken for such
uses, primarily as they are not forms of development being proposed within
Fareham’s Local Plan and very little additional floorspace in these types of uses
is expected to be delivered over the plan period. Based on the consultants’
wider experience of such uses, the overall evidence suggests that there is no
scope for any levy charge on these types of facilities. This is reflected by the
proposed continuation of a zero ‘standard CIL charge rate’ to cover all relevant
types of development that are not subject to the specific differential rates
referred to above.

CONSULTATION
24. A charging authority which proposes to issue a CIL charging schedule must first
prepare a preliminary draft charging schedule for consultation. This is set out
within the CIL First Review Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule Consultation
Document at Appendix A.

Page 27

25. The Regulations do not prescribe a required length of the consultation period
for the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule, however Government guidance
considers that at an appropriate period would be at least six weeks.
Government guidance makes clear that it is for the charging authority to decide
how best to undertake the consultation exercise.
26. Consistent with the consultation undertaken on the previous preliminary draft
charging schedule in 2012, it is proposed that Fareham's consultation will take
place in the following forms:
•

Emails and letters – to be sent to relevant individuals and organisations
on the Council's Local Plan consultation database - including statutory
consultees, neighbouring authorities, developers, agents and other
statutory and service or infrastructure providers.

•

Website - The Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule and supporting
evidence to be published on the Council’s website with instructions for
submitting comments to the consultation.

27. The charging authority must take into account any representations made during
the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule consultation before publishing a Draft
Charging Schedule which represents its firm proposals for the review of CIL.

NEXT STEPS
28. Following consideration of consultation responses to the Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule and when the Council considers that a Draft Charging
Schedule is ready for examination, it must publish the Draft Charging Schedule
and the appropriate available evidence on infrastructure costs, other funding
sources and economic viability. The Council must then call for representations
to be made within a period of at least four weeks. The Council will need to
appoint an examiner to hold an Examination in Public into the Draft Charging
Schedule. Any person may make representations about a draft charging
schedule and that person must be heard before the examiner at the CIL
examination, if they have requested to be heard.
29. Following the examination, the examiner will make recommendations to the
Council which can fall into one of three categories. The examiner can
recommend that the draft charging schedule be approved, approved with
modifications or rejected. Any modifications suggested by the examiner are not
binding on the Council, as long as the problem identified is corrected before the
charging schedule is approved. A report detailing how the identified problems
have been corrected by the Council must be published at the same time as the
approved charging schedule.
30. Assuming that the examiner does not reject the Draft Charging Schedule and
once any problems identified by the examiner have been corrected, the
charging schedule should be formally approved by a resolution of Full Council.
Presuming there are no difficulties or delays in the process, or delays caused

Page 28

by the parallel examinations of Local Plan Parts 2 and 3, the CIL Charging
Schedule could then be adopted by the Council in spring 2015.

THE USE OF SECTION 106
31. Once the levy is adopted, CIL regulations restrict the use of section 106
planning obligations. Pooled contributions may then only be sought from up to
five separate section 106 agreements for each infrastructure project or type that
is not intended to be funded by the levy.
32. The restrictions on the use of section 106 agreements begun to apply within
Fareham in May 2013 when CIL was first introduced and CIL now represents
the primary source of developer contributions in Fareham. However, it is still
appropriate that many developments are liable both to pay CIL and to enter into
a section 106 agreement. The CIL payments and section 106 planning
obligations will cover different things and fund different types or items of
infrastructure. As the law requires, developments will not be charged for the
same items of infrastructure through both section 106 agreements and CIL.
33. Whilst CIL has therefore replaced section 106 agreements in many cases,
section 106 agreements will still be used for some local infrastructure
requirements required to make the development acceptable in planning terms.
These might include local access or connection to services or local open space.
Some of these requirements may be physically off site, but will be secured
under Section 106 where they are clearly linked to the development site and
needed to make that particular development scheme acceptable. Section 106
agreements will also continue to be used for purposes other than the securing
of monetary contributions, for example, to impose restrictions on the use of
land.
34. In order to clarify the types or items of infrastructure for which contributions will
in future no longer be secured via section 106 agreements, the Council has
published a list of infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure that it intends
will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL. This is known as the
"Regulation 123 list". This list is not a part of the charging schedule, but is
published on the Council’s website when the CIL Charging Schedule is
adopted. A key purpose of this list is to allow developers or other interested
parties to check, at the point at which a section 106 agreement is being sought
by the Council, that they are not being 'double charged' for any particular type
or item of infrastructure. It is important to regularly review the Regulation 123
list to ensure it reflects the latest position in infrastructure needs. Therefore, a
revised Regulation 123 list has been included within the Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule Consultation Document (Appendix A) to facilitate
engagement.
35. In addition to the Regulation 123 list, CIL Guidance requires local authorities to
provide details of the purposes for which section 106 agreements will be
sought. This is being taken forward through the development of two Planning
Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Documents, one

Page 29

for Welborne and another for the remainder of the Borough. These
Supplementary Planning Documents are now available in draft and are the
subject of other reports to be considered by the Executive of Fareham Borough
Council at the same time as this report on the first review of CIL.

THE CIL REVIEW TIMETABLE
36. The timetable for preparing the First Review CIL charging schedule and
adopting the new levy rates are proposed as follows:
•

January 2014 – May 2014 – Evidence gathering: update Infrastructure
Delivery Plan, identify other funding streams, undertake updated viability
testing;

•

2 June 2014 – Executive approval of Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
Consultation Document;

•

12 June – 24 July
Charging Schedule;

•

July – August 2014 – Consider comments, prepare Draft Charging
Schedule;

•

October 2014 – Executive and Full Council approval of Draft Charging
Schedule;

•

October – November 2014 – Public consultation on Draft Charging
Schedule;

•

December 2014 - Submit Draft Charging Schedule and representations to
Independent Examiner;

•

February 2015 - Independent Examination; and

•

April 2015 – Fareham Borough Council adopts the reviewed CIL charging
schedule.

2014 – Public consultation on Preliminary Draft

RISK ASSESSMENT
37. Levy receipts will not be sufficient to deliver the full infrastructure required as a
result of development proposals set out within the Fareham Local Plan.
However, the levy is currently helping and will continue to help close the
funding gap between the estimated total costs of infrastructure required to
support the development of the area and the known and likely other sources of
funding. Introducing CIL rates at a level that would, in theory, be sufficient to
fund the entire infrastructure requirement would result in the bulk of planned
development being unviable. The imposition of the levy must have a net
positive effect on growth in the area and any attempts to introduce a CIL rate

Page 30

structure that did not achieve this, due to overly high rates that made
development across the Borough unviable, would be likely to be rejected at the
independent examination.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
38. The CIL regulations permit administrative expenses, including those incurred
before the charging schedule is published, up to 5% of the amount of levy
collected during the first three years, to be recouped from CIL receipts.
Therefore, some if not all of the costs associated with reviewing the current CIL
and adopting the new charging schedule may be recovered in due course.
39. Since the introduction of CIL across Fareham in May 2013, approximately
£169,000 has been received in CIL receipts. In addition, CIL liabilities
amounting approximately to a further £2.35 million have been issued, but not
yet received by the Council.
CONCLUSION
40. For the reasons set out above, the Executive is asked to approve the
Community Infrastructure Levy First Review Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule Consultation Document for a six-week public consultation and that
the proposed timetable for the review of CIL, set out in paragraph 36 above, be
approved.

Reference Papers:
CIL Legislation:
- Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008
- Part 6 of the Localism Act 2011 (See Chapter 2)
- The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010
- The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2011
- The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2012
- The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2013
- The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2014
CIL Statutory Guidance:
- CIL Guidance (February 2014)

Page 31

Page 32

APPENDIX A

Community Infrastructure Levy:
‘First Review’
Consultation on the Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule

May 2014

Page 33

1.

THIS CONSULTATION

1.1

Fareham Borough Council is now consulting on a Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This document has been
produced as part of the Council’s review of its current CIL Charging Schedule,
which came into effect on 1 May 2013.

1.2

All comments received in response to this consultation will be fully considered
before the next stage of the CIL review takes place by the production of a Draft
Charging Schedule, later in 2014. The Draft Charging Schedule will then
be subject to a further round of consultation, before being submitted to an
independent CIL Examiner prior to public examination. Following public
examination, the intention is to adopt the new charging schedule in Spring 2015.
In the intervening period, the Council’s current CIL charging schedule will remain
in effect.

1.3

This Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule and the proposed CIL rates for different
uses of development have been established through the use of appropriate
available evidence which includes:
•
•
•
•
•

The adopted Fareham Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy;
The emerging parts of Fareham’s Local Plan (Part 2: Development Sites and
Policies and Part 3: The Welborne Plan);
Infrastructure Delivery Plans for Welborne and for the rest of the Borough;
The updated Community Infrastructure Levy Viability Study; and
Viability and infrastructure funding evidence for Welborne.

These documents, as well as the Council’s current CIL charging schedule, are
available to view on the Council's website throughout the consultation period.
1.4

The Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule is open for consultation between the 12
June 2014 and 24 July 2014. All comments should be received in writing by 5pm
on 24 July when the consultation will close. For further information on the
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule, and to submit comments on the document
please visit the Council's website at:
Hyperlink needed

1.5

Alternatively,
comments
can
be
submitted
via
e-mail
to
planningpolicy@fareham.gov.uk or by post to: Strategic Planning and
Regeneration, Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham, Hampshire, PO16 7AZ.
Comments may also be delivered by hand to the Council’s reception at the Civic
Offices. For any queries please call 01329 236100.

1.6

Please note that comments cannot be treated as confidential. They will be made
available as public documents, in accordance with Government regulations.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 34

1

2.

INTRODUCTION
What is the Community Infrastructure Levy?

2.1

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge placed on new development.
The funds raised help to pay for a wide range of infrastructure to support
development across Fareham Borough. CIL is intended to supplement rather than
replace other infrastructure funding streams and to help ensure that new
development is supported by the infrastructure it requires. CIL funds are meant to
help fund new, or upgrade existing infrastructure to support growth, rather that
being used to and should simply in order to cover the cost of existing deficiencies.

2.2

The powers for Councils to introduce CIL were provided by Part 11 of the
Planning Act 2008 and by the CIL Regulations 2010, which came into force in
May 2010 and have since been amended by the CIL Amendment Regulations
2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014.
Which types of new development need to pay CIL?

2.3

The charge is levied on new developments with a net additional floorspace of
more than 100m2 or on those creating 1 or more dwellings, even where the
floorspace is less than 100m2. In principle, this affects all types of new
development that involve buildings ‘into which people normally go’. In cases of
redevelopment, the charge will only be levied on any net additional floorspace
created.

2.4

Where CIL is chargeable there will be a legal obligation to pay it and it will not be
negotiable. Anybody involved in a new development can take on the liability to
pay the CIL charge, but ultimately if nobody else takes on this liability it will fall to
the landowner to pay the CIL. In order to benefit from the Council’s payment
instalments policy, somebody must let the Council know that they will be liable for
the CIL charges.
Which types of development are exempt or gain relief from paying CIL?

2.5

The levy will not be charged on changes of use that do not involve an increase in
floorspace. Sub-divisions of existing dwellings to form other dwellings will also not
be charged. Structures which are not buildings, or which people do not normally
go into will not be liable, in accordance with the CIL regulations. In addition, some
types of new building are exempt from CIL and these include:
•

•

•

Affordable housing that meets the definition of "social housing" as set out in
the regulations, which includes housing delivered as 'affordable rent' and as
'shared ownership';
Development by charities which are for charitable purposes, but not including
development by charities for investment purposes which will be exempt only if
the Council chooses to provide for such an exemption in accordance the
regulations; and
Homes built by ‘self-builders’ for their own occupation.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 35

2

2.6

A CIL charging authority has the power to make Exceptional Circumstances Relief
available in its area. In order to make Exceptional Circumstances Relief available,
a charging authority must first publish notice of its intention to do so, in
accordance with the CIL regulations. Fareham Borough Council does not currently
provide for such relief in exceptional circumstances.
What is the purpose of this document?

2.7

This document is the consultation paper on the Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule for the Fareham Borough Council’s CIL. It has been published under
Regulation 15 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010. As well as
setting out the proposed CIL rates, it provides the background to the charging
schedule, explaining general principles of CIL as well as the assumptions made
and the evidence base used in setting the proposed CIL charge rates.

2.8

As Fareham already has an adopted CIL charging schedule, this Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule represents an important stage in the review process of the
current CIL rates that came into effect on 1 May 2013.

2.9

Once the review process has been completed, involving two rounds of public
consultation and an independent examination, as required by the CIL regulations,
the new charging schedule will be adopted by the Council, subject to any
amendments arising from the consultation and examination. From the date of
adoption, the new CIL charge rates will replace the current rates for all liable
development for which planning permissions was granted on or after that date.
Why is the Council reviewing its current CIL rates now?

2.10 Charging authorities are under an obligation to keep their CIL rates under review
to ensure that they remain appropriate over time, for instance as market
conditions change or as changes in the Borough's planning context give rise to
significantly different gaps in infrastructure funding.
2.11 In Fareham’s case, it was recognised when CIL was first introduced in spring
2013 that an early review would be needed due to the preparation of Local Plan
Part 3: The Welborne Plan. This plan sets out policies for the development of a
large new community of 6,000 homes and employment areas to the north of
Fareham. The infrastructure planning and development viability evidence to
support the Welborne Plan was not available when the Council was setting its
current CIL rates. In the absence of that evidence the current CIL rates apply to
the whole of the borough, including Welborne. Now that the evidence to support
the Welborne Plan is in place, the CIL rates need to be reviewed to take account
of the new evidence and to ensure that rates applied within the Welborne area are
appropriate and will not threaten the viability of that development.
2.12 The Council has also completed the preparation of its Local Plan Part 2:
Development Sites and Policies Plan, which includes development site allocations
across the Borough, outside of Welborne. Preparing this plan has involved the
completion of further viability and infrastructure planning evidence that supports
the need to review Fareham’s current CIL rates to ensure that they do not
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 36

3

threaten the viability of development across the Borough.
What will CIL be spent on?
2.13 There is a wide range of infrastructure that CIL can be used to fund, as long as
everything funded helps to support the development of the area. The intention is
that the infrastructure funded through the levy will help to deliver the development
proposed within Fareham’s Local Plan. The focus of infrastructure spending from
the levy should be on the provision of new infrastructure and it should only be
used to improve existing deficiencies where these will be made worse by
proposed new development.
2.14 As Fareham Borough Council is already a CIL charging authority, a list of
infrastructure types and projects that CIL will or may fund, in whole or in part, is
already available on the Council’s website. This list, known as the ‘Regulation 123
list’, will be reviewed, alongside the review of the CIL charge rates. A draft
revised Regulation 123 list is included within this consultation document, although
it does not form part of the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule. The Council
welcomes any comments on the review of the Regulation 123 list.
2.15 The proposed changes to the Regulation 123 list reflect changes in the Council’s
infrastructure funding priorities that have emerged through preparation of the
Local Plan Parts 2 and 3, which will shortly be submitted to the Secretary of State
for independent examination. Changes to what CIL is intended to fund will also
reflect the continuing role of section 106 (planning obligations) in helping fund
site-related infrastructure that is sometimes necessary to make developments
acceptable in planning terms. This role for section 106 has been set out within
two draft documents that, once adopted, will support the Local Plan: the Draft
Fareham Borough (excluding Welborne) Planning Obligations and Affordable
Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and the Draft Welborne
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD. Both of these are available on
the Council’s website.
2.16 The 2013 amendments to the CIL Regulations require that, in areas where there
are local councils (such as parish or town councils), 15% of CIL receipts, called
the ‘neighbourhood share’, be passed to the relevant local council to be used to
fund priorities that have been determined by the local communities in which CIL
liable development takes place. In areas, such as Fareham, where there are no
local councils, the amended regulations give the charging authority the discretion
to use the 15% of CIL receipts that would have been passed to a local council to
fund:
• The provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of
infrastructure; or
• Anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that
development places on the area.
2.17 The Government’s latest CIL guidance says that where there are no parish, town
or community councils, the charging authority should engage with the local
communities where development takes place and agree with them how best to
spend the neighbourhood share. It remains to be decided what mechanisms will
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 37

4

be used in Fareham to engage with local communities.
2.18 CIL is designed to be a transparent funding mechanism and as part of this
approach, spending of levy funds collected from development within Fareham will
be regularly reported within future ‘Authorities Monitoring Reports’ published on
the Council’s website at least annually.
Will there be any changes to the contributions still collected under section
106?
2.19 Where local authorities charge CIL, and nationally from April 2015, section 106
(s106) must be scaled back to dealing with those matters that are directly related
to specific development sites. The Council has already put these changes into
effect as part of introducing CIL in May 2013. CIL has become the main source of
developer contributions towards infrastructure within the Borough, beyond
addressing the site-related requirements of specific developments.
2.20 Although CIL has replaced s106 agreements in many cases, s106 continues to be
used for local infrastructure requirements on development sites, such as local
access or connection to services. Some of these requirements may be physically
off site, but will be secured under s106 where they are clearly linked to the
development site and needed to make that particular development scheme
acceptable. Section 106 agreements will also continue to be used for purposes
other than the securing of monetary contributions. For example, to impose
restrictions on the use of land.
2.21 Since introducing CIL, many developments have become liable to pay CIL and will
also be required to enter into a section 106 agreement. This is because the CIL
payments and Section 106 planning obligations will cover different things and fund
different types or items of infrastructure. As the law requires, developments will
not be charged for the same items of infrastructure through both obligations and
the levy. The main mechanism for ensuring that this avoidance if ‘doublecharging’ is effective is the Regulation 123 list, referred to above, which sets out
what the Council will or may spend CIL receipts on and therefore defines which
infrastructure cannot give rise to s106 contributions.
2.22 In addition, the Council is developing the detail of its policy on the use of s106
agreements within the two planning obligations SPDs being prepared to support
Local Plan Parts 2 and 3. The Council needs to produce two separate documents
due to the very different scale, phasing and level of infrastructure requirements
between Welborne and the range of smaller developments proposed across the
rest of the Borough. Both of these SPDs are available in ‘draft version’ on the
Council’s website.
How is CIL being collected in Fareham?
2.23 Fareham Borough Council acts as the ‘Collecting Authority’ for the purposes of
collecting CIL payments from CIL-liable developments. In line with practice
developed over the past year, the Council calculates the ‘chargeable amount’ for
each development liable to pay the levy. This is done by multiplying the rates set
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 38

5

out in the charging schedule (increased by the indexation provisions of the CIL
Regulations for planning permissions granted on or after 1 January 2014) by the
‘gross internal area’ of new buildings and enlargements to existing buildings,
taking demolished floorspace into account. The formal calculation methodology is
set out in the CIL Regulations. The Council uses the HMRC Valuation Office
Agency’s definition of Gross Internal Area. In accordance with the regulations, the
CIL rates are ‘index-linked’ to the ‘All-in Tender Price Index’ published by the
Building Cost Information Service of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.
2.24 The levy charge is imposed at the time the planning permission is granted, or
following the receipt of a ‘notice of chargeable development’ in the case of
‘permitted development’ that does not require specific planning permission. The
levy is payable on the commencement of development, although where
somebody has assumed liability for the levy, the Council has an ‘instalments
policy’ in place which allows for payments to be made up to 120 days after
commencement in most cases and to be phased over a longer period for larger
liabilities. The definition of commencement of development for the levy’s purposes
is the same as that used in planning legislation. The Council has included its
current instalments policy within this consultation (see Section 5) and is not
proposing any amendments to it at this stage, but any comments on this are
welcome.
2.25 When planning permission is granted, or following the receipt of a ‘notice of
chargeable development’, the Council issues a liability notice setting out: the
amount of the levy due for payment when the development is commenced; the
payment procedure and; the possible consequences of not following this
procedure – which would include enforcement action. An individual or
organisation (for example, the developers) may assume liability for payment of the
levy in order to benefit from the ‘instalments policy’. If no one assumes liability, the
landowner is automatically liable for the charge on commencement of the
development.
2.26 The CIL Regulations allow collecting authorities to accept payment of CIL, in
whole or in part, by the transfer of land to the Council. In such cases, a number of
conditions must be met, as set out in the CIL regulations. In particular, any land
to be transferred must be used to provide or facilitate the provision of
infrastructure to support the development of the area.
2.27 The 2014 CIL amendments now also give collecting authorities the discretion to
make the possibility of paying CIL by the provision of infrastructure. The Council
will have to decide whether to make the option available in Fareham and any
comments on this will be welcome.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 39

6

3.

EVIDENCE BASE

3.1

The CIL Regulations state that, in setting rates, a charging authority must strike
an appropriate balance between:
a) the desirability of funding from CIL (in whole or in part) the actual and
expected estimated total cost of infrastructure required to support the
development of its area, taking into account other actual and expected sources
of funding; and
b) the potential effects (taken as a whole) of the imposition of CIL on the
economic viability of development across its area.

3.2

In order to set the levy rates for Fareham and to take into account these
requirements, a number of key areas of evidence are used, as described below.
Fareham’s Local Plan

3.3

Local Plan Part 1: The Core Strategy
The Fareham Core Strategy (Local Plan Part 1) was adopted in August 2011 and
sets out how much development will take place within the Borough to 2026 and
the broad locations of that development. Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy also
provides the basis for the collection of developer contributions across the Borough
and sets out an indicative list of infrastructure that which will need to be funded.

3.4

The Core Strategy makes provision for 3,729 new homes to be delivered over the
plan period outside of Welborne. The majority of this development will be
delivered in the Western Wards of the Borough and Fareham town centre. The
Core Strategy makes provision for 41,000m2 of employment floorspace with
10,000 - 33,000m2 of employment floorspace to be delivered at the Daedalus
Airfield Enterprise Zone. The sub-regional role of Fareham Town Centre will be
strengthened through the delivery of 350 new dwellings and major proposals for
retail, office, leisure and culture facilities.

3.5

Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies
The detailed site allocations for the period to 2026 and the development
management policies for the whole of the Borough except for Welborne have
been set out within the ‘publication’ draft of the Local Plan Part 2: Development
Sites and Policies. The intention is for this plan to be submitted to the Secretary
of State in June 2014, with an independent examination later in the year. The
Council hopes to be able to adopt Local Plan Part 2 in early 2015, at about the
same time as the reviewed CIL charging schedule will be adopted.

3.6

Local Plan Part 2 includes proposals and site allocations for 1,823 new homes as
well as 131,190 square metres of employment floorspace and 17,280 square
metres of retail floorspace, mainly within Fareham Town Centre.

3.7

Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan
Delivering the new community of Welborne to the north of Fareham is central to
the Borough’s development strategy and will continue to be so well beyond the

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 40

7

2026 horizon covered by the other parts of Fareham’s Local Plan. Although Policy
CS13 of the Core Strategy established the principle of development, the detailed
policies and allocation of land for the development are being taken forward
through the Welborne Plan. This plan is also intended to be submitted to the
Secretary of State, alongside the Development Sites and Policies Plan, and will
hopefully be adopted in late 2014 or early 2015.
3.8

The Welborne Plan sets out the proposals for approximately 6,000 homes to be
delivered between 2016 and 2036, in addition to employment development
covering about 20 hectares. A new district centre and a local centre are also
planned which will accommodate new retail and leisure development as well as
community facilities.

3.9

As a large greenfield development, the ability to deliver Welborne will be
dependent on being able to fund and provide a very significant amount of new
infrastructure at the point it is required to support the new community. This
infrastructure includes completely redeveloping Junction 10 of the M27 Motorway
and providing a new secondary school and three primary schools. This means
that considerable emphasis within the plan and supporting evidence base has
been placed on identifying what infrastructure is required by when and how this
could be funded in ways that will not threaten the viability of the development as a
whole. The evidence that underpins this aspect of the Welborne Plan has been
used to support this review of CIL rates and has informed the approach set out
within the Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD.
Infrastructure Planning Work

3.10 In order to establish the need to charge CIL, the Council must draw on its
infrastructure planning work undertaken to support the Local Plan. In essence,
this needs to demonstrate that the gap in funding between the total cost of
infrastructure required to deliver development proposed in the Local Plan and the
known sources of funding is sufficient to justify the need for CIL and the rates
proposed. As part of this process, the Council needs to present a draft list of
infrastructure types and projects that it intends to fund, in whole or in part, through
the new CIL charges proposed. Finally, the available infrastructure evidence
needs to be used to support the intended continuing role of section 106 planning
obligations, once the new CIL rates are introduced. The relevant infrastructure
planning evidence in Fareham consists of the following two key documents:
3.11 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan for the Development Sites and Policies Plan
This infrastructure delivery plan (IDP) has been developed by the Council over the
past two years to support the preparation of Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites
and Policies Plan. The Council has recently revised the IDP and this process
included engagement with a range of infrastructure providers. It is now being
consulted on at the same time as this consultation on the Preliminary Draft
Charging Schedule.
3.12 The Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2014: Stage 2 Update Report
This document was prepared for the Council by AECOM in two stages, with the
first stage IDP having been consulted on alongside the Draft Welborne Plan in
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 41

8

spring 2013 and the current second stage being and consulted on alongside the
‘publication’ Welborne Plan in March and April 2014.
3.13 These documents set out the infrastructure that is required to support the
development proposed across the Borough to 2026 and at Welborne to 2036.
Each of them sets out, as far as currently known, how the required infrastructure
will be funded, which includes both developer contributions and other sources of
funding. It is important to note that these are ‘live’ documents and they may need
to be updated as the examination on Parts 2 and 3 of the Fareham Local Plan
progresses. However, it is not expected that the overall level of infrastructure
required will change so much as to significantly reduce the aggregate funding gap
that justifies the continued use of CIL across the Borough.
3.14 Taken together the two IDPs demonstrate that the intended CIL funding targets
are justifiable and are based on appropriate available evidence. It is not the role of
the IDPs to provide absolute assurances as to how the Council will spend CIL
funding raised. However, the CIL Guidance now requires that a draft list of
infrastructure requirements which are to be funded in whole or in part by CIL
should be presented at the CIL Examination. Therefore, a first draft of this list
(which is also called the ‘Regulation 123 list’) is included within this document
(see Section 5 below).
3.15 Table 1 below is extracted from the Infrastructure Delivery Plans for Welborne and
for the Development Sites and Policies Plan. It highlights where specific project
costs are known, the overall funding gap to support the continued use of CIL
within Fareham.
Table 1: Estimated
Requirements

funding

gap

Infrastructure Type

for

Borough-Wide

Estimated Cost

Education and children
Community and health facilities
Leisure and recreation
Green infrastructure (inc. SANGs)
Transport infrastructure
Utilities infrastructure
Coastal flood defences
Total

£119,895,000
£77,319,000
£19,771,300
£49,403,000
£144,988,000
£63,634,000
£12,732,000
£487,792,300

Infrastructure
Estimated
Funding Gap *
£23,700,000
£4,550,000
£11,330,800
£3,083,000
£38,133,000
£0
£12,732,000
£93,528,800

* The gap is calculated by subtracting from the total costs those sums to be funded
by other (non-CIL) sources of funding, where this is known. These sources
include known public sector investment, commercial investment and the residual
role identified for section 106 and section 278 agreements (see the two draft
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPDs for more detail on this role).
Assessing the potential viability impacts of CIL
3.16 The CIL guidance states that charging authorities should use an area-based
approach, involving a broad test of viability across their area. The emphasis,
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 42

9

drawing on recent changes to the CIL legislation, is for the authority to
demonstrate why the proposed CIL charge rates set an appropriate balance
between securing additional investment to support new development and the
impact this may have on the economic viability of development across the area.
3.17 As part of seeking to show that this balance has been achieved, charging
authorities need to undertake viability assessments on a sample of sites across
the area covering a range of development types from those proposed within the
Local Plan, focussing on strategic sites upon which the Local Plan relies. In
addition, where it is proposed to set differential rates for CIL, a more fine-grained
sampling, on a higher proportion of total sites is required in order to set the
boundaries between the different geographical zones or categories of use or scale
of development that will be subject to differential rates.
3.18 Fareham CIL Viability Study 2014
In March 2014 the Council commissioned Peter Brett Associates (PBA) to
undertake CIL viability assessment evidence, in compliance with the CIL
legislation (including the CIL (Amendment) Regulations 2014) and consistent with
the CIL guidance of February 2014. Since the viability evidence is required to
support a review of CIL, the approach taken as far as possible was to update the
CIL viability work undertaken by the same consultants in early 2012 to focus on
what has changed in the two years since the original work was undertaken.
3.19 Consistent with the earlier work, the methodology used for testing viability was to
select a sample of hypothetical developments, typical of the type and scale
proposed within the emerging Local Plan 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan.
For each sample development, the residual land value calculated was compared
to the site’s current use values. The residual land value in each case took into
account the adopted and emerging policy requirements, including target levels of
affordable housing. This residual value was then compared with a benchmark
valuation that represented the minimum value that a landowner might be willing to
accept to release their site for development. If the residual value was above the
benchmark value, the development was considered viable and the difference
between the two valuations represents the maximum amount that could potentially
be captured by CIL.
3.20 However, there are a number of reasons why the level of CIL charge rates
proposed should not be set at the margin of viability, or in other words, rates
should not seek to capture too much of the residual value above the benchmark
value. The first reason is the requirement to demonstrate that an appropriate
balance has been struck between the desirability of raising CIL funding and the
effect this may have on viability across the area. An appropriate balance would
not be possible where charge rates are set at the maximum potential level. The
second reason is that viability appraisals are a ‘snapshot’ in time and CIL rates set
need to allow for normal market changes over time. The third reason is that
viability appraisals necessarily involve the use of generalised assumptions and
this builds in a relatively wide margin of error that must be taken into account in
setting CIL rates.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 43

10

3.21 A key concern of the Council in considering how the viability evidence will be used
to set CIL rates will be to ensure that the rates applied leave sufficient headroom
for policy compliant levels of affordable housing to be secured on all appropriate
sites. The consultants assessing viability across the Borough, were specifically
tasked to advise on this issue.
3.22 To support the preparation of their viability evidence, the consultants undertook
focussed consultation with a range of local developers, house-builders and agents
to test the validity of assumptions being made and to question the local experts
about key market trends in the Fareham area. A full list of the people consulted
during the preparation of the viability evidence is set out as an appendix to the
consultant’s report.
3.23 Welborne Stage 2 Viability Testing - Executive Summary
The second component of viability evidence to support the Fareham CIL review is
the work that has been undertaken over the past year to test the viability of the
Council proposals for Welborne and to support the publication draft of Local Plan
Part 3: The Welborne Plan. This evidence has been undertaken by GVA, in
conjunction with the related work on infrastructure planning and costing for
Welborne, which was undertaken by AECOM.
3.24 Consistent with the scale and complexity of the Welborne development, the
methodology used has involved developing a bespoke viability model, structured
in a ‘stacked manner’ whereby the model breaks the financial appraisal down into
component delivery elements (i.e. infrastructure, development costs etc.) treating
each element in accordance with the most likely delivery route.
3.25 The viability evidence for Welborne was based on exhaustive engagement with
the site landowners at each stage of the process and was also informed by wider
stakeholder engagement with infrastructure providers and with registered
providers of affordable housing.
3.26 Outcomes of the viability evidence work
The PBA study, which focused on the parts of the Borough outside of Welborne,
has demonstrated that the general pattern of viability across the Borough has not
altered, with broadly the same variations in development and land values being
found. However, PBA found that the overall viability of development, in all parts of
the Borough and for most (but not all) forms of development, has improved since
they undertook the work to support Fareham’s current CIL rates in early 2012.
3.27 These findings supported a number of recommendations for the overall structure
of Fareham’s CIL charge rates:
• The viability evidence continues to support the charging of CIL on broadly the
same types of development as are charged under the current Fareham CIL;
• Apart from at Welborne (see below), the differences in viability across the
Borough are still not sufficiently pronounced to support any geographical
differential charge rates;
• Although there was evidence of a general improvement in viability, the need to
ensure that the appropriate balance is struck and to ensure there is sufficient
headroom to secure target levels of affordable housing, means that no real
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 44

11

•

increase in charge rates, beyond the normal indexation built into CIL by the
legislation, would be recommended; but
As an exception to the above, viability evidence demonstrated that the
improvements in viability on very small residential developments, which did not
contribute to affordable housing, were sufficient to support a new higher
differential rate.

3.28 Considering the Welborne viability evidence, the key point to understand is the
scale of the development costs involved, and in particular the infrastructure
required to ensure the new community is sustainable and deliverable. The
Council has undertaken extensive work on how these costs could be met and this
is reflected in the sections of the Welborne Plan that deal with deliverability. This
work has been the subject of on-going engagement with both the site landowners
and with infrastructure providers. It also takes full account of the CIL legislation
and guidance, including on the relationship between CIL and section 106 and on
how the Government expects local authorities to treat development costs on large
strategic sites.
3.29 The outcome is that meeting the development costs at Welborne will be a real
challenge, particularly in the early phases, and the best way to ensure this can be
achieved is through a more tailored and flexible approach than could be achieved
through the use of CIL rates at Welborne. Under the legislation, reliance on CIL
at Welborne would involve not being able to make effective use of section 106 (or
section 278) agreements a part of the range of delivery mechanisms being
considered. The Council considers that this constraint would hinder the ability to
ensure that infrastructure is delivered when it is required to support the
development. It would also be likely to undermine the important flexibility that the
Welborne Plan seeks to provide, for example, through the ‘deferral of
contributions’ approach that is designed to ensure that Welborne can remain
viable and deliverable over the 20-year period of its development.
3.30 For the reasons set out above, the Welborne Plan sets out that section 106 (and
section 278) will need to be used the key mechanisms to secure developer
contributions to ensure Welborne is deliverable. Importantly, for the purposes of
setting CIL rates across Fareham Borough, the Welborne viability evidence
demonstrates clearly that, taking account of the anticipated section 106 / section
278 liabilities, the viability of the Welborne development proposals would be
threatened by the imposition of any CIL rate, other than a ‘zero’ rate for all types
of development within the Welborne Plan policy boundary. Therefore, the
Council proposes a rate of £0 per m2 for all development within the
Welborne differential rate boundary, as shown on Map 1 (see Section 4 below).
3.31 Viability evidence support for differential charge rates outside of Welborne
The outcomes of the viability testing for residential development scenarios
demonstrated maximum viability ‘headroom’ ranging from a negative figure for the
scenarios comprising entirely of flats to over £400 per m2 for developments of 4 or
fewer houses.
3.32 The results for the flatted schemes are considered not to justify any specific
differential rates. The first reason for this is that most of the residential
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 45

12

development proposals within Local Plan Part 2 anticipate the delivery of houses
or a mixture of houses and flats, rather than entirely flats. This is supported by
the current market trends that favour the development of houses over flats. The
second reason is that where flatted developed is anticipated to come forward, it
tends to involve redevelopment or ‘changes of use’ and such developments would
not generally be required to pay any CIL.
3.33 For other residential development scenarios, the evidence demonstrates a
significant strength in the viability of smaller schemes of less than 5 homes. In
part this can be accounted for by the absence of any local plan policy
requirements for affordable housing to be secured from such schemes. Given the
viability findings and the high proportion such schemes represent within
Fareham’s housing supply, the Council proposes a new differential rate of £185
per m2 applying to residential developments with a net addition of 1-4
dwellings. This rate would amount to a proportionate increase over and above
the standard residential charge rate. It should be noted that there is now
mandatory relief from CIL for ‘self-build’ homes, meaning that the increased rate
will not impact on self-builders.
3.34 Despite the evidence of some improvement in overall residential viability, the
variation noted in the scenarios tested by PBA and the need to ensure sufficient
viability headroom to secure affordable housing has resulted in a recommendation
to maintain the current CIL residential differential rate for developments of 5
or more dwellings at £120 per m2. It should be noted that due to the mandatory
indexation of CIL, the actual rate proposed is approximately 14% above the £105
per m2 set in May 2013. Nevertheless, this represents a stand-still in real terms,
allowing for indexation.
3.35 The current charging schedule includes a £60 per m2 rate for care homes within
Use Classes C2 and C3(b) reflecting evidence undertaken in 2012 which
indicated viability within the Fareham area, but not to the same level as residential
development. PBA have undertaken updated market analysis and viability testing
of a care home development scenario and have concluded that, for the Fareham
area, such schemes are struggling in viability terms and although they remain
viable, they are unlikely to be able to bear the level of CIL currently applicable
within Fareham. Therefore, the Council proposes to reduce the differential
rate for care homes to £35 per m2. This is a level, which the evidence indicates
would be unlikely to threaten the viability of this type of development.
3.36 For other forms for residential accommodation designed for elderly people which
fall within Use Class C3(a), viability can be variable depending on the nature of
the development and the extent to which contributions for affordable housing are
provided. However, there is a wide spectrum of products included within this
category of development, some of which will be able to bear both contributions for
affordable housing and levy payments at the standards residential rate.
Therefore, the Council proposes to leave this type of development within the
standard residential CIL rates referred to above.
3.37 An exception to this is where ‘Extra Care’ or similar schemes are brought forward
with public sector support specifically to meet the housing needs of those who are
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 46

13

not able to afford equivalent market housing for the elderly. Even where such
developments include a modest element of private sector housing, these schemes
rely on public sector funding to be delivered and are therefore demonstrably
unviable for the purposes of CIL. The Council recognises such schemes as a
specific form of development and proposes to create a new differential rate of
£0 per m2 that will apply only to Extra Care or similar accommodation1
specifically designed to meet the needs of those elderly or disabled people
who cannot access equivalent market sector housing. The Council will define
these as schemes for the elderly or disabled offering care and support on-site,
which provide wholly or mainly self-contained dwellings of which more than 50%
are provided as housing for affordable or social rent and which depend on public
sector finance to become viable.
3.38 PBA tested development scenarios for both office and industrial developments
and found no evidence of significantly improving viability. Within the current
Fareham charging schedule, such development is charged under the standard
CIL charge (£0 per m2) and the Council proposes to maintain the charge rate
of £0 per m2 for offices, industrial and warehousing development.
3.39 The patterns of viability for retail development are complex and depend heavily
of the type of retail store involved. The current charging schedule draws a
distinction between convenience and comparison retail.2 Convenience typically
involves supermarkets, but also includes smaller convenience stores.
Comparison stores include both typical ‘high street’ shops as well as the larger
out-of-centre retail stores, for example DIY warehouses. The current charging
schedule also draws a distinction for comparison stores between those within
Fareham’s town, district and local centres which benefit from a ‘zero charge rate’
and those in out-of-centre locations which pay the same £120 per m2 rate levied
on convenience stores.
3.40 PBA has reviewed the viability evidence for retail in Fareham. The overall
conclusion was that comparison retail within Fareham centres continues to
struggle and the viability of such development would be marginal at best, with no
scope to impose a CIL rate. Therefore, the Council proposes to maintain the
differential rate of £0 per m2 for all ‘in-centre’ comparison focused retail
development as set out on Maps 2 – 12 (see Section 4 below).
3.41 PBA also tested ‘out of centre’ comparison retail and concluded that sufficient
viability remains for these retail developments to pay a modest level of CIL.
Therefore, the Council proposes to set a differential rate of £35 per m2 for all
‘out of-centre’ comparison focused retail development, outside of the areas
defined on Maps 2-12 in Section 4 below.
1

The key features of ‘Extra Care’ models of provision are that the dwellings provided are selfcontained but varying levels of care and support available for residents on-site. Similar models of
housing include ‘very sheltered housing’, ‘assisted living’ or ‘housing with care’.
2
A convenience unit is a shop or store selling mainly everyday essential items, including food, drinks,
newspapers/magazines and confectionary. A comparison unit is a shop or store selling mainly goods
which are not everyday essential items. Such items include clothing, footwear, household and
recreational goods.
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 47

14

3.42 For convenience retail, whilst viability was significantly stronger overall, clear
differences were detected in relation to the size of the development. This was
tested through a range of different convenience retail development scenarios
ranging from 465m2 to 4,000m2. Based on this evidence, PBA recommended that
two differential rates be applied for convenience retail. Therefore, the Council
proposes differential rates of £75 per m2 for convenience focused retail
development of 500m2 or less and £140 per m2 for larger convenience
focused stores. It should be noted that the higher rate represents no change in
real terms compared to the current £120 per m2 after allowing for the actual and
anticipated index-linked increases to CIL rates.
3.43 The current charging schedule includes a rate of £35 per m2 for hotels. PBA have
reviewed the viability evidence and the hotel market trends and have concluded
that the market is not recovering as fast as for some other types of property.
Although the updated appraisal found that hotels were still able to bear a CIL
charge, the maximum potential charge has reduced. Taking this into account, the
Council propose to keep the differential rate for hotels at £35 per m2, which
represents a 14% reduction allowing for the effects of actual and anticipated
indexation.
3.44 Viability evidence to support a ‘standard CIL charge’
PBA also looked at a number of other uses, which fall outside of the categories of
development referred to above, for example, nightclubs, amusement centres,
laundrettes and scrap yards. No specific viability appraisals were undertaken for
these as they are not forms of development proposed within Fareham’s Local
Plan and very little additional floorspace in these sorts of uses is anticipated over
the plan period. Such uses would also often make use of existing buildings and as
such would be unlikely to pay any CIL. The available evidence for these and all
other types of development uses, not referred to above, indicates that no levy rate
other than zero could be comfortably supported without threatening the viability of
any such developments. Informed by this evidence, the Council is proposing to
maintain the ‘standard CIL charge rate’ of £0 per square metre for these uses.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 48

15

4.

PRELIMINARY DRAFT CHARGING SCHEDULE

4.1

The Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule for the review of Fareham’s CIL is set
out in Table 2 below and has been prepared in accordance with the Part 11 of the
Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended).

4.2

Fareham Borough Council is a charging authority according to Part 11 of the
Planning Act 2008. Fareham Borough Council is proposing to charge the
Community Infrastructure Levy in respect of development in the Borough of
Fareham at the following rates, relative to the proposed use of development
(expressed as pounds per square metre).
Table 2: Proposed CIL Rates (£ per square metre)
Location of Development

CIL charge per m2

All types of development at Welborne (see Map 1 below)

£0

Elsewhere within the Borough of Fareham

See below

Type and Class (1) of Development
(Outside of Welborne)

CIL charge per m2

Residential falling within Class C3(a) & (c) and C4:
Developments with a net gain of 5 or more dwellings

£120

Developments with a net gain of 1-4 dwellings

£185

‘Extra Care’ or similar (2) to meet the needs of those £0
who cannot access private market equivalents
Care homes falling within Class C2:

£35

Hotels falling within Class C1

£35

Retail falling within Class A1:
‘In-centre’ comparison retail (3) (See Maps 2-12 below)

£0

‘Out-of-centre’ comparison retail

£35

Convenience retail (4) developments under 500m2 (5)

£75

Other convenience retail development

£140

Standard Charge (applies to all development not separately £0
defined above, for example, offices, warehouses, leisure and
education facilities)
(1) References above to Classes are to the Use Classes as set out in the Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).
(2) These are schemes for the elderly or disabled offering care and support on-site,
which provide wholly or mainly self-contained dwellings of which more than 50%
are provided as housing for affordable or social rent and which depend on public
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 49

16

sector finance to become viable. Similar models of housing include ‘very sheltered
housing’, ‘assisted living’ or ‘housing with care’.
(3) Reference to "comparison retail" means the selling of clothing and fashion
accessories, footwear, household appliances (electric or gas), carpets and other
floor coverings, furniture, household textiles, glassware, tableware and household
utensils, computers, books, stationary and art materials, recorded music/videos,
recording media and equipment, audio-visual equipment, musical instruments and
accessories, games and toys, photographic, video and optical equipment, DIY
equipment for the maintenance and repair of dwellings, tools, jewellery, clocks
and watches, sports equipment, goods for outdoor recreation, telephony
equipment and bicycles and accessories.
(4) For the purposes of this schedule, a convenience retail unit is a shop or store
selling mainly everyday essential items, including food, drinks, newspapers/
magazines and confectionary, and where it is intended to utilise less than 50% of
the gross retail floor area for the sale of comparison goods as defined by Note 2
above.
(5) The size relates to the gross internal floorspace of the development.
Calculating the Chargeable Amount of CIL
4.3

CIL charges will be calculated in accordance with CIL Regulation 40 (as
amended). To facilitate understanding this shall mean that CIL will be charged on
the net additional floorspace created (gross internal area), taking into account any
existing buildings on the site which were in lawful use at the time of the grant of
planning permission and due to be demolished before completion of the
chargeable development. The chargeable amount will be an amount equal to the
aggregate of the amounts of CIL chargeable at each of the relevant rates as set
out in this charging schedule.

4.4

The chargeable amount will be index-linked using the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors’ All-in Tender Price Index figures for the calendar year in
which the planning permission is granted and the calendar year in which this
charging schedule took effect. For any given calendar year, the index figure is
that for the 1 November in the preceding year.
Statement of Conformity

4.5

This Charging Schedule has been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 as amended by the Community Infrastructure Levy
(Amendment) Regulations 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. The charging schedule as
also been prepared having regard to the CIL Guidance issued in February 2014.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 50

17

Map1: The Welborne Differential Charge Rate

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 51

18

Map 2: Overview of Fareham’s Town, District and Local Centres

Page 52

Map 3: Fareham Town Centre

Page 53
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

1

Map 4: Broadlaw Walk Local Centre

Page 54
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

2

Map 5: Gull Coppice Local Centre

Page 55
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

3

Map 6: Highlands Road Local Centre

Page 56
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

4

Map 7: Park Gate Local Centre

Page 57
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

5

Map 8: Portchester District Centre

Page 58
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

6

Map 9: Stubbington Local Centre

Page 59
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

7

Map 10: The Square – Titchfield Local Centre

Page 60
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

8

Map 11: Warsash Local Centre

Page 61
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

9

Map 12: Locks Heath District Centre

Page 62
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

10

5.

OTHER MATTERS BEING CONSULTED ON

5.1

The following matters are related to the review of Fareham’s CIL but are not part
of the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule. The Council has included these in the
current consultation to ensure transparency in its approach to the review of CIL.
Comments on these matters are invited from all interested parties and the local
community.
Regulation 123 List

5.2

Fareham’s current Regulation 123 list is available on the Council’s website at:
http://www.fareham.gov.uk/planning/local_plan/ciladopt.aspx. It is intended to
revise the current Regulation 123 list, as set out below, with the revised list
becoming effective an the same day as the reviewed CIL charging schedule.
Where items are excluded from the list below, the intention is to that planning
obligations will continue to be used for those purposes. Further details about
these ‘exclusions’ can be found within the Draft Welborne Planning Obligations
and Affordable Housing SPD and the Draft Fareham Borough (excluding
Welborne) Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD.

5.3

Draft Revised Regulation 123 List
Regulation 123 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended)
restricts the use of planning obligations for infrastructure that will be funded in
whole or in part by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Infrastructure types
or projects that are listed below will not be secured through planning obligations.
This is to ensure there is no duplication between CIL and planning obligations
secured through s106 agreements in funding the same infrastructure projects.

5.4

The list below sets out those infrastructure types and projects that Fareham
Borough Council currently intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by
CIL. The inclusion of projects in this list does not signify a commitment from the
Council to fund all the projects listed, or the entirety of any one project through
CIL. The order in the table does not imply any order of preference for spend.

5.5

Built Leisure Facilities:
• Including the provision of the Western Wards Swimming Pool & Fitness
Centre; but
• Excluding Fareham Leisure Centre upgrade of swimming pool and ancillary
facilities required due to the development of Welborne.
Community Centres and Libraries:
• Including the provision of new facilities, and improvements to existing facilities;
but
• Excluding any provision required due to the development of Welborne.
Open Space, Allotments and Cemeteries:
• Including the provision and facilities for addressing open space deficiencies in

Page 63

•
•

terms of quantity, quality or accessibility; but
Excluding on-site provision of local open space and children's play equipment
needed to make the development acceptable in planning terms; and
Excluding any provision required due to the development of Welborne.

Playing fields and sports pitches:
• Including the provision of new facilities and improvements to existing facilities;
but
• Excluding any on-site provision of playing fields or sports pitches needed to
make the development acceptable in planning terms; and
• Excluding any provision required due to the development of Welborne.
Education facilities:
• Including the provision of new facilities and improvements to existing facilities;
but
• Excluding any provision required due to the development of Welborne.
Transport infrastructure and facilities:
• Including the provision of new facilities and improvements to existing facilities;
but
• Excluding specific improvements needed to make the development acceptable
in planning terms. These can include (but are not limited to) highways
crossovers to access the site and local road junctions, deceleration and
turning lanes, measures to facilitate pedestrian and cyclist access, lighting and
street furniture needed to mitigate the impact of a particular development.
They may also include mitigation works remote from the development site
where the need for such works is identified in a Transport Assessment; and
• Excluding all transport infrastructure required due to the development of
Welborne.
Public realm in Fareham Town Centre:
• Including environmental improvements, hard and soft landscaping, signage,
seating, cycle racks and permanent multi-functional structures in Fareham
town centre.
CIL Instalments Policy
5.6

The current CIL Instalments Policy is set out below and there are no plans to alter
this policy as part of the review of CIL. However, the Council would welcome any
comments on the policy as part of the current consultation.

5.7

CIL Instalments Policy
This Policy is made in line with regulation 69B of The Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010.
The Community Infrastructure Levy will be payable as follows:
a) Where the Chargeable Amount is less than £25,000:
•

The full amount is payable within 120 days of the commencement date.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 64

1

b) Where the Chargeable Amount is between £25,000 and £250,000:
•
•
•

It shall be payable in two instalments;
The first instalment of £25,000 shall be paid within 120 days of the
commencement date;
The second instalment being the balance of the Chargeable Amount shall
be paid within 270 days of the commencement date.

c) Where the Chargeable Amount is over £250,000:
•
•
•
•

It shall be payable in three instalments;
The first instalment of £25,000 shall be paid within 120 days of the
commencement date;
The second instalment of £225,000 shall be paid within 270 days of the
commencement date;
The third instalment being the balance of the Chargeable Amount shall be
paid within 540 days of the commencement date.

Discretionary Relief from CIL
5.8

The regulations allow charging authority’s to permit discretionary relief from CIL in
certain circumstances, which would result in a reduced, or nil CIL payment being
accepted. The discretionary forms of relief available to charging authorities
include:
• Development by charities for their own investment activities (as defined by
Regulation 44);
• Development by charities where the mandatory charitable relief would
normally constitute State Aid (as defined in Regulation 45); and,
• Where the Borough Council considers that there are exceptional
circumstances to justify relief (as defined in Regulation 55).

5.9

Discretionary Charitable Relief
Based on the Council’s first year of operating CIL, the need for a discretionary
charitable relief, in addition to mandatory relief, is not considered justifiable and
moreover, would impose an additional level of complexity in the administration
and management of the CIL charge. A policy to offer such relief could be
introduced at any stage though and this is something the Council will keep under
review as the new CIL rates bed in. However, at this stage, it is not the intention
of the Council to offer this type of relief.

5.10 Exceptional Circumstances Relief
Regulation 55 of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) permits a charging
authority to grant relief from liability to pay CIL in ‘exceptional circumstances’.
This may only happen if a planning obligation (s106 agreement) has been entered
into in respect of the planning permission that permits the chargeable
development and the charging authority considers that payment of the levy would
have an unacceptable impact on the economic viability of development. In such
cases a developer would be expected to demonstrate this (as set out in
Regulation 57) via an ‘open book’ approach with an agreed independent valuer
Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 65

2

(paid for by the developer). Relief in exceptional circumstances can also only be
granted if it does not constitute ‘notifiable state aid’ (as defined in European Law).
5.11 It is not the intention of the Council to offer this type of relief at present. The
circumstances in which a policy of this nature would be likely to be used would be
rare given that the CIL rate is set based on viability evidence, moreover it would
impose an additional level of complexity in the administration and management of
the CIL charge. A policy to this kind could be introduced at any stage though and
this position can be kept under review.
Payments of CIL ‘in kind’
5.12 In certain circumstances, the CIL legislation provides for the payment of CIL
liabilities through the transfer of land or through the completion of infrastructure
works, rather than through the usual financial payment. In order for a charging
authority to be able to accept such ‘in-kind’ payments of CIL, it must publish a
policy document which sets out the conditions of such payments in detail,
including the infrastructure projects or types that will be accepted as payments in
kind.
5.13 Fareham Borough Council has not come to any decision about whether it will
accept in-kind payments and, if it were to do so, what the conditions of such
payments might be. Therefore, as part of this consultation, views of interested
parties are invited as to whether and how the Council should make use of this
power.

Fareham Borough Council - Community Infrastructure Levy
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (May 2014)

Page 66

3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Introduction
1.

Fareham Borough Council is to reviewing its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule, and has appointed Peter Brett Associates to assess development viability in their
area and recommend CIL charging rates accordingly. This report provides our analysis and
recommendations.

2.

Fareham is one of the first planning authorities to introduce a CIL charging schedule in England
and Wales. The original evidence base was consulted on in 2012, submitted for examination in
November and approved on behalf of the planning inspectorate on the 13 December 2012. The
st
Council formally approved the levy on the 25 April 2013 with commencement on the 1 May.

3.

The Council are undertaking an early review due to:


Additional information now being available on the strategic site at Welborne



An opportunity to take advantage of new flexible charging arrangements introduced by the
latest amendments to the CIL legislation in February 2014



Consider the impact of CIL on other planning obligations (notably affordable housing)

Legislative background
4.

To meet legal requirements and satisfy the independent examiner, a CIL charging schedule
published as a Draft for consultation after 24 February 2014, when the 2014 Amendment
Regulations become law should:
‘strike an appropriate balance’ between the need to fund infrastructure and the impact of CIL;
and
‘Not threaten delivery of the relevant plan as a whole‘.

5.

This means that the net effect of the levy on total development across the area should be
positive. CIL may reduce development by making certain schemes which are not plan priorities
unviable. Conversely, it may increase development by funding infrastructure that would not
otherwise be provided, which in turn supports development that otherwise would not happen.

Changes in Fareham since 1st April 2013
6.

As well as assessing market changes in Fareham since the original evidence base was
produced in March 2012, we have taken into account two other key aspects of evidence these
being:



The updated viability and infrastructure planning information on Welborne
An analysis of planning applications and section 106 negotiations since the introduction of
CIL.

Indexation
7. The CIL regulations allow for index linked increases in the baseline charges from when a CIL
charge is introduced. The increases are linked to the national BCIS cost indices. Up until the
st
st
1 April 2014 the increase was 7.17%. The expected rate of growth to 1 April 2015 is 6.83%.

Page 67

In real terms, when the CIL charge is introduced the actual CIL charges being reviewed are
expected to be:
Use
Residential
Care Homes
Comparison retail (out of town)
Convenience retail
Hotels
Standard charge

April 2013 charge
£105
£60
£120
£120
£35
£0

April 2015 charge
£119.70
£68.40
£136.80
£136.80
£39.90
£0

Welborne
8.

In summary the work undertaken by the Council’s consultants GVA and AECOM concludes that
‘At face value this strategic viability analysis shows that based upon the current forecast IDP
and associated development outputs (linked to the current Concept Masterplan), the Welborne
scheme appears to be unviable with the current burden of policy costs and CIL.

9.

Bringing the site forward will therefore require a bespoke solution for which CIL lacks the
flexibility to ensure delivery. We therefore recommend that CIL is applied at a 0 rate for all
types of development for this site and that planning requirements are secured via section 106
planning agreements (also known as planning obligations) and section 278 highway
agreements. This is allowed for within the regulations and Statutory CIL Guidance.

Section 106 agreements
10.

The key theme of recent viability related planning submissions is that the main policy burden is
affordable housing within the Local Plan. CIL was cited in only one of the section 106 viability
reports as an issue in the context of arguing for a reduction in affordable housing policy.

11.

Site values were perceived as being the main barrier with many of the smaller developments
being on existing residential land and intensification of low density housing with substantial
garden areas. We have adjusted our appraisals to reflect higher land values for smaller sites
based on the readily available evidence

12.

Based on our appraisals CIL is less than 15% of the rate per m2. For example, on a fully policy
compliant scheme of 20 units with a 40% affordable housing rate, the CIL burden would be
£113,400. The cost to the developer of the affordable housing provision would be in the region
of £939,600 in lost revenue from selling accommodation to an RSL at a reduced rate than sale
as private housing.

Housing market performance in Fareham
13.

Figure 1.1 below illustrates the price differential between Fareham and England & Wales; in Q3
2013 the average house price achieved in Fareham was £235,000, almost identical to the
average for England & Wales.

14.

On a quarterly basis since 2009 the average house price in Fareham has largely mirrored the
national average. The performance of the market would suggest local market conditions are
robust and free of short term peaks and troughs compared to less developed residential
markets.

Page 68

Average House Sale Prices by Quarter : Fareham and England & Wales
280,000
260,000
240,000
220,000

Average Property Sale Price (£)

200,000
180,000
160,000
140,000

England & Wales
120,000

Fareham

100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000

15.

2013-Q3

2013-Q1

2012-Q3

2012-Q1

2011-Q3

2011-Q1

2010-Q3

2010-Q1

2009-Q3

2009-Q1

2008-Q3

2008-Q1

2007-Q3

2007-Q1

2006-Q3

2006-Q1

2005-Q3

2005-Q1

2004-Q3

2004-Q1

2003-Q3

2003-Q1

2002-Q3

2002-Q1

Based on the readily available evidence, we are recommending that the CIL rate in Fareham is
varied as follows:




16.

2001-Q3

2001-Q1

0

The standard residential CIL charge in Fareham remains unchanged but that the
standard indexation in the CIL regulations is applied to take the charge to £120m2 to
st
reflect the projected increase in BCIS costs as at 1 January 2015
The strategic site at Welborne is 0 rated and planning obligations dealt with by way of a
planning agreement
Residential development of 1-4 units is subject to a levy of £185m2 to reflect the stronger
viability of such development with the absence of any affordable housing requirement.

We have further recommended that if the government’s proposals for exempting residential
development of less than 10 units from affordable housing contributions that the levy of
£185m2 is applied to units 10 units or less.

Other charges
17.

In addition to the key changes to the residential charge rates referred to above and based on
the latest available evidence we have recommended the following alterations to the CIL
charging schedule








The Care-home charge is reduced to £35m2
Comparison retail for out of town areas is reduced to £35m2
Convenience retail charging on units of 500m2 remains unchanged (subject to indexation)
Convenience retail charging on units of less than 500m2 is decreased to £75m2
The Hotel charge is effectively reduced to £35m2 (allowing for the effects of indexation)
Offices and industrial remain 0 rated
The standard charge remains at 0

Page 69

Page 70

Agenda Item 11(2)

Report to the Executive for Decision
02 June 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate Objective:

Planning and Development
Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document - Draft for Consultation
Director of Planning and Development
Fareham Local Plan
To protect and enhance the environment
To maintain and extend prosperity
To ensure that Fareham remains a safe and healthy place
to live and work
To provide a reasonable range of leisure opportunities for
health and fun
To work with our key partners to enable and support a
balanced housing market
To build strong and inclusive communities
To be a dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report summarises the content, scope and purpose of the draft Welborne
Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document, with a view to thereafter
commencing a public consultation exercise.

Executive summary:
The Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Publication Draft Plan introduced the Council’s
intention to produce Supplementary Design Guidance to provide more detailed
guidance for policies within the Welborne Plan. The Design Guidance sets out the
Council’s expectations for the design of developments at Welborne and will provide
a useful Development Management tool against which planning applications can be
assessed.
The Guidance will provide useful clarification of the Council’s design requirements
and thereby assist with the preparation and assessment of planning applications.
The Guidance will also provide more certainty for the Council and the local
community as to the design quality of Welborne as well as providing more certainty
for Site Promoters in achieving a successful planning application.

Page 71

Recommendation:
That the Executive approves the following:
(a) That the Draft Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document, as set out in Appendix A, be published for a six-week public
consultation.
(b) That the Director of Planning and Development, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Planning and Development, be authorised to make
any necessary minor changes to the Design Guidance, prior to publication,
providing that these do not change the overall direction, shape or emphasis
of the document, and do not raise any significant new issues.
(c) That the Draft Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document be endorsed as interim guidance to be afforded due weight in the
determination of planning applications at the Welborne site.
(d)
Reason:
To fulfil the requirements of regulations 11-16 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for the production of Supplementary
Planning Documents.

Cost of proposals:
The cost of undertaking the publication of the Welborne Design Guidance is covered
within existing budgets.

Appendices:

A: Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document

Background papers: Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan Publication Draft,
February 2014

Page 72

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 June 2014
Subject: Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document - Draft for
Consultation
Briefing by: Director of Planning and Development
Portfolio: Planning and Development
INTRODUCTION
1.

The National Planning Policy Framework places good design at the heart of the
planning system and emphasises that design which makes places better for
people, is central to the planning system’s core objective of sustainable
development (paragraph 56 refers). The Welborne Publication Plan sets out,
principally in policy WEL6, the key design requirements for Welborne. This policy
confirms that, in order to assist the site promoters meet the requirements for
planning applications, the Council will produce supplementary design guidance.

2.

Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) should be produced where they can
help applicants make successful planning applications and should build upon and
provide more detailed guidance on the policies in the Local Plan, whilst not
unnecessarily adding to the financial burdens on development (paragraph 153 of
the National Planning Policy Framework refers).

3.

Once approved, the Welborne Design Guidance SPD will be a material planning
consideration for decision-making purposes and, in conjunction with the Welborne
Plan, be used to assess planning applications for Welborne. It is anticipated that
the Publication Welborne Plan will be submitted for Examination in Public later this
year. The production of the Draft Design Guidance at this stage will also,
therefore, be a useful background document in the plan examination by providing
more certainty of the Council’s policy requirements.

4.

The Guidance does not introduce new policy or provide rigid standards that could
stifle the design process but rather seeks to inspire and guide planning application
proposals. As such, the Guidance sets out design principles that strikes a balance
between providing flexibility for alternative solutions to be considered without
compromising the ability to deliver high quality development.
THE WELBORNE PLAN REQUIREMENTS

5.

The Welborne Plan, in policies WEL4 and WEL7, requires Site Promoters to
produce the following three key pieces of design work to accompany planning
applications for the site:
Page 73

6.

(i)

A Structuring Plan – To illustrate how the site can be delivered in a
comprehensive way. Given the different land owners across the site, this is
particularly important in terms of demonstrating a joined-up approach to the
delivery of the necessary supporting infrastructure. It would show the broad
locations for the different uses, including the green infrastructure and the
main access points. Once approved by the Planning Committee, all
application proposals at Welborne would need to be consistent with the
Structuring Plan.

(ii)

A Comprehensive Masterplan – To provide further detail than the
Structuring Plan, including illustrating the alignments of the main roads
within the development; the different areas and types of green infrastructure
and; also indicating the density and scale ranges together with how the
application proposal could work with adjoining sites within the Welborne
area.

(iii)

Strategic Design Codes –To set more detailed rules for the design of the
development. This would include, for example, setting out typical layouts for
the development, showing how requirements such as bin-storage would be
met, and cross-section drawings to illustrate how the streets would be
designed to cater for public transport, traffic, pedestrians and cycles in a
satisfactory manner.

The above design requirements for Site Promoters should follow the Council’s
Strategic Framework Diagram included in the Welborne Plan. The Strategic
Framework Diagram does not ‘fix’ elements of the development itself but is a
reflection of the policies in the Plan and is intended to guide planning application
proposals.
PURPOSE AND CONTENT OF THE GUIDANCE

7.

The Welborne Design Guide SPD, therefore, has a key role to play in clarifying the
requirements of the Structuring Plan, Comprehensive Masterplan and Strategic
Design Codes which it is incumbent upon the site promoters to produce. The
Design Guidance clarifies the role and key principles of the Strategic Framework
Diagram, which should be used to guide the subsequent Site Promoter’s
Structuring Plan, Comprehensive Masterplan and Strategic Design Codes. The
Design Guidance includes sections on each of these requirements to inform their
content. The Guidance, within its entirety, provides the principles that site
promoters should adopt to ensure the Structuring Plan, Comprehensive
Masterplan and Design Codes meet the requirements of the Welborne Plan.

8.

The remainder of the Guidance is structured to address the different land uses that
will be provided at Welborne, namely:
•

The Character Areas - confirming the requirement for creating an
overarching 21st Century Garden City character, together with guidance on
how to respond to the different landscape sensitivities on the site to achieve
context-sensitive development.

•

The Green Infrastructure - emphasising the importance of green
infrastructure in the development and providing criteria against which the
different types of green infrastructure will be assessed, including the central
park, settlement buffers, green links and landscaping.
Page 74

9.

•

Access and Movement - providing guidance for the streets and footpaths
within the development to secure a well-connected development.

•

Residential Areas – setting out clear principles for residential development
including car parking design, storage requirements and qualities for
achieving a high-quality residential environment.

•

The Employment Area – clarifying the design objectives for the main
employment area, north of the motorway to provide a positive first
impression of the development.

•

The Centres and Community Hub – providing the design criteria for the
District, Local Centres and community uses within Welborne to create
vibrant centres to meet the everyday needs of residents, linked by public
transport and attractive to use.

•

The School Sites – establishing design principles for the development of
schools within Welborne to ensure that they function well in the community.

By following the guidance and working closely with Council and the community,
the process of achieving planning permission should be clearer for all involved.
Furthermore, whilst the plan boundary for Welborne crosses different landownership interests, the principles within the Design Guidance will help to ensure
consistency of design quality across the site as a whole.
CONSULTATION AND NEXT STEPS

10. Following approval by the Executive, the Design Guidance will be published for a
six-week representation period between mid-June and late-July 2014. The public
consultation will include written notifications to relevant parties, including for
example all members of the Standing Conference, who will be invited to make
comment on the Guidance.
11. Following public consultation, officers will undertake any re-drafting considered
necessary to address salient points raised, before bringing the Final Draft to the
Executive to seek approval for adoption. As the Design Guidance will amplify the
policies of the Welborne Plan, it can only be adopted once the Welborne Plan has
been approved and adopted as policy.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
12. The costs involved in undertaking publication and consultation of the Design
Guidance is covered in existing budgets.
CONCLUSIONS
13. The Welborne Design Guidance, as set out in Appendix A, would supplement the
policies of the Welborne Plan to secure a well-designed community at Welborne. It
is therefore recommended that the requisite public consultation be undertaken to
enable progression of the document to adoption.

Page 75

Page 76

Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Page 77
Designers of the London 2012 Olympic Parkl ands

Page 78
2 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Contents

Page 79

1.0

Introduction

5

2.0

Strategic Framework Diagram

9

3.0

Preparing the Structuring Plan

13

4.0

Strategic Design Code Requirements

17

5.0

Comprehensive Masterplanning

21

6.0

Character Areas

23

7.0

Green Infrastructure

37

8.0

Access and Movement

51

9.0

Residential Areas

55

10.0

Employment Areas

67

11.0

Centres and Community Hub

73

12.0

School Sites

81

13.0

Welborne Planning Application Requirements

85

This document has been prepared and checked in accordance with ISO 9001:2008
vers 1.2 (May 2014)

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 3

Page 80
4 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

1.0 | Introduction
1.1

Delivering the Vision for Welborne

Page 81

The Vision for Welborne was developed through an inclusive process of engagement with the local
community, local businesses and the principal landowners, and is set out in the adopted Fareham
Core Strategy in the supporting text to policy CS13, and expanded in Chapter 2 of the Welborne Plan.
Essentially the vision seeks to create a 21st century Garden Community that is ‘distinct’, ‘new’, and ‘set
apart but connected to Fareham, whose spirit, character and form are inspired by its landscape setting’
(para 2.4). The vision also aspires to a development which has, ‘a distinctive character. Its layout and
design will complement local topography, landscape features and structures to produce a place that is
distinctive whilst responding to its wider context. It will encourage contemporary design in a manner
that is flexible and is capable of accommodating change’ (para 2.7).

1.2 Relevant Plans and policies
The Welborne Plan contains a number of key policies aimed at delivering the vision. Policy WEL 4
specifically sets out the process required wherein the Council has produced a Strategic Framework
Diagram which illustrates key spatial planning principles underlying the Welborne Plan. The Strategic
Framework Diagram is a high level plan which does not seek to go into detail or fix the disposition of
the various land-uses. The detailed form and layout of Welborne will be established through a single
Structuring Plan prepared by the Site Promoters, the Council’s Strategic Framework Diagram is meant
to guide and assist in that process.
1.2.1 Policy WEL 4 also requires the site promoters to prepare a Comprehensive Masterplan
to accompany the initial planning applications. Depending on how the site comes forward for
development there could be a number of Comprehensive Masterplans reflecting the different
landownerships. Together, these masterplans will be required to be in accordance with the overarching

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 5

Page 82
Relationship between the Welborne Plan, Design Guidance SPD and Planning Applications

6 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Page 83

Structuring Plan.

meeting the key design principles set out.

1.2.2 Chapter 4 of the Welborne Plan sets out the policies on Character
Areas, Design Principles and Heritage Assets. In policy WEL 6 there are
a number of General Design Principles that emphasise the importance of
context-sensitive design to create a distinctive community. It is expected
that, in accordance with policy WEL 7, these principles will be developed
and expanded in the Strategic Design Codes also prepared by the Site
Promoters.

1.3.3 Each section sets out the specific policies in the Welborne Plan
which are relevant to that topic, and which should be taken into account by
the Site Promoters in developing their own design solutions.

1.3 How to use the document
1.3.1 The Welborne Design Guidance SPD seeks to give guidance on
the content and preparation of the landowners’ Structuring Plan and
Comprehensive Masterplans. The Design Guidance builds on the policies in
the Welborne Plan and sets out the most important place-making aspects
of the Welborne Plan. This document is intended to be a useful tool in the
planning application process, by providing clarity on the principles behind
the policies and leaving flexibility on the design outcome, applicants will
have greater degree of certainty of the expectations of the Council.

1.3.4 It should be emphasised that this document is meant as guidance
which sets out options for how the Council’s aspiration for a high standard
of design can be realistically achieved. It is not prescriptive and is not meant
to inhibit creative and innovative design solutions. Following the principles
for creating a quality place set out in the Design Guidance, and working
with the Council and local community, will provide a strong basis from
which to deliver a high-quality development.

1.3.2 The Welborne Design Guidance SPD also seeks to give guidance on
the content and preparation of the Strategic Design Codes, by indicating
how the distinguishing character areas might be developed, and by
illustrating what the Council considers to be good practice examples of

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 7

Page 84
8 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

2.0 | Strategic Framework Diagram

Relevant Plans and Policies:
Strategic Framework Diagram
WEL 4: Comprehensive Approach

Page 85

2.1
The Strategic Framework Diagram is a spatial expression of the vision set out in the Welborne
Plan. It encompasses the objectives of the Core Strategy and the Welborne Plan as well as the principles
that have emerged through an extensive process of collaboration and consultation in preparing the
Welborne Plan. It illustrates the key spatial planning principles underlying the Welborne Plan and
encapsulates Fareham Borough Council’s aspirations for the new community. It should be seen
as an overarching physical structure which must be used as a guide to subsequent comprehensive
masterplanning work.
2.2
The Strategic Framework Diagram shows how the nature of the surrounding countryside
could be used to influence the form of the new community in the spirit of a Garden City Principles.
It establishes how the assets of the site could be transformed into a distinctive, living, thriving and
sustainable place with a clear structure and identity. It defines broad areas of land use which are
defined by ecological, landscape, hydrological, noise, transport, viability and social constraints and
opportunities. It shows an interconnected green infrastructure network which links people to the places
within their neighbourhood and beyond in a way that encourages sustainable transport choices. It
incorporates a strategic network of streets necessary to allow traffic movements and provide access to
development blocks, but without undermining quality of life for residents.
2.3
The diagram has been drawn schematically; it is the principles and policies behind it which
are important and not the precise alignment or layout. It is intended to provide value to all parties by
providing greater clarity upfront on what Fareham Borough Council expects to see from more detailed
masterplanning work. The following points outline the key principles to be taken from this diagram:

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 9

Legend:
Residential Land
District Centre
Village Centre
Community Hub

Page 86

Employment Land
Primary School Site
Secondary School Site
Potential School Playing Fields in Knowle
Triangle
Landscape Buffers
Settlement Buffers
Potential SANGS and Settlement Buffer
Strategic Green Infrastructure Corridor
Primary Street Network
BRT Route
BRT Stop
Key Pedestrian/Cycle Link

Strategic Framework Diagram - taken from the Welborne Plan

10 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

2.4 Key elements of the Strategic Framework
Diagram
A development shaped and defined by surrounding landscape typologies.
"!
A large central park orientated to maximise its accessibility from the
"!

Page 87

majority of the new community, connecting the three character areas to
the west of the A32 and linking directly to the district centre.
The broad extent of residential development including buffers and
"!
development set-backs from sensitive site constraints.
The location of the district centre, connecting the A32 and the central
"!
park and positioned to give it visibility from the strategic road network.
Location of the Local Centre and Community Hub, distributed through
"!
the development to optimise accessibility, located on the strategic green
infrastructure network and co-located with BRT stops.
Location of the school sites which are co-located with the centres and
"!
therefore evenly distributed across the site, adjacent to BRT stops and
adjacent to green infrastructure links.
Green infrastructure corridors, placing all residents of Welborne within
"!
2-3mins (approx. 300m) walk of a strategic network of green spaces
which in turn link to other land uses, existing neighbourhoods and the
surrounding countryside.
Strong green infrastructure links connecting Welborne to Fareham,
"!
Knowle and Funtley

A significant element of the employment space co-located with the
"!
district centre to ensure a mix of land uses and helping support a vibrant
and prosperous centre.
Landscape buffers (including settlement buffers), maintaining gaps
"!
between new development and existing settlements and the setting of key
buildings.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 11

Page 88
12 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

3.0 | Preparing the Structuring Plan

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL 4: Comprehensive Approach

Page 89

3.1
Policy WEL4 requires the site promoters to jointly prepare a Structuring Plan and sets out
what must be included on the plan. The key purpose of the Structuring Plan is to demonstrate how the
site can be delivered in a comprehensive and co-ordinated way, particularly in terms of the necessary
supporting infrastructure. The guidance in this SPD should be used to build an understanding of the
criteria against which the arrangement shown on the Structuring Plan will be assessed. The structuring
plan will need to demonstrate that it offers the possibility of a design outcome that meets the principles
set out in the guidance. The Welborne Plan requires that the structuring plan shows the following:
The disposition of the main land-uses together with an agreed land budget.
"!
The access points and primary road network, including the Bus Rapid Transit route.
"!
The location of the District and Local Centres and the Community Hub
"!
The location of Welborne’s schools
"!
The main pedestrian and cycle routes throughout Welborne
"!
The strategic green infrastructure, including the green corridors linking them.
"!
The areas proposed for suitable alternative natural greenspace (SANGS)
"!
The location of strategic utilities infrastructure, including for the supply of electricity and disposal of
"!
foul water
3.2
The Structuring Plan will need to show the relative scale of each of these elements and ensure
that connections between land uses via both the street network and green infrastructure corridors
are clearly articulated. The plan will need to show all aspects of the green infrastructure including the
location and types of green space (i.e. parks, semi natural green space, sports pitches etc), connections
into the wider landscape, the locations and scale of the settlement buffers, sustainable urban drainage
(SUDS) network and the location and basic layout of the central park.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 13

Page 90
14 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

3.3
In addition to the list above, consideration should be given to a site
wide character framework which shows the principal character areas to
ensure that development character is planned for in a coherent way.

Page 91

3.4
In order to adequately asses the design intent of the Structuring
Plan a number of development principles should be agreed and provided
alongside the Structuring Plan. It is intended that these will ensure
consistency across the whole site and give greater certainty to all on the
qualities of each of the elements of the Structuring Plan. Development
principles should be provided on:
Green Infrastructure
"!
Access and movement
"!
Land Use
"!
Urban Design, Built Form and Development Character
"!
Phasing
"!
3.5
The principles should be illustrated where possible for example
showing typical cross sections through primary street and green
infrastructure corridors and precedents which display the intended design
qualities. The Design Codes which accompany planning applications will be
able to use the Structuring Plan and these development principles as their
starting point avoiding any unnecessary repetition.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 15

Page 92
16 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

4.0 | Strategic Design Code Requirements

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL 7: Strategic Design Codes

Page 93

4.1
Policy WEL7 requires the site promoters to prepare and submit Strategic Design Codes as part
of the planning application process. The purpose of the codes will be to help to build consensus about
what kind of place Welborne will be and that development proposals will meet the requirements of
the Welborne Plan. The Strategic Design Codes should not be overly detailed, they are not intended
to fix details of the development, but should set rules, principles and standards for elements of the
development which are fundamental to character and place making. It must demonstrate how it can
be applied over time to secure consistency and quality. The Strategic Design Codes should be produced
having close regard to the Welborne Design Guidance and if sufficient detail is included, will become
the main drivers of design quality within the development.
4.2
The Strategic Design Code should cover each of the points below in order to demonstrate how
the policies of the Welborne Plan and the principles within this SPD can be achieved.

4.3 Concept and Vision
Outline of the development concept i.e. what type of place is proposed.
"!
High level development principles i.e. the values that will guide decisions on design.
"!
4.4 Development Character
Site wide character: details of how an overarching, site wide identity for Welborne will be achieved
"!
based on the principles of a 21st Century Garden Community.
Character area framework: providing details of where and how the character will vary to reflect both
"!
the site conditions and the proposed change in land use. This section should include a summary of
the proposed character of each part of the development and how it relates back to a shared site wide
character.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 17

4.5 Access and Movement
Access and movement framework plan showing the location and type of
"!

Page 94

strategic routes and junctions.
Indicative arrangement of access points from the existing road network.
"!
Design principles and cross sections of the Primary street network.
"!
High level design principles for establishing a street hierarchy including
"!
typical street sections for each level of the hierarchy including details of
how the vision of a 21st Century Garden Community can be achieved.
Details of how priority for public transport can be achieved.
"!
Details of the footpath and cycle network differentiating between types of
"!
route and showing location and quality of important connections into the
surrounding area.
High level design principles typical sections and elevations outlining
"!
how edges of development will relate to the primary street network and
existing strategic routes.

4.6 Green Infrastructure
Green infrastructure framework plan showing the location and types of
"!
open spaces and connections proposed across Welborne.
High level design principles, typical sections and plans outlining the
"!
functions, character and broad layout of the central park.
Key functions and design criteria of each of the Strategic Green Corridors
"!
and Connections and strategic open spaces identified on the Structuring
Plan. Including typical cross sections and plans showing size, provision

18 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

for pedestrians and cyclists, lighting and type of planting.
Details of a structural planting scheme showing how development can be
"!
successfully integrated into the existing landscape and is responsive to
key views, heritage features and existing communities amenity.
Details of the strategic surface water drainage strategy including SUDS.
"!
How the proposed green infrastructure network will help achieve the
"!
aspirations of the proposed development character.
High level design principles typical sections and elevations outlining how
"!
edges of development will relate to areas of open space.

4.7

Residential Areas

The code for residential areas should demonstrate how each of the following
can be designed to achieve a positive urban design outcome and a quality
of place which is in keeping with the principles of a 21st Century ‘Garden
Community’ and the principal character area in which the housing sits.
Residential framework plan showing location of housing, broad
"!
distribution of density and urban design principles including enclosure,
scale and massing.
High level design and place making principles, plans and sections
"!
demonstrating approach to design of urban blocks including car parking
arrangement, types of urban block, scale, massing, density, street
composition, building lines, enclosure and overlooking of the public
realm and elevational composition along streets.

High level design principles, typical plans and sections demonstrating
"!

Page 95

approach to plot design including principles for bin and cycle storage,
architectural language, boundary treatment, building orientation, space
for front gardens, in built adaptability and privacy and overlooking.
High level design principles and typical housing layouts demonstrating
"!
approach to housing design and quality of the internal environment.
Design principles for Environmentally Sustainable Design and Climate
"!
Change Mitigation.

4.8 Employment Areas
Site wide urban design principles for dedicated employments areas
"!
showing layout, access, land uses, character, relationship to surrounding
areas and structural planting.
Urban design principles for individual plot design including guidance on
"!
layout, materials and parking.

4.9

Community Centres

Schematic plans showing the urban design principles of the District and
Local Centre and the Community Hub including: layout, scale, massing,
arrangement and scale of public spaces, connections to green infrastructure
and schools, important building frontages, public realm treatment, land
uses and parking and servicing arrangement.

4.10 School Site

Schematic plans showing how school sites can integrate with Welborne’s
Centres and can contribute towards creating high quality built
environment.
Details of how the school sites link to the green infrastructure and public
"!
transport network.
Details of how the school sites link to the community centres and hub.
"!
Details of how the school site can contribute to a positive urban design
"!
solution for Welborne.

4.11 Public realm
A public realm strategy which demonstrates:
The design approach to public realm within residential areas, centres and
"!
employment areas.
How public realm will be used to ensure high quality design.
"!
How materials will reinforce the hierarchy of streets.
"!
Consistency across the Welborne development and how variations will be
"!
used to re-enforce individual character areas.
The proposed planting strategy including character of planting and the
"!
plant species which will be used.
The proposed lighting strategy
"!
Street furniture and materials palettes.
"!

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 19

Page 96
20 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

5.0 | Comprehensive Masterplanning

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL 4: Comprehensive Approach

5.1
Policy WEL 4 requires a Comprehensive Masterplan to be provided alongside initial planning
applications. The Comprehensive Masterplan is required to cover at least the parts of the site relevant to
the planning application and be consistent with the policies of the Welborne Plan.

Page 97

5.2
The Comprehensive Masterplan should provide greater clarity and level of detail than
the Structuring Plan and start to fix the development layout. The Structuring Plan is intended to
be schematic while the Comprehensive Masterplan will show the actual alignment and scale of
development and how development relates to key pieces of infrastructure. The Comprehensive
Masterplan should be illustrated by a number of plans which clearly show:
Access and movement including pedestrian and cycle provision
"!
Green Infrastructure and drainage
"!
Land Use
"!
Development scale including building heights and density
"!
Development Character
"!
An illustrative Masterplan which demonstrates how the elements above can be combined
"!

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 21

Page 98
Principal Character Areas (as shown in the Welborne Plan)

22 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

6.0 | Character Areas

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL2: High Level Development Principles
WEL6: General Design Principles

Page 99

WEL8: Protection and Enhancement of the
Historic Environment
WEL33: Structural Landscaping
Character Areas Plan

6.1
The vision set out in the Welborne Plan sets a clear aspiration for the landscape setting to define
the spirit, character and form of the new community. The Welborne Plan goes on to set out that one way
in which this can be achieved is to develop four principal character areas based on landscape typologies
and a number of sub areas based on proposed land uses.
6.2
This section will make the purpose of the character areas clear, how character can be established
and which site features should inform the detailed masterplanning work.

6.3 Core Functions
Ensure that masterplanning is context driven and strongly informed by site character and existing
"!
features of the site.
Ensure that Welborne is developed into a distinctive new community whose identity is driven by an
"!
understanding of place.

6.4 Design Objectives
To ensure an overarching character to all residential areas of Welborne which embrace the principles
"!
of a 21st Century ‘Garden Community’.
To establish a site wide framework of character areas which is responsive to the existing site context to
"!
ensure that the character of development is planned in a coherent way.
Achieve consistency within individual character areas to ensure a strong identity and sense of place
"!
for Welborne.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 23

6.5 Design Guidance
Detailed masterplanning must use an analysis of existing site features
and character to inform the design process. The following development
components can be used to shape an appropriate response to the existing
site conditions:

Page 100

The development concept for a particular area of the plan as a means of
"!
differentiation from other places.
Overall layout of the scheme for example working with a distinctive
"!
pattern of topography, site features or responding to a local historic
pattern of development.
Residential density of the scheme, for example allowing a more green
"!
and rural character at peripheral areas of the site where proposed
development meets existing rural areas or communities.
Block pattern and urban form, for example tight, formal, perimeter block
"!
arrangements in more urban parts of the site.
Layout of the streets and public spaces and the type of materials used for
"!
example wide and tree lined or smaller scale with shared surfaces.
The mix of housing types.
"!
How buildings and plots enclose the street i.e. the boundary treatments
"!
building line, height and orientation.
The design of the public realm including, materials, detailing and
"!
planting.
Architectural language including materials and detailing.
"!
24 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

6.6 Consistency
Consistency will be fundamental in establishing the character of any
"!
residential areas of Welborne. There must be a recognisable and repeating
pattern of development components to establish an image defining and
memorable character.
The images below illustrate how a considerable measure of consistency
"!
is central to achieving a distinct and recognisable character. Places
which have successfully established a strong identity have generally used
variation carefully. Obviously varying the development components
listed above will be essential in some instances and desirable in others to
introduce interest and richness. However, variations in the elements listed
above vary on an urban block scale rather than individual plot scale. For
instance if a range of house types is used with variation in buildings line,
a consistent boundary treatment and limited materials palette could be
used to drive the character.

Page 101

Examples showing how consistency in building line and architectural language establish a
distinctive development character

Examples showing how consistency in materials has resulted in a strong development
character despite variations in house types and built form

Examples showing how consistency in materials has resulted in a strong development
character despite variations in building types

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 25

Page 102
Example of original Garden City which embraces some of the principles of a Garden
Community including: a clear distinction between public and private open space, green
and spacious feeling to streets, clear grid of direct routes, a consistent building design,
broadly consistent building line and buildings set back within generous plots.

26 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Example of a development in Germany which display similar design principles.

6.6

Overarching Character

Page 103

The Welborne Plan sets an aspiration for a site wide character which
embraces the principles of a 21st Century ‘Garden Community’. In order
to set an overarching identity and sense of what type of place Welborne
will be, a number of simple site wide urban design principles should be
provided. It is expected that these will be able to demonstrate how the
principles of a ‘Garden Community’ can be consistently applied. For
example these principles may provide simple rules or strategy on:

6.7

Principal Character Areas

Within the overarching Garden Community character The Welborne Plan
identifies four principal character areas for Welborne. Planning applications
coming forward would be expected to demonstrate how a character area
framework and development components listed above can be used to
respond to and emphasise the existing features and characteristics of the
site and the proposed land uses including:

A limited number of block typologies and urban structure which allows a
"!
clear distinction between public and private open space.
Building alignment which is set back within plots overlooking streets
"!
with clear and consistent building lines and boundary treatments
enclosing private space.
Providing a green and spacious feeling to streets and spaces.
"!
A network of streets laid out to a planned grid of direct routes
"!
incorporating generous space for planting and pedestrians and cyclists.
A strategy for developing an appropriate architectural style and public
"!
realm design.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 27

6.7.1 Central part of the site (Referred to in the Welborne Plan as
the Downland)

Page 104
A development form which maintains some of the open and expansive
"!
qualities of the site for instance through the large Central Park and
maintaining some of the distant views out of the site to the south and east
towards Portsdown Hill and the Solent.
A simple material palette which recognises the distinctive predominance
"!
of chalk geology and the proposed urban character within this part of the
site.

28 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Design of the green spaces and use of plant and tree species which reflect
"!
the downland character for instance using less enclosing structural
planting to leave substantial parts of green space open in character.
A site layout which responds to the consistent, gentle south facing
"!
topography of the site maximising opportunities for solar gain and
achieving an urban form which reflects the regularity of the slope
and ensures a cohesive urban structure when viewed from the south.
For instance using a regular and formal east – west running urban
grid which emphasises the general absence of landscape features, the
regularity of the south facing slope and connects directly to the central
park.
An open space strategy which is capable of providing east – west planting
"!
along the northern and southern boundaries of the area to provide visual
breaks in development in key views from the south.
A development form which emphasises this area as the most urban
"!
part of the site, for instance using an ordered and formal development
character, compact built form, densities capable of supporting
community facilities and using materials, surfacing and planting that
creates a more urban character.
Proposals which show how the District Centre can be integrated into
"!
surrounding areas and form an image defining feature of Welborne
alongside its links and association with the Central Park.
Proposals for the retention of the belt of trees along the edge of the
"!
Knowle Triangle including details of how the interface between
development edge and woodland will work.
Proposals for the incorporation of the Long Barrow site.
"!

Legend:
Character area extents
Limited amount of existing vegetation
Consistent, gently sloping topography
South facing slope
Key views

Page 105
Plan showing site characteristics which should influence masterplanning and proposed development character

Example of potential development characteristics

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 29

6.7.2 North of Knowle Road (Referred to in the Welborne Plan as
the Woodland):

Page 106
Recognition of important tree blocks around the site and the enclosure
"!
they provide including a clear strategy for their incorporation into the
scheme ensuring visibility from the majority of this part of the site for
example by running streets towards areas of woodland.
Demonstration of how the interface between development edge and
"!
existing woodland will work.

30 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Proposals for the retention of areas of woodland within the site and how
"!
they will be positively integrated into residential areas.
Provision of links which provide direct and attractive walking and
"!
cycling routes to areas of existing woodland.
Recognition of the importance of the existing rural character of Knowle
"!
Road including proposals for the retention of planting along the road and
how development can be introduced to the north which is more rural in
character.
Recognition of the importance of the ridge along the northern edge of the
"!
site in setting visual separation between Wickham and Fareham.
Proposals for a layout which allows informal tree cover to provide a
"!
dominant feature of the whole area with new neighbourhoods enclosed
by and formed around new woodland.
Proposals for a development form which is less formal and less urban in
"!
character than the Central area of the site.
Proposals for development densities which are capable of providing a
"!
built edge which is sensitive to areas of surrounding woodland.
A strategy for tree planting in this part of the site which uses locally
"!
significant species of tree and appropriate understorey planting (rather
than mown grass) which provides woodland character and creates habitat
links into the surrounding area.

Legend:
Character area extents
Existing vegetation

Page 107

Listed building
Existing buildings
Enclosing effect of surrounding tree cover
Rural character of Knowle Road
Significant ridge line

Plan showing site characteristics which should influence masterplanning and proposed development character

Example of potential development characteristics

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 31

6.7.3 South of Dean Farm – the southern edge of the site (Referred
to in the Welborne Plan as the Meadows)

Page 108
Recognition of the importance of the smaller field pattern, stronger
"!
landscape structure including hedges, tree belts, avenues and tracks as
well as a greater degree of visual enclosure that characterise this area.
A more fractured and informal development structure to allow
"!
incorporation of existing features and to reflect a less urban character

32 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

than central parts of the site.
Recognition of relationship with existing community at Funtley.
"!
Proposals should allow for densities and development form which
maintains clear distinction between Welborne and Funtley.
Demonstration of how views into the site from the south have informed
"!
an approach which is capable of establishing an attractive, green edge to
Welborne with development regularly broken up visually by landscape
features incorporating tree cover, water and wetland features.
Integrating areas of water, meadow, naturalistic planting and blocks of
"!
woodland into continuous east – west green corridors which connect the
Meon and Wallington river valleys along the lowest lying part of the site.
Use of visible SUDs features integrated into the street scene.
"!
Proposals for how the listed buildings at Dean Farm can be incorporated
"!
into the development.

Legend:

Page 109

Character area extents
Existing vegetation and field boundaries
Existing water courses/features
Low lying areas of the site
Key views
Listed building
Existing buildings

Plan showing site characteristics which should influence masterplanning and proposed development character

Example of potential development characteristics

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 33

6.7.4 East of the A32 (Referred to in the Welborne Plan as the

Recognition of the importance of the existing buildings including listed
"!

Page 110

buildings at Roche Court and buildings at Albany Farm including their
character and their visual setting and relationship with the Wallington
River valley.
A development character which responds to and enhances the existing
"!
pattern of woodland belts, open pasture, buildings and parkland trees
associated with Roche Court which are all important landscape features
for instance by using a built form which encloses a designed and
picturesque landscape structure.
A development form which is more open in character than the Meadows
"!
and Woodland area and is defined by open grassland using small tree
groups, individual parkland trees and tree belts to filter views and
visibility of the development from the east.

Parkland)
A scheme layout which acknowledges the importance of the tree
"!
belt along the A32 and the landform which falls gently towards the
Wallington resulting in a sense of separation from the rest of the
Welborne site and closer association with the River Wallington.

34 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Legend:
Character area extents
Existing vegetation
Gently sloping lanform

Page 111

Landform forming part of the Wallington
Valley
Key views
Listed building
Existing buildings
Visual setting of key buildings
Existing water courses
Individual and parkland trees within open
grassland and pasture

Plan showing site characteristics which should influence masterplanning and proposed development character

Example of potential development characteristics

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 35

Legend:
Landscape Buffers
Settlement Buffers
Potential SANGS and Settlement Buffer
Strategic Green Infrastructure Corridor
Key Pedestrian/Cycle Link

Page 112
Extract from the Strategic Framework Diagram showing elements of the green infrastructure

36 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

7.0 | Green Infrastructure

Relevant Plans and Policies:

Page 113

The Policies Map: showing the broad
location of the central park and settlement
buffers.
WEL2: High Level Development Principles
WEL6: General Design Principles
WEL29: On-site Green Infrastructure
WEL30: Avoiding and Mitigating the
Impact on Internationally Protected Sites
and Off-site Green Infrastructure
WEL31: Conserving and Enhancing
Biodiversity
WEL32: Strategic Green Corridors and
Connections
WEL33: Structural Landscaping
WEL 34: Detailed Landscaping

7.1
The Welborne Plan includes a detailed commentary on the green infrastructure strategy for
Welborne, it sets out the types of green space required, quantums and the roles the green spaces must
fulfil. This section of the SPD will provide guidance on the expectations on how each of the elements of
the green infrastructure will be designed.

7.2 Core Functions
Ensure that Welborne’s ‘spirit, character and form are inspired by its landscape setting’ as set out in
"!
the Vision contained in the Welborne Plan.
Meet the day to day recreational needs of the new community.
"!
Offer the residents of Welborne contact with nature.
"!
Protect the landscape and biodiversity assets of the area.
"!
Form part of the strategy to ensure that potential impacts on protected sites at the Solent are mitigated
"!
against.

7.3 Design Objectives
Beautiful: Green spaces and corridors should be well designed; they should be uplifting and
"!
inspirational, enhancing quality of life for residents and offering value to surrounding development.
Green spaces must be designed to be attractive and useable with a clearly defined role and an identity
driven by the character of the area in which they sit.
Connected: The policies of the Welborne Plan seek to provide a connected grid of green
"!
infrastructure. The grid must place green space at the heart of all areas of development and connect
into the surrounding landscape and existing neighbourhoods offering sustainable choices for travel
and opportunities to link habitats. The number of road crossing along green corridors should be kept
to an absolute minimum. Green spaces should be accessible; they should be easy to get to via direct
and attractive routes.
Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 37

Multifunctional: The Welborne Plan requires various types of green
"!

Page 114

infrastructure, such as sports pitches, allotments play areas, semi
natural green space, parks and amenity space and SANGS. While it is
acknowledged and encouraged that green spaces will provide multiple
functions it is important that the overall quantity of green infrastructure
is sufficient to ensure accessibility and is able to meet all the policies set
out in the Welborne Plan and guidance in this SPD.
Overlooked: All areas of open space must be designed to be well enclosed
"!
and overlooked by surrounding properties avoiding any instances
of rear boundaries forming a significant edge to open spaces. This is
fundamentally important in ensuring green spaces are well integrated
into the built form which along with giving them a clearly defined role
will avoid provision of large areas of unneeded and unused open space. It
is also allows the green space to form the setting for development; helping
to drive character and embrace the principles of a 21st Century ‘Garden
Community’.

38 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

7.4 Design Guidance
7.4.1 Central Park

Page 115

The Central Park is shown on Policies Map within the Welborne Plan,
the aspiration for the park has emerged through consultation with key
stakeholders and the local community. The primary objectives for the park
are:

To broadly follows the alignment of the gas pipeline to make best use of
"!
constrained land and to connect large residential areas of Welborne with
the District Centre.
The park should widen to the northern section and connect to potential
"!
areas of SANGS to the north and west of Welborne.
The park should widen at the southern end to allow community uses and
"!
possibly a sports pitch near to the District Centre, without compromising
the overall open and informal character.

A large park located centrally to the new community so that it is
"!
encountered by the majority of residents every day and provides a
significant area of open space and gathering space within the core area of
Welborne.
The park should pass through significant areas of residential development
"!
channelling pedestrians and cyclists towards the District Centre.
To have a strong visual and physical link to the District Centre and
"!
therefore provide an image defining identity for Welborne.
Open and expansive in character and experienced as a single space
"!
offering views out of the site to the south and the east.
To not be crossed by any trafficked roads.
"!
To have a predominantly informal and semi-natural character with
"!
formal play areas and structures kept to the edges where the park widens.
To have a landscape treatment which reflects a chalk downland typology
"!
with a significant open semi natural character, for instance using limited
tree planting at the margins and large areas of grass / meadow suitable for
the underlying chalk geology.

Examples showing potential character of the Central Park

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 39

Page 116
Illustration of the design guidance - Central Park

40 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

7.4.2 Strategic Green Infrastructure Corridors and
Connections
Policy WEL32 requires provision of Strategic Green Infrastructure
Corridors and Connections, the following guidance sets out the aspiration
for what these corridors will achieve:

Page 117

Regularly spaced to reach into all areas of Welborne placing all residents
"!
within 2 – 3 minutes’ (approx. 300m) walk of a connected and regular
grid of green spaces.
A grid running predominantly east – west and north – south to ensure
"!
good connectivity across the site.
Accommodate footpaths, cycleways and bridleways where appropriate
"!
separated from trafficked roads and with minimal road crossings.
Be sufficiently wide to be green in character and accommodate tree
"!
planting and to avoid being dominated by roads and surrounding
development.
Provide strong and direct footpath and cycle connections to North
"!
Fareham, Funtley, Knowle, the District Centre, employment area and
school sites.
Provide attractive and direct footpath and cycle access into the
"!
surrounding landscape as part of a wider network of walking routes
including; Dash Wood, playing fields at Knowle, Knowle Triangle,
Fareham Common, public rights of way along the eastern boundary
of the site, public rights of way along the western boundary of the site
Provide attractive and direct footpath and cycle access

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 41

Page 118
Be sufficiently wide to be green in character and accommodate tree planting

42 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

(including the bridge crossing of the railway), Pook Lane, Forest
Lane and the public rights of way to the north east.
To contain a significant proportion of continuous native planting
"!
to serve as wildlife corridors through the site and provide residents
of Welborne contact with nature. The type of planting should vary
depending on the location of the corridor and surrounding habitats
it could link into, for instance woodland belts connecting across
northern parts of the site and mosaic of wetland, meadow and
woodland to the south connecting the Meon and Wallington river
valleys.
Provide important east – west running visual breaks in development
"!
to improve the visual setting of Welborne particularly when viewed
from the south.
Tie into proposed pedestrian crossings of the A32 and existing
"!
bridges and underpasses of the M27 to ensure connectivity.
Incorporate proposed settlement buffers, buffers to M27 and
"!
development set backs from mature and remnant ancient woods
within and surrounding the site.
Lighting to be considered where routes would provide a useful
"!
commuting corridor and where it would not have adverse impact on
wildlife corridors.
Connect and incorporate all other types of open space including
"!
play areas, allotments, sports pitches, parks, semi natural and
SANGS.
Accommodate sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS).
"!

Page 119
Placing residents in close proximity to a network of open spaces

Accomodate SUDS

Connect and incorporate other types of open space

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 43

7.4.3 Structural Landscape
Policy WEL 33 of the Welborne Plan requires a structural landscaping
scheme which shows how existing landscape features can be strengthened.
The following guidance should be used to develop proposals:

Page 120

7.4.4 Site Wide:
Strengthen vegetation along the boundaries of the site, particularly along
"!
the A32 and motorway embankments, where appropriate to obstruct
or filter views from these main transport routes and to reduce their
intrusion.
Provide landscape buffers (semi natural greenspace or woodland
"!
planting) along the edges of existing development, e.g. Funtley and
existing properties to protect visual and recreational amenity.
Retain and strengthen existing belts, blocks of trees and internal field
"!
boundaries within the site, incorporate into a new framework of linear
planting to contain development in particular, strong west-east belts of
planting across the area to break up the mass of new development in
elevated views from the south.
Use native broadleaved species, appropriate to the locality and underlying
"!
soil conditions in new woodland and hedgerow planting.
Ensure that the important woodlands, copses and belts of trees around
"!
the edges of the site are protected from damage and provide landscape
buffers to these features.

44 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

7.4.5 Additional guidance for the central part of the site (Referred
to in the Welborne Plan as the Downland)
The central part of the site should retain a substantial area of open space
"!
with chalk grassland and other downland characteristics, contained by a
loose, large-scale structure of linear planting that would help to break up
and diffuse views of development from surrounding areas (particularly
from the south) without creating an uncharacteristic sense of enclosure.

7.4.6 Additional guidance for the area to the north of Knowle Road
(Referred to in the Welborne Plan as the Woodland):
Extend woodland planting along the ridge at the northern edge of the
"!
area to strengthen the woodland backdrop of the area, reinforce its
enclosed character and close the gap to any potential views from the
north.
Provide landscape buffer (greenspace or woodland planting) to the rear
"!
of properties along the A32 that back onto the area, to protect their visual
amenity and keep development well below the ridgeline in this area to
limit visibility from areas to the south.
Elsewhere, consider extending the typical enclosed woodland mosaic
"!
character of Forest of Bere landscape southwards into this area, to help
knit the area into the surrounding landscape, integrate development and
limit any residual visual impacts from surrounding areas, properties and
rights of way.

7.4.7 Additional guidance for the area to the south of Dean Farm
– the southern edge of the site (Referred to in the Welborne Plan as
the Meadows)
Create a more intimate mosaic of woodland and wetlands, within the
"!

Page 121

smaller-scale landscape to the southern part of the site to reflect its
existing character and help to reduce the intrusion of the motorway and
neighbouring built development.

7.4.8 Additional guidance for the area to the east of the A32
(Referred to in the Welborne Plan as the Parkland)
Create a substantial planting belt along tracks/ field boundaries around
"!
the eastern and northern periphery of this area to limit and filter views
from roads, properties and footpaths on Portsdown Hill;
Protect other valuable landscape features, such as individual mature
"!
parkland trees, copses and mature hedgerows or belts of trees within
and around the area, and integrate these features within a new landscape
structure.
Extend planting along the lower edge of the area along Pook Lane to limit
"!
views into the southern area from the lane, neighbouring farms and the
M27.
Create a landscape buffer around Roche Court to protect the setting of
"!
the Listed Buildings and reinforce parkland character of areas to the
south using characteristic features such as avenues, copse, belts and
individual parkland trees set in open grassland.

7.4.9 Settlement Buffers
Policy WEL 5 requires development proposals to respect and maintain the
physical and visual separation of Welborne and it adjoining settlements.
7.4.10 The following guidance should be read in addition to the
requirements set out in WEL 5.
Ensure that buffers are designed to be semi natural in character and
"!
generally free from urbanised structures and formal open space uses such
as formal play, sports pitches, parks etc. to ensure that buffers appear as
settlement gaps rather than urbanised parks.
Consider how the urban form leading up to the buffers can reflect an
"!
urban edge typology, for instance lowering residential densities.
Demonstrate how development character in Welborne adjacent to
"!
existing settlements will respect the individual character of those
settlements, i.e. through architectural style and layout.
Demonstrate how development within Welborne can provide a positive
"!
edge, i.e. enclosed with a degree of overlooking without imposing on
existing settlements.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 45

Page 122
Examples of appropriate green edges showing how adjacent development has been planned to provide enclosure and overlooking

46 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

7.4.11 Green Edges

Page 123

The requirement for linear green corridors and connections and landscape
features means significant areas of housing will abut green space, it is
therefore critical that the relationship between green space and development
is well planned. There is flexibility as to how the juxtaposition of housing
and green space can be managed provided that a number of key principles
are adhered to:
Avoid rear gardens backing onto green corridors, connections, buffers
"!
and all green spaces. Green spaces should be overlooked by development.
Continuous lengths of rear property boundaries should not be used to
enclose or delineate green space.
Animate the edges. Ensure buildings along green spaces or surrounding
"!
green space are enlivened by providing active uses, building entrances,
overlooking and regular access points (i.e. side streets and footpaths) onto
the green space.
Ensure a clearly defined boundary between public and private land.
"!

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 47

Examples of appropriate green edges showing how adjacent development has been planned to provide enclosure and overlooking

Page 124

plan
plan

section
section

This arrangement allows for overlooking of the open space through the
"!
provision of a shared access way alongside the open space. The access way
would be used to provide vehicle access to parking in front of properties.
Parking within the areas of open space must be deterred with the use of
"!
well integrated physical deterrents such as drainage ditches, planting and
low bollards.

48 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

This arrangement does not provide a continuous built frontage to the
"!
open space but enables gable ends and oblique frontage views over the
open space. Alternatively the end house could be double fronted or be
turned to directly overlook the open space. This arrangement also allows
for regular access points in the form of side streets to encourage activity/
use and provide an additional level of natural surveillance.
This arrangement could be used where quieter areas of open space would
"!
be advantageous in establishing attractive walking routes.
Vehicle access onto the open space should be deterred with physical
"!
deterrents such as low bollards.

Page 125

plan

plan

section
section

A continuous built frontage without vehicle access. Although there is a
"!
As per previous arrangement with the addition of vehicle access to allow
"!
limited parking along the edge of the open space.
Parking within the areas of open space must be deterred with the use of
"!
well integrated physical deterrents such as drainage ditches, planting and
low bollards

general presumption against the use of rear parking, this option could be
used where alternative parking arrangements have been agreed. Regular
entrances and windows at ground and upper levels must be combined to
place genuine surveillance and activity on the green corridor.
Clearly defined pedestrian and cycle access should be provided from the
"!
side street into and around the open space.
Vehicle access onto the open space should be deterred with physical
"!
deterrents such as low bollards.
Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 49

Legend:
Primary Street Network
BRT Route
BRT Stop

Page 126
Extract from the Strategic Framework Diagram showing strategic access and movement

50 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

8.0 | Access and Movement

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL2: High Level Development Principles
WEL6: General Design Principles

Page 127

WEL23: Transport Principles for Welborne
WEL24: Strategic Road Access
WEL25: Local Road Transport and Access
WEL26: Public Transport

8.1
The Transport Strategy referred to in chapter 7 of the Welborne Plan should be referred to for
more details on the transport principles which will guide development proposals coming forward. The
Transport Strategy work has been informed by masterplanning undertaken by the council, transport
modelling evidence, national and local policy, best practice and ongoing discussion with the Highways
Agency, Highways Authority and other key stakeholders. The Transport Strategy is set out around five
key transport principles:
Transport and land use integration;
"!
Network of streets and routes;
"!
Hardwiring sustainable transport (i.e. planning development to help support sustainable transport);
"!
Governance and travel planning;
"!
Managing wider impacts.
"!

WEL27: Encouraging Sustainable Choices
WEL28: Walking and Cycling

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 51

8.2 Design Guidance
8.2.1 WEL 25 makes reference to improvements to the A32 creating an
appropriate gateway to development and a spine network of routes through
the site. In addition to the principles and strategy outlined in the Transport
Strategy the following guidance should be used to inform development
proposals:

Page 128

The perceived image of Welborne will be greatly influenced by the
"!
appearance of development directly adjacent to strategic routes. Buildings
should therefore be set back but address these routes and provide a
positive frontage avoiding any instances of back fences adjacent proposed
streets and existing roads.
Ensure buildings along strategic routes are enlivened by providing
"!
active uses and entrances overlooking the routes and include boundary
treatment of a design and quality commensurate with building frontage.
Orientate development so that buildings front onto strategic routes
"!
allowing the buildings to offer a degree of noise mitigation for private
outdoor space to the rear of these properties and for development further
into the site.
Ensure that the layout of the primary street network follows a clear and
"!
easy to understand structure, the number of primary streets should be
kept to a minimum.
Maintain overall consistency in the design of the primary street network
"!
to strengthen its character and to make the hierarchy of streets easy to

52 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

understand.
To create a spacious and elegant street network with a strong and
"!
consistent character which contains a significant landscape component
including low level planting and regular street trees to reinforce the
green character of Welborne. For instance, separating trafficked parts
of the street and footpaths using a generous landscape strip to reflect
the aspiration for a development character which embraces Garden
Community principles, responds to the character of existing roads at
Welborne and provides more attractive routes for pedestrians.
Demonstrate how street design is appropriate to the character and land
"!
uses of the surrounding area.
Development proposals should demonstrate, at an early stage, how street
"!
trees will be incorporated into the street cross section, to an adoptable
standard, without compromising utilities, street lighting, highways
visibility or individual properties to ensure tree planting is not sacrificed
at detailed design stages.
Demonstrate how traffic calming will be integrated into the design of
"!
streets avoiding the need for retrospective measures such as raised tables
and chicanes.

Illustration of the design guidance - development fronting onto strategic and primary streets

Page 129
Examples which display some of the principles of the design guidance including incorporation of street trees, spacious
and elegant street cross section, overlooking by surrounding development and consistent charcter along the street.

Example showing how upright tree and ground level
planting can be incorporated in clusters and alternated
along the street with lighting to create a strong green
character to the street

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 53

Legend:
Residential Land

Page 130
Extract from the Strategic Framework Diagram showing residential areas

54 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

9.0 | Residential Areas

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL2: High Level Development Principles

9.1
The Welborne Plan establishes the vision for a successful and sustainable new Garden
Community providing approximately 6000 new homes and the facilities required to support them.
The residential development required to achieve this will be delivered over a period of time and across
varying character areas providing the opportunity for a carefully considered 21st century approach to
place making and housing.

WEL6: General Design Principles

Page 131

WEL17: Market Housing
WEL18: Affordable Housing

9.2
This section will look at the design objectives and core functions of the residential development,
an over-arching vision and approach considering the aspirations of the 21st Century Garden
Community and specific residential design criteria to be considered when producing design coding or
design proposals to achieve the requirements set out in the policies of the Welborne Plan.

9.3 Core Functions
To provide approximately 6000 new homes within new residential communities.
"!
To provide a range of house types and sizes to meet current and future demand.
"!
To help deliver the vision of the Welborne Plan with regard to the spatial and aesthetic aspirations of a
"!
21st Century Garden Community.
To meet the aspiration for inclusive neighbourhoods that incorporate high standards of sustainable
"!
design, and strong sense of place as set out in policy WEL2.

9.4 Design Objectives
To deliver residential development that meets the requirements and vision of the Welborne Plan.
"!
Including the spatial and aesthetic aspirations of a 21st Century Garden Community approach.
To provide residential development that responds to the wider, existing character and qualities of the
"!
site.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 55

To deliver housing which provides appropriate space and amenity
"!

Page 132

for all tenures, ensuring flexibility in use for a range of residents and
adaptability to meet their changing circumstances and needs.
To provide sustainable residential development. This not only means
"!
providing housing that seeks to reduce its impact on the environment but
that also establishes attractive places to live with housing that can meet
demands now and in future.

9.5.2 General urban design and place making principles –
block design

9.5 Design Guidance

The arrangements of the streets and spaces, the scale and definition of
urban blocks will play a fundamental part in setting the character and
quality of place at Welborne. A well laid out urban structure can facilitate
people in leading more active and healthier lives by encouraging walking
and cycling, use of local facilities and providing access into attractive green
spaces. The layout and scale of urban blocks and their efficiency will also
play an equally important role to density in determining how open and
green the development feels.

9.5.1 Character Areas

Demonstrate how development proposals respond to the wider vision for
"!

The Character Areas section of this document sets out the principals for
establishing character including guidance on Overarching Character,
Consistency and the Principal Character Areas. Residential development
should consider the guidance under each of these key criteria to ensure
that it responds to and drives the required character across the overall
development and within specific areas of the site.

Welborne including the overarching character of a 21st Century Garden
Community.
Demonstrate how residential development relates to its physical context
"!
including character, public space, landscape and topography.
Illustrate a residential block design that provides a legible street pattern,
"!
is based on a clear hierarchy of streets and provides a direct pedestrian
network.
Development should be designed to overlook public spaces and paths
"!
avoiding blank elevations onto public realm at ground level.
Proposals should demonstrate how layouts eliminate ‘left over’ space or
"!
areas of the development which serve no clear purpose. This will ensure
maximum space for houses and garden space while avoiding unused
spaces which will be unmaintained and become unattractive.

56 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

The density and spaciousness of development should respond to and
"!

Page 133

help drive a particular character in response to the site wide character
areas. Where character allows, development should be of a density
that facilitates efficient use of land and delivers compact, walkable
development.
Proposals should demonstrate how the mix of dwelling sizes and the mix
"!
of tenures meet the strategic vision and local demand.
Development proposals should show how variations in density,
"!
spaciousness, building heights, scale and massing will be used across the
site to achieve a positive urban design outcome and drive the character of
the development.

9.5.3 Plot Design
The layout and design of residential plots will play an important role in both
setting the quality of private space available to residents and contributing to
the overall street scene and development character. The effect of boundary
treatments, front gardens, building line, orientation, building height and
rhythm in building elevation on development character should all be
carefully considered and illustrated.
Plot design should demonstrate how it responds to the wider vision for
"!
Welborne including the overarching character of a 21st Century Garden
Community:
Residential plot design should demonstrate how it provides for future
"!

adaptability considering space for the future extension of properties to
the rear or to the side which would not visually compromise the quality
of the street scene.
Garden sizes should provide adequate space and amenity, with
"!
consideration given to orientation. All houses should be served by goodquality, private and useable amenity space which is fit for purpose and
relates well to the house.
Front gardens should respond to the wider ‘Garden City’ principles and
"!
the guidance provided on car parking, bin and cycle storage.
Proposals should demonstrate how distances between individual
"!
buildings allows for privacy, for instance setting clear principles on back
to back and front to front distances.
Buildings will generally be set back from the street to provide front
"!
gardens and should achieve a consistency in building line and
orientation.

9.5.4 Internal Environment
The design of housing should consider the quality of the internal
environment, at the heart of this is adequate space. No amount of sensitive
design can compensate for houses and flats that are too small, housing
design that demonstrates increased space standards a will improve
residents’ quality of life and ensure that homes are accessible and able to
accommodate changing personal circumstances and growing families.
Extra space will enable homes to be more than mere dormitories,
Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 57

encouraging sociable rooms within homes, and giving individual family
members private space when they need it. In addition to floor area, ceiling
heights and levels of daylight are vital to the quality of new homes.
The design of individual houses and the size of the internal
"!

Page 134

environment should reflect the aspiration to embrace 21st Century
Garden Community principles, generous provision of private space is a
fundamental part of this.
Housing design should demonstrate that it provides appropriate internal
"!
space. This may be through the consideration of and application of agreed
minimum space and the development of housing design that generally
exceeds these minimum standards.
As residential developments come forward typical dwelling plans should
"!
demonstrate that dwellings accommodate the furniture, access and
activity space requirements relating to the declared level of occupancy.
Plans should also demonstrate sufficient space to allow flexibility of
internal arrangements such as double or twin beds or alternative seating
arrangements in living areas.
Internal circulation is important not only for the overall feeling of space
"!
within a home but insuring that design is inclusive and meets future
needs such as wheelchair access. Housing design should demonstrate that
this has been considered through reference to Lifetime Homes standards.
The overall size and arrangement of living areas (including kitchen,
"!
dining and living rooms) should be carefully considered to allow for
flexibility of use particularly in family housing, including the allowance
58 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

for separate private space, open plan living and future adaptability.
The lack of storage can be a major problem in new homes. Without
"!
adequate storage space, people’s belongings will take space away from the
rooms of the home and limit enjoyment of them. Carefully considered
and sufficient storage space should be provided.
Housing design should demonstrate how it has considered future
"!
adaptability for changing needs and growing families. This could include
future extension, loft conversion or internal adaptations which do not
disrupt the continuity of the street scene.
Housing design should consider more generous ceiling heights. Ceiling
"!
heights are important not only to the feeling of space within a home but
to the proportion of external facades.
Housing design should carefully consider the amount of daylight and
"!
solar access within a home, providing good levels of natural light whilst
avoiding overheating in summer. Most people consider the level of
natural light within a home to be one of the most important factors, good
levels of natural light not only make homes more enjoyable but also more
sustainable. Housing design should consider orientation, window size
and arrangement and configuration to maximise daylight and promote
direct sunlight without overheating. All habitable rooms shall be served
by windows which enjoy a good level of outlook and daylight.

9.5.5 Environmentally Sustainable Design and Climate
Change Mitigation

Page 135

All new housing should consider ways to reduce carbon emissions, conserve
water, mitigate flooding and safeguard biodiversity. An understanding of
climate and ecology is necessary not just to reduce carbon emissions and
provide sustainable homes, but also to make homes that are comfortable in
hot summer months and well insulated for the winter.
9.5.6 When considering sustainable design and the reduction of carbon
emissions residential development should adopt the following hierarchy of
priorities for providing energy for heating, lighting, and cooling the home:
Lean: using less energy in construction and operation by incorporating
"!
sustainable design and construction measures, and by specifying energy
efficient lighting and appliances;
Clean: supplying energy efficiently, for example by prioritising
"!
decentralised energy generation; and
Green: using renewable energy.
"!
Housing design should demonstrate how it will use less energy. Before
"!
renewable energy generation is considered, the priority should be to
reduce energy consumption. This means making the building fabric
more efficient to minimise energy loss, taking steps to reduce the need
for electric lighting, heating, mechanical ventilation and cooling and the
specifying energy efficient lighting and appliances.
Residential developments should demonstrate consideration of
"!

connecting to district heating and cooling networks or provision of sitewide CHP (Combined Heat & Power) networks where feasible, unless onsite low carbon and renewable energy generation will provide a greater
reduction in carbon emissions.
Where feasible, development proposals should incorporate on-site
"!
renewable energy generation to reduce carbon emissions. Renewable
energy generation methods include solar thermal systems, biomassfuelled heating and/or power, ground source heating and cooling, air
source heat pumps, photovoltaics, wind power, and renewable energy
from waste.
Development proposals should demonstrate how the design of dwellings
"!
will avoid overheating during summer months without reliance on
energy intensive mechanical cooling systems.
Housing design should demonstrate how it will reduce the use of water
"!
within the home.
Residential development should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage
"!
Systems and green roof where appropriate to control and attenuate
surface water run-off.
Residential development should consider the use of materials that have a
"!
lower impact on the environment over their lifecycle.
The design and layout of residential development should avoid areas of
"!
ecological value and seek to enhance the ecological value and biodiversity
of its chosen site.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 59

9.5.7 Car parking

Page 136

The provision for car parking will have a significant effect on both the
quality of the built form at Welborne and residents and visitors lives. A
flexible and traditional approach should be taken to parking which allows
for a range of on street, on plot parking as well as a small amount of courtbased parking. A number of key principles should underpin any parking
solution:

9.5.8 Provide sufficient parking:
Parking numbers will be provided in accordance the Welborne Parking
Strategy.

9.5.9 Rely on natural policing:
The parking solutions should be self-enforcing. Solutions implemented in
the past which force people not to park in the street to encourage the use of
rear parking courts can prove particularly difficult to manage. Any parking
solution should be capable of being naturally policed. Generally this will
be achieved through the provision of adequate spaces in convenient and
safe locations whilst ensuring that parking is difficult or unachievable in all
other locations. Traditionally on-street parking has achieved this effectively
by providing a set number of spaces but leaving little scope for abuse.

9.5.10 Ensure natural surveillance:
Residents like good surveillance of their vehicles. Parking should relate

60 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Page 137

On plot parking - side

On plot parking - front

On plot parking - side

with or without integral garage

9.5.11 Type 1 - On plot parking
On-plot parking can be achieved in many ways within the private
curtilage but to achieve good and varying townscape we suggest three key
approaches, on-plot to the front, on-plot to the side, and integral garaging.
9.5.12 On-plot to the side is to be utilised for detached, semi-detached and
end of terraces. This will be accommodated through sufficient width of plot
to allow parking at the side of the dwelling, potentially allowing for two
spaces one in front of the other or even garage parking this has the added
advantage of reducing the visual effect of cars on the streetscene.

planting/garden, pedestrian access to dwelling, and cycle and refuse storage
if the strategy for these requires it.
9.5.14 Integral garaging is often utilised for 'mews' housing or narrow
urban streets. Care should be taken to ensure that the street elevations
are not dominated by garage fronts, so integral garaging should either be
alternated with other arrangements or used with wider dwelling frontages
that incorporate entrances and openings onto habitable rooms to ensure
active frontages.

9.5.13 On-plot to the front of the dwelling is often utilised for terrace
housing allowing for off-street parking. Where this arrangement is utilised
it is essential that alongside the parking space, space is always retained for

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 61

Page 138

On street - parallel

On street - 90 degree parking integrated into the street

9.5.15 Type 2 - On street parking
On-street parking is encouraged on all streets accept primary streets,
parallel parking is the most common way of achieving this goal. These
spaces will be left unallocated to provide flexible parking for either residents
or visitors. Parallel on-street parking can be adjacent to footways or
separated from footways by verges, they can also be used in shared surface
streets to create homezone arrangements. On street parking should be
provided in clearly marked bays and 'designed in' to the streetscene.
9.5.16 An alternative arrangement for on-street parking is perpendicular
or 90 degree parking which can achieve the all the same advantages as
parallel parking. Perpendicular parking can be used to vary the townscape
by creating wider streets or varying the width of streets to become more

62 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Parallel on street parking integrated into the street

like spaces than streets, often utilising trees within the parking areas to add
to the townscape and make use of the space/street width created. They can
also be used to alter the nature of streets. Perpendicular parking can effect
the way the street is used with slower speeds, breaks in traffic etc. as cars
access spaces. Perpendicular parking can be used to increase numbers along
streets. Care should be taken to ensure a minimum of 6m space beyond the
parking spaces for manoeuvring and access.
9.5.17 Combinations of these types of parking along the same street or
from street to street can be used to vary the character throughout the
development.

Page 139

Side court parking showing small courtyard capable of

side court parking

being overlooked by surrounding pro properties and
visible from the street

9.5.18 Type 3 - Court parking
Parking should be achieved predominantly with on-street and on-plot
parking with courtyard parking used occasionally and in certain situations.
Where courtyard parking is used it should generally be at the front of
dwellings or at the end/side of short terraces, defined by buildings and
well-landscaped. Side parking courts should be kept small and generally
be a maximum of 6-8 spaces. Parking courts should always be visible from
the street and well overlooked by fronts of surrounding properties, with
sufficient separation between windows and spaces to avoid disturbance to
residents.

key locations or by altering the street alignment. These spaces often provide
the opportunity to combine parking and tree planting and to create a sense
of place. This differs from on street parking where the spaces are provided
behind the adoptable road area allowing designation of the parking spaces.

9.5.19 Front courtyard parking can be used to improve townscape and to
increase parking numbers. This can be achieved through widening streets at

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 63

9.5.20

Bin and cycle storage

Page 140

Reference should be made to Fareham Borough Council’s ‘The Provision
of Refuse Storage Facilities in New Residential Developments’ Planning
Advice Note (June 2012) which outlines the main requirements of planning
refuse facilities for new residential developments. One of these requirements
is to provide allocated space within the boundary of each housing plot for
the storage of the necessary number of bins in a manner which does not
detract from the street scene.
9.5.21 The following principles will be used to determine whether or not
the proposed storage solution meets the requirements of the Planning
Advice Note:
Convenient: storage must be positioned in the most convenient location
"!
within the plot otherwise it will not be used
Visibility: The storage facility should be capable of minimising the visual
"!
intrusion of bins on the street scene, this will include ensuring sufficient
height to screen bins, maximising the number of sides of the bin which
are screened and minimising the number and frequency of visible bins
from the street.
Integrated: form and materials should be considered so that there
"!
is continuity with either the front elevation of the buildings or the
boundary treatment or both and that the bin store itself does not end up
dominating the street scene
Consistency: A consistent approach should be taken to minimise the
"!
visual interference of the facilities in the street scene
9.2.22 The following examples illustrate a number of arrangements which
64 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

could, if well designed, achieve the requirements of this Planning Advice
Note and the principles outlined above:
Stored to the side or the rear of the property, suitable for detached, semi"!
detached and end terraced where this can be provided conveniently
enough that bins do not end up stored in front gardens
Integrated into the front boundary treatment of the property, suitable
"!
where a hedge or a wall can be extended to provide a structure which is
capable of limiting the visibility of bins. This could be either a bespoke
bin store well integrated into the boundary or use of the boundary itself
to provide the screen. This would require a boundary height of 1.2m so
consideration should be given to visibility adjacent to the highway. It may
be possible to raise the boundary for a small section of the boundary to
provide the screen.
Integrated in to the plot boundary between properties in similar
"!
arrangement described above
Integrated into front elevation of the building, potentially combined with
"!
a porch area or integral garage, this approach must not result in a facility
which dominates the front elevation of the building
Placed in integral garages; where provided and of sufficient size.
"!
9.5.23 Consideration should be given to combining bin storage with cycle
storage and potentially on plot parking arrangements to ensure all these
functions are catered for, their effects on the street scene are considered and
do not result in a proliferation of structures over time.

Page 141

Example where storage is integrated into both the boundary wall and porch using
complementary materials

Storage is integrated into building elevation using complementary materials
Storage is provided to the side of detached and semi-detached properties

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 65

Legend:
Employment Land

Page 142
Extract from the Strategic Framework Diagram showing employment areas

66 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

10.0 | Employment Area

Relevant Plans and Policies:

Page 143

Policy WEL2: requires highly accessible
employment opportunities and high
standards of sustainable design, resource
efficiency and resilience to climate change.
Policy WEL9: sets out the location, type
and high level design principles of the
employment area.

10.1 This section of the guidance focusses on design guidance for the employment area at the
southern end of the site adjacent to the M27. The following guidance should be used to inform
development proposals for the employment area at Welborne to help meet the policies of the Welborne
Plan.

10.2 Core Functions
Accommodate the majority of the dedicated employment space at Welborne;
"!
Accommodate a range of employment types including safeguarded areas for office and site for a
"!
Business Incubation Centre (unless provided in a District or Local Centre);
Provide clear and convenient access onto the strategic road network;
"!
Provide sufficient noise mitigation to the residential areas to the north;
"!
Incorporate sustainable urban drainage systems.
"!

10.3 Design Objectives
Ensure the area is well planned and integrated with surrounding land uses to create a positive
"!
impression of Welborne when viewed from the motorway or arriving at Welborne;
Combine good urban design, spatial planning principles and a clear landscape strategy to establish a
"!
high quality built environment which sits within a strong and distinctive landscape structure;
Establish clear and direct links between the employment area and the District Centre to support a
"!
vibrant community centre and provide a focal point to the employment area;
Establish a development character which is in keeping with the objectives of the broader, site wide
"!
character area in which the employment area sits.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 67

Page 144
Buildings sitting within a strong landscape structure

68 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

High quality public realm providing attractive
pedestrian environment

10.4 Design Guidance

Details on methods of safeguarding long term maintenance of landscape
"!

The following principles should be applied to the layout of the employment
area to meet the Core Functions and Design Objectives for this area:

structure
Establish a clear strategy for the relationship between employment and
"!
residential areas of Welborne;
Provision of a clear signage strategy which ensures a coherent approach
"!
to the use of signage along and visible from key locations such as the M27
and primary street network. The strategy should cover location, size and
style of signage.

10.4.1 Guidance applicable to whole employment area:
Uses with a higher employment density and positive building frontage
"!
Page 145

(such as office space) located closest to the district centre, A32 and
strategic routes;
Provision of high quality public realm and direct, overlooked pedestrian
"!
and cycle routes to the district centre and surrounding residential areas;
Existing landscape features retained and integrated into development
"!
proposals for the employment sites. For example existing trees, lanes and
hedgerows;
Split employment area into smaller parcels with substantial and
"!
continuous north – south tree planting used to strengthen the landscape
setting of the buildings and reduce the visual dominance of the
employment area in views from the south. i.e. the employment area
would be viewed as a number of smaller parcels within a landscape
structure rather than a single expansive built area;
Establish a clear urban structure for example a simple street hierarchy
"!
which has a single principal street which provides access to all
employment plots
Provision of a landscape structure which is capable of helping to define
"!
the character of the area incorporating naturalistic and native planting
and SUDs features

10.4.2 Guidance applicable to design of individual employment
plots:
Individual development parcels to be planned to provide positive edge
"!
to adjacent green infrastructure corridors or streets using access points,
building frontage and on plot landscape areas to adjoin the public realm;
Open space within development parcels to embrace the intended
"!
character of surrounding strategic green infrastructure using native
planting including tree planting and SUDs features which are designed to
connect through areas of development rather than isolated features;
Demonstrate how architectural language including the use of materials
"!
can contribute to the character of the area, support policies for high
standards of sustainable design including resource efficiency and
resilience to climate change and can contribute to creating a positive
impression of Welborne in key view points along the motorways and
principle street network;

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 69

Legend
Buffer to M27

Page 146

Planting belts
Existing planting to be retained
Employment uses with highest
employee densities
Lower employee density uses
M27
Primary and strategic roads
Strategic green infrastructure link to
North Fareham
Key areas of public realm/links to
district centre
Key views into site

Illustration of the design guidance

70 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Parking and service areas should be well enclosed by buildings and
"!

Page 147

planting and planned to minimise visibility, avoiding large areas of
visible parking. The Non-residential Car and Cycle Parking SPD should
be referred to for parking standards applicable to employment area.
Service areas should be located behind buildings or within a landscape
structure so visibility from areas of public realm and views from the
south is minimised.
Use the layout of the plot to minimise the amount of security fencing
"!
required, for instance using the building itself to make up a substantial
part of the plot boundary.
Demonstrate how any large footprint buildings can be planned to avoid
"!
dominating views from the south or other prominent public vantage
points. For instance by avoiding orientating long elevations parallel to the
M27.

Use of green walls, green roofs and natural materials to integrate building into the landscape

Parking and service areas well enclosed by buildings and
planting

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 71

Legend:

District Centre
Village Centre
Community Hub

Page 148
Extract from the Strategic Framework Diagram showing community centres

72 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

11.0 | Centres and Community Hub

Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL2: High Level Development Principles
WEL10: The District Centre

Page 149

WEL11: The Local Centre
WEL12: The Community Hub
WEL13: Community Buildings

11.1 The Welborne Plan identifies a requirement for a range of well-located and accessible social and
community facilities which must be planned to meet the day to day needs for residents of Welborne. The
Welborne Plan identifies three centres; The District Centre, The Local Centre and The Community Hub
and sets out the uses that each would be expected to contain.
This section will look at the design objectives in locating the centres within Welborne and the urban
design principles which can be applied to achieve the requirements set out in the policies above.

11.2 Core Functions
To provide the majority of the social, community and retail facilities of Welborne which are capable of
"!
meeting the day to day needs of residents to encourage self-containment.
Establish a hierarchy of centres, each with a clearly defined role and scale.
"!
To provide gathering point for communities within easy walking distance of all residential areas.
"!
To play a significant role in establishing quality of place and identity of Welborne.
"!

11.3 Design Objectives
To distribute the centres so that they are within 800 – 1000m walking distance (10 – 15 minutes’
"!
walk) of all residential areas to ensure that they can become a focus point for new neighbourhoods.
To ensure that safe, convenient and direct walking and cycling routes are provided from residential
"!
areas to each of the centres along a dedicated green infrastructure corridor.
Co-locate the centres with the school sites and the principal public transport stops to encourage a
"!
range of uses and activity at the centres.
Locate each of the centres at a prominent location, preferably along an existing route or proposed
"!
primary street network to ensure the centres play a significant part in setting the identity of
Welborne.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 73

Combine good urban design and spatial planning principles to establish a
"!

Page 150

high quality built form with active and overlooked public realm.
Create an attractive appropriately sized public space with each
"!
community centre which is not dominated by traffic and has the
flexibility to accommodate a range of outdoor uses.
To provide a range of uses and hierarchy as set out in the Welborne Plan.
"!
To provide architecture of quality and presence to provide a focus and
"!
pride for the community.

11.4 Design Guidance
11.4.1 Guidance applicable to all community centres:
Opportunities for including residential and small scale employment uses
"!
within the centres will be encouraged.
Opportunities for co-locating centre with school sites will be encouraged,
"!
proposals will need to demonstrate how school site can contribute to
positive urban design outcome including building enclosure and clear
pedestrian and cycle links with safe and convenient road crossings.
Car parking is to be provided in accordance with Fareham Borough
"!
Council’s Non-residential Car and Cycle Parking Standards SPD.
Proposals for each of the centres must demonstrate how parking can be
incorporated so that it is convenient, well enclosed by the front or side of
retail and community buildings and can connect directly into key areas
of public realm.
Where multi-level car parking is proposed, proposals should demonstrate
"!
74 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

that it is not to the detriment of well enclosed and animated public realm.
All key areas of public realm to be well defined spaces enclosed and
"!
overlooked by surrounding development and be well design with high
quality materials, furniture and planting.Proposals should show how
servicing areas can be provided in a way which does not compromise key
areas of public realm.
Public transport provision to be provided in an accessible location at the
"!
heart of each of the centres.
Proposals should demonstrate how buildings can have a scale and quality
"!
of architecture which is in keeping with the importance of their role
within Welborne with single storey buildings to be avoided.
Proposals should display how commercial and community buildings will
"!
be visible from and address the strategic road network.
Ground floor uses that are open to the public and help to animate the
"!
street and support the natural surveillance of the public realm will be
encouraged to enliven the centres.

11.4.2 The District Centre:
The largest and most urban in character of the three centres; The District
"!
Centre is to be located directly between the A32 and Central Park
providing a positive frontage to both.
The Central Park should meet the western edge of The District Centre
"!
with clear pedestrian links between the two.
Proposals should promote a layout which reflects a locally distinctive
"!
form displayed in many of Hampshire’s Market Towns such as Wickham,

Page 151

Alton and Petersfield. For instance by forming the District Centre around
a High Street typology (which runs between the Downs Park and A32)
and using a central urban square (market square) off the high street
which is framed by commercial and community buildings. The images
below show how local examples can be used to inform the function and
scale of the space while the character could be more contemporary.
One of the core functions of the Central Park is to connect and link
"!
substantial parts of the residential area of Welborne down to The District
Centre. The District Centre should therefore be visible from the park and
the community buildings should located towards the park end of the
High Street. Main commercial uses to be visible from the strategic road
network.

Alton

Petersfield

Wickham

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 75

Legend:
Key buildings

Page 152

Strategic green space
Car parking
Key public realm
Active frontages
Primary and strategic transport
Public transport stop
Pedestrian crossing

illustration of the design guidance for the District Centre

76 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

11.4.3 Local Centre
To be located to the north of Knowle Road in proximity to Knowle Road,
"!

Page 153

the proposed north – south primary street and the A32.
The Local Centre must be accessible via the strategic green infrastructure
"!
network and should demonstrate strong pedestrian and cycle links to
Dash Wood.
To be accessible to all residential areas in the northern part of Welborne
"!
so that it forms a focus to this neighbourhood, to achieve this links must
be attractive and direct.
The scale of the spaces and the design of the public realm should reflect
"!
the hierarchy of spaces within Welborne. The Local Centre will be
smaller in scale than the District Centre and it’s layout should reflect this.
For instance the centre could be arranged around a widened section of
the street forming a combined public square and car park in front of the
community and retail uses.
Demonstrate how the Local Centre can re enforce the character of the
"!
surrounding area.

illustration of the design guidance for the Local Centre

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 77

Legend:
Key buildings
Strategic green space
Car parking

Page 154

Key public realm
Active frontages
Primary and strategic transport
Public transport stop
Pedestrian crossing

78 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

11.4.4 Community Hub
Located to provide small scale community facilities and convenience
"!

Page 155

retail which is accessible and can form a focus to neighbourhoods in the
west of the site.
The Community Hub should be located adjacent to and accessed directly
"!
from the primary street network.
The Community Hub must be accessible from the strategic green
"!
infrastructure network allowing convenient pedestrian and cycle access
for all residents.
The Community Hub will be smaller in scale than the Local Centre,
"!
proposal will need to demonstrate how layout of the hub along with the
design of the streets and spaces will reflect this.
Demonstrate how the Community Hub can re enforce the character of
"!
the surrounding area

illustration of the design guidance for the Community Hub

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 79

Legend:
Primary School Site
Secondary School Site

Page 156
Extract from the Strategic Framework Diagram showing school sites

80 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

12.0 | School Sites
12.1 The Welborne Plan identifies a requirement for three primary schools and one secondary school.
This section will provide design objectives for the school sites within Welborne.
Relevant Plans and Policies:
WEL15: Primary and Pre-School Provision
WEL16: Secondary School Provision

12.2 Core Functions
Provide sufficient provision of education facilities to create a successful and vibrant community and
"!
promote self-containment and thereby reduce the need to travel by car.

Page 157

12.3 Design Objectives
To ensure that the school sites are planned as an integral part of the development and can contribute
"!
positively to the sense of place and community at Welborne.

12.4 Design Guidance
The following criteria will be used when determining a suitable location for the school sites within
Welborne:
Co-location with other community uses to allow potential for shared facilities and parking, reduce
"!
the need for multiple trips and help support investment in public transport at centres. Co-location
with the centres will also ensure the schools are placed centrally in recognition of their importance in
the community.
Designed to facilitate community use of school facilities outside of school times.
"!
Close proximity and strong pedestrian routes to public transport stops must be demonstrated.
"!
Located directly along Green Corridors and Connections to ensure provision of attractive and safe
"!
pedestrian and cycle links.
Primary schools should be located so that they are within 800 – 1000m walking distance (10 – 15
"!
minutes walk) of all residential areas.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 81

Page 158
82 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

The secondary school site and preferably the primary schools should be
"!

Page 159

access directly from the primary street network to avoid placing traffic on
smaller scale residential streets and to ensure accessibility.
Consideration will be given to how the location of the school site
"!
contributes to place making. For instance if the school site is located
in a visually prominent location the school site will need to be planned
to make a positive contribution to the public realm by enclosing and
fronting onto to it and avoid unanimated boundary treatments or large
parking areas to the street frontage.
School sites will need to be located a safe distance from the gas pipeline
"!
which cuts diagonally across the site from the north - west to the south east. The Strategic Framework Diagram contained within the Welborne
Plan was prepared on the assumption that the school sites would need
to be located 195m away from the pipeline due to health and safety
standards. Reference should be made to the HSE’s PADHI guidelines.
School sites will need to be positioned so that noise levels in playing fields
"!
and other outdoor areas should not exceed 55db LAeq, 30mins. unless
suitable mitigation can be proven.
Consideration should be given to optimal use of the land at Welborne,
"!
for instance using land which would otherwise be unsuitable for housing
and avoiding areas of the site which would be capable of accommodating
higher residential densities.
Consideration should be given to phasing to ensure early delivery of a
"!
primary school.

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 83

Page 160
84 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

13.0 | Welborne Planning Application Requirements
13.1 As stated in the introduction, this document should be seen as a useful guide, providing greater
clarity on the principles behind the policies of the Welborne Plan and providing certainty on the
expectations of the Council. It should be referenced and used to help discussions between the Council
and site promoters in the preparation of planning applications. The table below sets out Fareham
Borough Council’s local validation requirements under the 1-App process and the requirements set out
in the Welborne Plan for the submission requirements for the Welborne site.

Page 161

Documents

Outline
Planning
Application

Design and Access Statement
Affordable housing statement
Ecology Report
Including any necessary phase 1 and 2 surveys
Community involvement Statement
Contamination assessment

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 85

Page 162

Flood risk assessment

Environmental Statement

Foul sewage and utilities assessment

Retail Impact Assessment

Heritage Strategy, including an Archaeological
Desk-Based Assessment.

Open Space and Green Infrastructure Strategy
Energy Strategy

Landscaping details
Including a Structural Landscaping Scheme
Noise impact assessment

Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy
Detailed Phasing Plan and Implementation
Strategy

Transport assessment (TA)
Employment and Training Plan
Tree survey/arboricultural assessment
Transport Framework
To include Framework Travel Plan, Public
Transport Plan and justification for pedestrian/
cycle network and road network
Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment

86 | Welborne Design Guidance SPD

Plans
Site location Plan
Survey Plan

Detailed Plans including sections
Parameter Plans
The Structuring Plan

Page 163

Comprehensive Masterplan
Green Infrastructure Network Plan

Welborne Design Guidance SPD | 87

Page 164

Agenda Item 11(3)

Report to the Executive for Decision
02 June 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:

Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate Objective:

Planning and Development
Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable
Housing Supplementary Planning Document - Draft for
Consultation
Director of Planning and Development
Fareham Local Plan
To protect and enhance the environment
To maintain and extend prosperity
To ensure that Fareham remains a safe and healthy place
to live and work
To provide a reasonable range of leisure opportunities for
health and fun
To work with our key partners to enable and support a
balanced housing market
To build strong and inclusive communities
To be a dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report summarises the content, scope and purpose of the draft Welborne
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document,
with a view to thereafter commencing a public consultation exercise.

Executive summary:
The Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Publication Draft Plan introduced the Council’s
intention to produce a Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) to provide more detailed guidance for policies within the
Welborne Plan.
The SPD sets out the Council’s approach for the use of planning obligations to
secure satisfactory development and essential infrastructure for Welborne, including
the delivery of affordable housing.
It will inform the review of the Borough Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy
charging schedule
The document will provide a useful Development Management tool against which
planning applications can be assessed.

Recommendation:
That the Executive approves the following:
(a) That the Draft Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document, as set out in Appendix A, be published

Page 165

for a six-week public consultation.
(b) That the Director of Planning and Development, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Planning and Development and Executive Member for
Health and Housing, be authorised to make any necessary minor changes to
the document, prior to publication, providing that these do not change the
overall direction, shape or emphasis of the document, and do not raise any
significant new issues.
(c) That the Draft Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document be endorsed as interim guidance to be
afforded due weight in the determination of planning applications at Welborne
site.

Reason:
To fulfil the requirements of regulations 11-16 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for the production of Supplementary
Planning Documents.

Cost of proposals:
The cost of undertaking the publication of the Welborne Planning Obligations and
Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document is covered within existing
budgets.

Appendices:

A: Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document

Background papers: Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan Publication Draft,
February 2014

Page 166

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 June 2014
Subject: Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD - Draft for
Consultation
Briefing by: Director of Planning and Development
Portfolio: Planning and Development

INTRODUCTION
1.

Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) should be produced where they can
help applicants make successful planning applications and should build upon and
provide more detailed guidance on the policies in the Local Plan, whilst not
unnecessarily adding to the financial burdens on development (paragraph 153 of
the National Planning Policy Framework refers).

2.

The Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD will be a material
planning consideration for decision-making purposes and, in conjunction with the
Welborne Plan, be used to assess planning applications for Welborne. It is
anticipated that the Publication Welborne Plan will be submitted for Examination in
Public later this year.

3.

In addition, the document provides essential background evidence for the review
of the Community Infrastructure Levy charge for the Borough. This review will be
the subject of a separate Examination in Public later this year. The production of
the SPD at this stage will also, therefore, be a useful background document in
both forthcoming Examinations by providing more certainty of the Council’s policy
requirements.

4.

Related to this work is the Council’s ongoing work in an Infrastructure Funding
Strategy. The outline IFS (published March 2013) and Position Statement Update
(published January 2014) identify a range of funding sources for infrastructure
which may be used in conjunction with developer funding.

5.

A separate Supplementary Planning Document for the Borough of Fareham
(Excluding Welborne) is also being produced. This will set out the Council’s
approach to development in the rest of the Borough.
WELBORNE AND THE NEED TO REVIEW CIL

6.

There is an extensive evidence base which addresses the infrastructure
requirements to bring forward Welborne. The Welborne Infrastructure Delivery
Page 167

Plan consists of two stages; a Stage 1 Report produced in February 2013 and a
Stage 2 Update Report produced in January 2014, both of which are publically
available, including on the Council’s website. Section 9 of the Stage 1 report sets
out, for each of the infrastructure requirements for Welborne:
•

the lead provider for each item;

•

the delivery timescale;

•

the funding source; and

•

the estimated cost.

7.

The Stage 2 Update Report refines this list and provides a prioritisation category
for each infrastructure item.

8.

Fareham’s current CIL applies across the whole Borough, including Welborne
which means that the current CIL rates for residential, retail and other
development would apply to Welborne. However, based on clear evidence
provided by the infrastructure planning and viability appraisal work underpinning
the Welborne Plan, the decision has been made to use section 106 agreements as
the mechanism to secure developer contributions for Welborne. Section 106
agreements which provide greater flexibility than CIL in terms of setting trigger
points for key infrastructure delivery required at large strategic sites over
significant planning timeframes and allow for the use of a deferral of contributions
policy which is a key part of the approach to ensuring that the Welborne Plan can
operate in a flexible way. It also provides certainty to infrastructure providers and
the public that necessary infrastructure will be delivered at key points.
THE WELBORNE PLAN REQUIREMENTS

9.

The Welborne Plan contains a number of policies which are relevant to this
document. The key overarching ones are WEL2 (High Level Development
Principles) and WEL41 (Phasing and Delivery). These policies set out the main
vision for Welborne, and the process by which it will be delivered. Other policies
throughout the Plan set out the requirements for delivering the new community.

10. The delivery of Welborne requires two elements:
11. An agreed approach to the funding of infrastructure. This will draw upon a range
of work, including the ongoing development viability and Infrastructure Funding
Strategy work, the developers own Phasing Plan and Implementation Strategy,
and collaborative working on the approach to the use of planning obligations to
secure necessary infrastructure.
12. A review of the adopted CIL charging schedule. This will draw upon this
document, a Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD for Fareham
Borough excluding Welborne, and associated viability evidence to determine an
appropriate rate for the Community Infrastructure Levy both within the Welborne
area and in the rest of the Borough.

Page 168

PURPOSE AND CONTENT OF THE DOCUMENT
13. The purpose of the Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD is
to set out the approach to delivering infrastructure and securing appropriate
development through the use of planning obligations. This will be necessary to
demonstrate to the site landowners, infrastructure providers and the wider public
how necessary infrastructure will be secured.
14. The proposed format and scope of the document is set out below. An outline of
the document showing section headings follows.
15. Section 1 Introduction - Setting out the purpose and scope of the document and
how it has been produced.
16. Section 2 Policy Background - A run through of the relevant national and local
policy background, including existence of a borough-wide CIL charge.
17. Section 3 Welborne’s Infrastructure and Other Requirements – Gives some
information on the Council’s evidence base for infrastructure requirements and
funding at Welborne.
18. Section 4 The Approach to Developer Funding at Welborne - This goes through
each mechanism used to secure infrastructure and outlines the Council’s
approach. It also sets out monitoring arrangements.
19. Section 5 Development Viability - This sets out the position outlined in the
Welborne Plan on the issue of viability and the need to adopt a flexible approach
to securing affordable housing and infrastructure to keep the development as a
whole viable. It sets out how the delivery of necessary infrastructure will be
safeguarded whilst giving further on how the Council may defer some contributions
if justified by viability evidence. It also sets out how the Council will manage the
need for further viability appraisals.
20. Section 6 Planning Obligations for Welborne - This will go through the main
infrastructure headings drawn from the council’s infrastructure evidence. For each
category the relevant national and local policy is identified, including any relevant
standards to set out what is likely to be required, and then goes on to consider the
issue of maintenance and management. Some additional detail will be given in the
affordable housing section, including a possible house type/size mix for the early
phases and design issues.
CONSULTATION AND NEXT STEPS
21. Following approval by the Executive, the SPD will be published for a six-week
representation period between mid-June and late-July 2014. The public
consultation will include written notification to relevant parties, including all
members of the Standing Conference, who will be invited to comment on the
document. In addition, the consultation will be promoted on the Borough Council’s
website.
22. Following public consultation, officers will undertake any re-drafting considered
necessary to address salient points raised. The draft document, responses to the
consultation, and any proposed changes, will be available to inform the
forthcoming Examinations into the Welborne Plan and the revised CIL Charging
Schedule. Once the Welborne Plan is adopted, the finalised SPD will be brought
Page 169

back to the Executive for approval to adopt.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
23. The costs involved in undertaking publication and consultation of the Guidance is
covered in existing budgets.
CONCLUSIONS
24. The Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD, as set out in
Appendix A, would supplement the policies of the Welborne Plan to secure the
satisfactory delivery of Welborne, including essential infrastructure and affordable
housing. It is therefore recommended that the requisite public consultation be
undertaken to enable progression of the document to adoption.

Page 170

Welborne Planning Obligations and
Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document

DRAFT

May 2014

Page 171

Page 172

Contents
Consultation
Section 1: Introduction
Purpose of this Document
Scope of this Document
How this Document has been Produced
Section 2: Policy Background
National Planning Policy
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan
Fareham’s Community Infrastructure Levy
Section 3: Welborne’s Infrastructure and Other Requirements
Evidence Base
Infrastructure Requirements
Other Requirements
Section 4: The Council’s Approach to Developer Funding at Welborne
Planning Conditions
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Planning Obligations
Section 278 Agreements
Section 5: Development Viability
Principles
The Council’s Approach
Deferral of Contributions Policy
Viability Assessments
Section 6: Planning Obligations for Welborne
Affordable Housing
Education
Community and Health Facilities
Community Development
Sports and Recreation Facilities
Open Space and ‘Green Infrastructure’
Transport and Access
Utilities Infrastructure
Employment and Skills

Glossary

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 173

1
May 2014

Consultation
i

Fareham Borough Council is now consulting on the Welborne Planning
Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).
This document has been produced as supplementary guidance to support the
Council’s preparation of Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan and the review
of the current Fareham CIL Charging Schedule, which came into effect on 1
May 2013.

ii

All comments received in response to this consultation will be fully considered
before the final version of the Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable
Housing SPD is produced. The Council’s intention is to adopt the final version
of this SPD at the same time that Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan is
adopted in late 2014 or early 2015.

iii

The Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD is available
for consultation between the XX June 2014 and XX July 2014. All comments
should be received in writing by 5pm on XX July when the consultation will
close. For further information on this SPD and to submit comments on the
document please visit the Council's website at:
Hyper link needed???

iv

Alternatively,
comments
can
be
submitted
planningpolicy@fareham.gov.uk or by post to:

via

e-mail

to

Welborne Planning Team
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way,
Fareham
PO16 7AZ.
Comments may also be delivered by hand to the Council’s reception at the
Civic Offices. For any queries please call 01329 236100.
v

Please note that comments cannot be treated as confidential. They will be
made available as public documents, in accordance with Government
regulations.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 174

2
May 2014

Section 1:
Introduction
Purpose of this Document
1.1

The main purpose of this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is to
support The Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan by setting out Fareham
Borough Council’s approach towards seeking planning obligations (also known
as section 106 agreements) 1 to help secure the affordable housing and
infrastructure required for the development of the new community of Welborne.

1.2

A second purpose of this SPD is to take into account the first review of the
Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule and to
provide transparency about the respective roles of planning obligations and CIL
in relation to Welborne, to ensure that the Council is not seeking s106
contributions for infrastructure that will be funded or part funded by CIL.
Scope of this Document

1

1.3

This SPD relates only to the portion of Fareham Borough that is included within
the Welborne Plan policy boundary. There is a separate planning obligations
SPD being produced that covers the remainder of the Borough.

1.4

The reason why the Council has produced two separate planning obligations
SPDs relates to the very large scale and special circumstances of the Welborne
development, which is being planned through a separate Local Plan document.
The Council considered that including the detailed planning obligations
guidance for Welborne within a single SPD for the Borough would make that
document too large, complicated and potentially confusing for landowners and
developers of the smaller developments across the rest of the Borough.

1.5

In addition to setting out the Council’s approach to securing planning
obligations at Welborne and defining the respective roles of planning
obligations and CIL, this SPD also includes detailed guidance on the Council’s
‘Deferral of Contributions Policy’ for Welborne. This is the approach,
established by Policy WEL41 of the Welborne Plan, which will be used to
enable the Welborne Plan to operate in a flexible way to help maintain the
financial viability of the Welborne development and help ensure that the
development as a whole remains deliverable.

Agreements made under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 175

3
May 2014

How this Document has been Produced
1.6

This SPD and the guidance within it have been produced to comply with the
relevant planning legislation and to be fully consistent with national planning
policy and guidance 2 and with the Fareham Local Plan, which consists of the:
•
•
•

1.7

Adopted Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy;
Emerging Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan; and
Emerging Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan.

This SPD has also been informed by the evidence base which supports the
Welborne Plan, including the:
•
•
•

Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2014 – Stage 2 Update Report;
Welborne Stage 2 Viability Appraisal Evidence Study; and
Fareham Community Infrastructure Levy Viability Study – 2014 Update.

These documents are available to view on the Council's website.

2

The National Planning Policy Framework (DCLG, March 2012) and the National Planning Guidance
(DCLG, March 2014)

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 176

4
May 2014

Section 2:
Policy Background
National Planning Policy and Legislation
2.1

National planning policy and legislation provide the tools for local authorities to
secure infrastructure and affordable housing to meet the needs of their area.
As already stated in paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2, the main ways of doing this are
through the use of Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy:
Planning Conditions and Section 278 agreements are also commonly used.
The requirements of policy and legislation for the use of these are set out in
this section.
Planning Obligations

2.2

These are legally binding obligations which are used to make an otherwise
unacceptable development, acceptable in planning terms. They do this by
enabling a Council to secure contributions to services, infrastructure and
amenities in order to support and facilitate the proposed development.

2.3

However, planning obligations can only be used in certain circumstances. As
set out in paragraph 204 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
“Planning obligations should only be sought where they meet all of the
following tests3:
• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
• directly related to the development; and
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.”

2.4

The legislative context for planning obligations is provided by:
• Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by later legislation, including Section 12 of the 1991 Planning and
Compensation Act;
• The Planning Act 2008; and
• The Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010, as amended.
Community Infrastructure Levy

2.5

Local authorities can raise funds from owners or developers of land to support
new development by charging Community Infrastructure Levy. The monies
received are pooled into one fund which can then be used for infrastructure
projects which support the development of the area, including those set out on
the Council’s Regulation 123 list.

3 These tests have a legislative basis provided by the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010,
Regulation 122.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 177

5
May 2014

2.6

The size of the levy to be charged is set out in a charging schedule. This must
be carefully calculated to ensure that charges will not threaten the viability of
the new development proposed by Fareham’s Local Plan.
Although
Community Infrastructure Levy will not pay for all infrastructure required, it will
close the funding gap.

2.7

Detailed information on Community Infrastructure Levy can be found inThe
Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 and its
subsequent amendments, and the DCLG Community Infrastructure Levy
Guidance, February 2014.
Planning Conditions

2.8

Local authorities may impose conditions when granting planning permission.
These can enhance the quality of development and can enable development
proposals to proceed where it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse
planning permission.

2.9

DCLG Circular 11/95 requires that in order to be valid, planning conditions
must be necessary, reasonable, enforceable, precise and relevant to planning
and the development permitted.
Section 278 agreements

2.10

These are agreements made under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980
between the owners of land and the Highway Authority (Hampshire County
Council are the Highway Authority Fareham Borough) for the private sector
funding of works on the public highway network. Section 278 agreements
provide a mechanism for ensuring delivery of mitigation works identified as
necessary for planning permission to be granted. The works can be carried
out by the Highway Authority and recharged to the developer, or the developer
can carry them out themselves as its agent. Unlike planning obligations, there
is no legal provision for unilateral versions of section 278 agreements.

2.11

The need for a section 278 agreement arises when alterations or
improvements to the highway are identified as being necessary in order to
make a development acceptable in planning terms. Examples of works that
may be required are: provision of a new junction to access the site or
construction of a footway along the frontage of a site to make access to and
from the development safe for pedestrians. Typically such works are identified
as part of the Transport Assessment and subsequent discussions with the
Highway Authority (the County Council). The works would need to be secured
by planning condition or section 106 agreement and then carried out at an
agreed point in the development, typically prior to commencement or
occupation of the development depending on the nature of the works.

2.12

The wording of the section 278 agreement ensures that the works are carried
out to the necessary design standards, requiring that details of the scheme be
submitted to the Highway Authority for approval before they can be
implemented. The agreement also ensures that the contractor has the

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 178

6
May 2014

necessary insurance to work on the highway, and provides for a bond to be
secured so that, if the contractor defaults on the works, the Highway Authority
has the funds in place to complete the scheme.
2.13

The Community Infrastructure Levy Amendment Regulations 2014 brought
section 278 agreements within the restrictions imposed by CIL Regulation 123.
The implication of this is that it will not be possible for a section 278 agreement
to be entered into in relation to any scheme that is identified on the
infrastructure list published by Fareham Borough Council in accordance with
CIL Regulation 123. This will ensure that there is no overlap between the
highway infrastructure funded through CIL and that funded by, or secured
through, section 278 agreements.
Local Planning Policy Context

2.14

The local planning policy context is given by the Fareham Borough Council
Local Plan. This is divided into three parts:
• Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy adopted August 2011;
• Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies (Publication Plan
February 2014);
• Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan (Publication Plan February 2014).

2.15

Core Strategy
Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy gives the local policy context for the use of
Planning Obligations, Community Infrastructure Levy, Planning Conditions and
S278 agreements to secure the provision of infrastructure. It is set out below:
CS20 Infrastructure and Development Contributions
Development will be required to provide or contribute towards the provision
of infrastructure through planning conditions, legal agreement or directly
through the service provider. Contributions or provision may also be
required to mitigate the impact of development upon infrastructure. Detailed
guidance on provision or contributions is or will be set out in Supplementary
Planning Document(s) including any standard charges introduced through
the Community Infrastructure Levy.
Provision or financial contributions will be required to include arrangements
for on-going maintenance where necessary and appropriate.
Phasing of development will be related to the provision of infrastructure.
Consideration will be given to pooling of contributions towards the cost of
facilities.
Policy CS18 sets out the approach to affordable housing. This is further
developed in the Welborne Plan as seen below.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 179

7
May 2014

2.16

2.17

2.18

Local Plan Part 2
This Plan sets out the Council’s approach to managing and delivering
development identified in the Core Strategy through to 2026, but excludes
Welborne.
Local Plan Part 3
This sets out the Council’s approach to the development of Welborne.
Paragraph 10.50 of the Welborne Plan states that based on currently available
viability evidence, almost all developer contributions from Welborne will be
secured through Planning Obligations.
Also of significance is Policy WEL18 of the Welborne Plan, which sets out the
approach to affordable housing. This states:
Development at Welborne shall provide a total of 30% affordable housing
(approximately 1,800 homes) with an initial tenure split of 70% affordable
or social rent and 30% intermediate tenures. The tenure split will be kept
under review based on evidence of need.
A range of affordable housing types, sizes and tenures shall be delivered
within each residential phase. The precise number and mix of affordable
homes within each phase shall be agreed with the Council, having regard
to the nature of the phase to be developed and the identified need for
affordable homes at the time the phase comes forward.
Approximately 15% of all affordable homes delivered within each phase of
the development shall be designed to meet higher accessibility standards
equivalent to the Lifetime Homes standards. The precise proportions shall
reflect evidence of demand at the time the phase comes forward and will
be subject to the need to ensure that the phase remains economically
viable.
Planning permission will be granted for affordable homes that are
integrated with the market housing, within the overall limits set out below,
and are designed and will be constructed to the same or higher standards.
Affordable housing may be clustered in small groups.
Each residential phase of development shall be expected to meet the
target requirements (set out in the first paragraph of this policy) unless a
robust and transparent viability appraisal proving this not to be possible is
accepted by the Council. In such cases, the Council will consider
alternative delivery mechanisms including the Joint Venture Housing
Company (JVHC). Where such alternative delivery mechanisms are not
viable, feasible or desirable, flexibility may be applied to the target level
requirements within this policy, consistent with the Council’s deferral of
contributions policy (See WEL41 and the Welborne Planning Obligations
SPD). Where a case for deferral is accepted, the absolute minimum level
of affordable housing within any residential phase of development will be
10%.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 180

8
May 2014

Where an agreed deferral of affordable housing results in any residential
phase of the development not meeting the ‘normal’ target requirements of
this policy, subsequent phases will be expected to provide affordable
housing deferred from the previous phase(s). This will be in addition to
meeting that phase’s own normal ‘target’ provision, but will be subject to
an overall maximum level of 40% of the housing within any one phase
being delivered as affordable housing.
2.19

In addition, Policy WEL41 which explains the approach to phasing and
delivering development. It states:
“Where, following an independently tested viability assessment, a deficit in the
infrastructure (or affordable housing) provision necessary to serve any main
phase of the development is accepted, the Council will employ its ‘deferral of
contributions policy’, as set out within the Welborne Planning Obligations SPD.
The objective of this policy will be to claw back any agreed deficit, subject to
market conditions improving sufficiently to trigger the claw-back element of the
policy”.
Supplementary Planning Document

2.20

This Supplementary Planning document adds further detail to the content and
policies in the Local Plan, and in particular, the “deferral of contributions”
approach. Whilst it is a material consideration to be taken into account in
planning decisions, it does not form a part of the statutory development plan.
Fareham’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

2.21

Fareham Borough Council formally approved a Community Infrastructure Levy
Charging Schedule to be used from 1 May 2013 and have published a
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 123 List which sets out
infrastructure projects and types which will or could be funded by CIL in whole
or in part.

2.22

Fareham’s CIL Charging Schedule and the Regulation 123 list are currently
under review to ensure that CIL rates and infrastructure projects and types
identified for spending of levy funds remain relevant and appropriate. This
review is taking a range of factors into account, including current land and
housing market trends which may affect development viability, including the
viability of Welborne. It is also taking into account the changing planning
context provided by the Welborne Plan.

2.23

The intention is for the reviewed CIL rates and Regulation 123 list to be
adopted by the Council in the Spring of 2015. The Regulation 123 list will be
kept under review and amended as necessary.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 181

9
May 2014

Section 3:
Welborne’s Infrastructure and Other Requirements
Evidence Base
3.1

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) for Welborne has been produced by
Fareham Borough Council to accompany the Council’s concept masterplan,
and associated phasing plan and viability evidence. This work has informed
the development of the strategic framework for delivery of the new
community as set out in the Welborne Plan.

3.2

The production of an IDP for Welborne also helps fulfil the NPPF
requirements for providing evidence of infrastructure planning including;
infrastructure costs and the timing of infrastructure delivery, in order to
determine development viability and deliverability.

3.3

The Welborne IDP consists of two stages; a Stage 1 Report produced in
February 2013 and a Stage 2 Update Report produced in January 2014, both
of which are publically available, including on the Council’s website. Section
9 of the Stage 1 report sets out, for each of the infrastructure requirements
for Welborne:
• the lead provider for each item;
• the delivery timescale;
• the funding source; and
• the estimated cost.

3.4

The Stage 2 Update Report refines this list and provides a prioritisation
category for each infrastructure item.
Infrastructure Requirements

3.5

As the Welborne project moves towards implementation, the onus falls upon
developers to produce detailed proposals on infrastructure requirements and
the phasing of development to support their proposals. Policy WEL41 of the
Welborne Plan requires that initial planning applications for Welborne are
accompanied by a detailed phasing plan and strategy for implementation of
the whole Welborne development. That work will be informed by the
developers own proposals and the Council’s Welborne Infrastructure Delivery
Plan.

3.6

Therefore while the Council’s IDP is not meant to be prescriptive in terms of
cost, timing or exact nature of infrastructure requirements in every case, it
serves as a ready assessment of what is needed to support the development
of a sustainable new community. Differences between the level and timing of
infrastructure indicated in the Council’s IDP and developers proposals will
need to be justified in their submitted IDPs, which will be considered by the
Council as part of the process of determining planning applications.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 182

10
May 2014

3.7

Once approved by the Council, the detailed phasing plan and implementation
plan will be kept under review over the development period, with changes
being submitted to the Council for approval alongside relevant planning
applications.

3.8

It is expected that each phase of development will make provision for or
contribute towards the cost of the total identified infrastructure requirements
set out in the agreed phasing plan and implementation strategy, in line with
the guidance set out in this document. This will include both “local”
infrastructure required to serve each development phase, as well as
identified strategic infrastructure serving more than one phase.
Funding

3.9

Parallel to the ongoing work considering the infrastructure requirements at
Welborne, the Council has led on the production of an Infrastructure Funding
Strategy4 (IFS) to examine innovative funding solutions to deliver the
significant infrastructure requirements for Welborne. This work has identified
a number of options which can be pursued to enable development, and add
value in terms of timing or quality of delivery.

3.10 Work on the IFS is ongoing, but the work will provides details of measures
the Council can take to support the delivery of infrastructure. Key amongst
these are applications for grant funding, the approach to Community
Infrastructure Levy, and the use of New Homes Bonus.
3.11 At each phase of development, the ongoing infrastructure planning work
undertaken by the developers will reflect the infrastructure and funding
requirements at that time.

4

Available at
http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/new_community/infrastructurefundingstrategy1.pdf

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 183

11
May 2014

Section 4:
The Council’s Approach to Developer Funding at
Welborne
4.1

The following section sets out the Councils approach to developer funding of
infrastructure at Welborne, with each mechanism dealt with in turn:
Planning Conditions

4.2

Planning conditions can deal with a wide variety of matters. Types of
conditions include time limits on development, undertakings regarding
environmental and noise issues, and limits on the size and external appearance
of a new development. Planning conditions cannot be used to secure financial
contributions. The power for local planning authorities to attach conditions
when granting planning is given by Section 72 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

4.3

When imposing planning conditions, local planning authorities are required by
law to ensure that they are:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

necessary;
relevant to planning;
relevant to the development to be permitted;
enforceable;
precise; and
reasonable in all other respects

The Community Infrastructure Levy
4.4

The Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule
for its area with effect from 1 May 2013. From that date any development
gaining planning permission is liable for the payment of CIL in accordance with
the Charging Schedule and the CIL Regulations.

4.5

When adopting the CIL charging schedule the Council resolved to not make
Exceptional Circumstances Relief available in its area. Therefore, under the
current position planning applications at Welborne would be liable to CIL as well
as subject to the signing of necessary s106 agreements.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 184

12
May 2014

4.6

The Council has received advice from GVA that the best way to secure
infrastructure at Welborne is to maximise the use of S106/S278 planning
obligations5.

4.7

The Council intends to implement the advice received from GVA and maximise
the use of s106/278 which provide greater flexibility than CIL in terms of setting
trigger points for key infrastructure delivery required at Welborne and allow for
the use of a deferral of contributions policy which is a key part of the approach
to ensuring that the Welborne Plan can operate in a flexible way. Indications
are that once the necessary s106/278 costs have been met, there will be
insufficient headroom to support any CIL contribution on the Welborne site as
well. This has resulted in a proposed ‘zero’ differential rate for Welborne which
will be tested at the forthcoming CIL examination.

4.8

A review of the CIL charging schedule is being brought forward to take into
account the new evidence on infrastructure costs and viability, both for
Welborne and across Fareham Borough. This review will include a review of
the Fareham’s Regulation 123 list, which will be informed by this document and
the Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD for Fareham (excluding
Welborne).
Planning Obligations

4.9

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 gives local planning
authorities the power to enter into agreements (known as planning obligations)
with the owners of land (but also see below) for the following purposes:(a) Restricting the use or development of land in any specified way;
(b) Requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on,
under or over the land;
(c) requiring the land to be used in a specified way; or
(d) requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified
date or dates or periodically.

4.10 Paragraph 203 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that “Local
planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used when it is not
possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition”.
4.11 There are occasions on which local planning authorities, when granting
5

GVA, Welborne Stage 2 Viability Testing – GVA Approach, Assumptions & Results January 2014

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 185

13
May 2014

planning permission, will use the powers given by section 106 when the desired
objective cannot be achieved by the attachment of a planning condition to the
planning permission. In those cases the local planning authority will require
that the planning obligation is completed prior to the issuing of the planning
permission. For example, planning obligations can secure the provision of onsite works such as the provision of public open space and can secure financial
contributions to allow the local authority to carry out works to mitigate the
impact of the development. Planning obligations can also place restrictions or
requirements on how land is used.
4.12 Planning obligations are legal deeds that have to be entered into by the land
owner(s) (generally freehold and leasehold) and anyone else who has a legal
interest in the land such as mortgagees. Planning obligations usually take the
form of an agreement between the local planning authority and the land
owner(s)/interested parties but section 106 also makes provision for planning
obligations to be given to the local planning authority unilaterally i.e. only signed
by the land owner(s) and other parties with and interest in the land and not by
the Council. Unilateral obligations are most frequently used in appeal situations
but can be used in others.
4.13 The use of planning obligations at Welborne may be used for, but not limited to,
the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Delivery of Affordable Housing
The on-site provision and maintenance of public open space including
children’s play areas
The provision of on-site footpaths/cycleways through or leading to onsite open space or which will form part of a wider network
Contributions towards the Solent Disturbance Mitigation Project (SDMP)
Other restrictions on the use of land
Securing access to developable land adjoining application sites to
ensure comprehensive development (the prevention of the creation of
ransom strips)
On-site nature conservation measures
The promotion of Employment skills
Contributions to fund the making of traffic regulation orders e.g. to
impose waiting restrictions on roads near to application sites

4.14 Planning obligations are a tried and tested mechanism. They are flexible and
have historically delivered a wide range of on-site and wider community
infrastructure benefits, including the transfer of land for community use as well
as regulating the way in which land is used.
4.15 Key to the success of this approach will be to ensure that the number of
applications/s106 agreements is carefully managed so that the limit of five
agreements for pooling contributions, as set out in Regulation 123 of the CIL
Regulations 2010 (as amended) is not exceeded. This can be achieved but
only with the active cooperation of all parties. Mechanisms for ensuring that
appropriate infrastructure is delivered by s106 include, but are not limited to the
use of deeds of modification and powers for the revocation and modification of
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 186

14
May 2014

planning permission under sections 97 to 99 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
Monitoring
4.16 The Council monitors completed obligations to ensure compliance by all parties
with any covenants, restrictions, and stipulations contained within them.
4.17 Planning Obligations secured by way of a Section 106 agreement or Unilateral
Undertaking are binding on the land and are therefore enforceable against all
successors in title. They are registered as a local land charge and will remain
on the register and therefore revealed on local searches until the planning
obligation has been fully complied with or the planning permission to which the
Section 106 agreement or Unilateral Undertaking relates has expired.
4.18 All financial contributions are monitored closely to ensure their spending is
wholly in accordance with the terms set out within the agreement and that
allocations of contributions are appropriate and in accordance with the tests set
out in The CIL Regulations 2010 (formerly set out in Circular 05/2005).
4.19 Through these monitoring processes the Council is confident that it can provide
a full and comprehensive audit trail of any allocation and spending of planning
obligations' monies. In due course the developer will be expected to pay a
charge for monitoring purposes in order to cover the expenses incurred by the
Council for this service. It is important that these monitoring functions are
carried out in a transparent, effective and efficient manner; and therefore they
need to be fully resourced. It is envisaged that this will require a number of
enabling and monitoring key roles. These roles will include a s106 monitoring
officer to ensure all monies are received and spent in an appropriate manner,
as well as other key roles highlighted in Section 6 of this document.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 187

15
May 2014

Section 5:
Development Viability
National Planning Policy Guidance
5.1

The NPPF6 puts emphasis on the need for Local Authorities to consider the
viability of schemes carefully. It states that “to ensure viability, the costs of
any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements
for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other
requirements should, when taking into account of the normal costs of
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land
owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable.”
(NPPF para 173).

5.2

Viability considerations are emphasised further in the Planning Practice
Guidance 7 , which states that “In making decisions, the local planning
authority will need to understand the impact of planning obligations on the
proposal. Where an applicant is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of
the local planning authority that the planning obligation would cause the
development to be unviable, the local planning authority should be flexible in
seeking planning obligations.” (Planning Practice Guidance – Viability and
decision taking, para 19)
The Council’s Approach to Development Viability

5.3

Taking into account the guidance in the NPPF and Planning Practice
Guidance the Council’s approach is to take a pragmatic approach to
contributions. However, when assessing the financial viability of a potential
scheme, developers should carefully consider the guidance within this SPD.

5.4

It is important to ensure that the right type and level of infrastructure is
provided at the right time to support development at Welborne and to meet
the needs of the new residents and workers as the community takes shape.
This requires a comprehensive approach to planning infrastructure and its
phasing over the development period.

5.5

The Welborne Plan is underpinned by the principle of ensuring that a flexible
approach will operate, where necessary, to allow for changes in development
viability and to ensure that the development as a whole remains deliverable

6

Available at http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/viability-guidance/viabilityand-decision-taking/ (paragraph 173)
7
Available at http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/viability-guidance/viabilityand-decision-taking/ (paragraph 019)

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 188

16
May 2014

throughout the plan period. Details of the Council’s approach to the deferral
of contributions is set out below. However, the NPPF Framework is clear that
where safeguards are necessary to make a particular development
acceptable in planning terms, and these safeguards cannot be secured,
planning permission should not be granted. This means that whilst the
Council will be flexible in seeking planning obligations where viability is a
concern, development that cannot provide the necessary requirements may
be considered unacceptable and will, in such cases, be refused.
Deferral of Contributions

5.6

Overview
To ensure that the proposals for Welborne can remain viable and deliverable
over the lifetime of the development, Welborne Plan Policy (WEL41 8 ) on
Phasing and Delivery contains a mechanism where the Council could
consider deferring infrastructure contributions. This will apply only where
necessary and justified by independently tested viability assessment. It is
important to note that any application of the deferral of contributions policy
will not constitute an acceptance by the Council that infrastructure which is
necessary to support the development will be relinquished or can be delayed
indefinitely.

5.7

In cases where the Council agrees to defer infrastructure contributions,
application of the deferral of contributions policy will seek the subsequent
provision of any deferred contributions (or the delivery of the deferred
infrastructure items) within the same main phase of the development. If this
cannot be achieved, as demonstrated by an independently tested viability
assessment, then the deferred infrastructure contributions or provision will be
sought in the following main phase, in addition to the ‘normal’ requirements
of that new phase.

5.8

Where viability problems remain, a further independently tested viability
assessment will be required to take account of previous and future costs and
revenues, the ‘normal’ infrastructure requirements of the new phase and any
outstanding deferred infrastructure requirements. This viability evidence will
need to be submitted to the Council for agreement alongside outline, and
subsequent detailed planning applications for the new main phase. Where
the Council accepts the on-going viability constraints, the deferral of
contributions policy will be re-employed as set out in the previous paragraph.
Where, despite deferral, an item of infrastructure remains unviable, the
Council and site promoter will agree an alternative approach to funding to

8 But see also Policy WEL18 in relation to the application of the deferral of contributions policy to
affordable housing delivery.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 189

17
May 2014

ensure that infrastructure necessary to support the development can be
delivered when it is required, . This decision would be informed by an
independently tested viability assessment.
5.9

In all cases where more than one infrastructure item is being deferred as set
out above, the Council will agree with any relevant infrastructure or service
providers which of the deferred infrastructure items should be provided first
as priority during that main phase of the development, should any claw-back
of contributions be triggered by improving market and economic conditions.

5.10 With respect to the deferral of affordable housing, Policy WEL18 of the
Welborne Plan contains a mechanism for deferring some part of the
affordable housing requirements in any phase, subject to testing through
alternative delivery mechanisms and robust and transparent viability
appraisal process. Where a case for deferral is accepted, the absolute
minimum level of affordable housing within any residential phase of
development will be 10%.
Procedure
5.11 If the Head of Development Management agrees that it is necessary for any
planning application within the Welborne policy boundary to be considered
under the deferral of contributions policy, the developer will be required to
submit a development appraisal prepared in accordance with the latest good
practice guidance issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) 9 . Once received, the development appraisal will be tested by an
independent consultant who is a development valuer appointed and
instructed by the Council. The Council’s costs incurred will be paid for by the
developer.
5.12 If, as a result of the testing of the developer’s appraisal the Council agrees
that the development would not be financially viable if the total contribution10
was required to be paid in full, in accordance with the planning policies, then
officers will discuss with the developer whether, by the use of initial
contributions 11 and deferred contributions 12 , the development could be
made viable and whether this would lead to the development being brought
forward in practice.

9

Currently, the relevant guidance is contained in Financial Viability in Planning 1st Edition (RICS,
August 2012).
10
The ‘total contribution’ is the total of those financial and ‘in-kind’ contributions which are payable for
infrastructure under all relevant and current planning policies at the date that the planning application is
received.
11
The ‘initial contribution’ will be such part of the total contribution as is considered the maximum amount
that the developer can reasonably be expected to pay, on the basis of the independently tested and
agreed viability appraisal.
12
The ‘deferred contribution’ is the difference between the total and the initial contributions.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 190

18
May 2014

If terms can be agreed at officer level then these, with the independent
consultant’s comments on the proposals and the appraisal, will be reported
to the Council’s Planning Committee with the normal planning report for that
application.
5.14 The Planning Committee will consider the following prior to making any
decision to approve the use of the deferral of contributions policy:
• The developer’s justification for claiming that the development would not
be viable, but could be made so through the application of the deferral of
contributions policy;
• The development appraisal prepared for the developer to support their
case;
• A report from the independent consultant, incorporating their comments
on the appraisal; and
• Details of any officer negotiations with the developer.
5.15 If the Committee approves the use of the deferral of contributions policy, in
all the circumstances of the case, then the following principles will form the
basis of such arrangements.
Arrangement of infrastructure contributions
5.16 The ‘total contribution’ for infrastructure will form a “cap” on the amount the
development will have to pay. This “cap” will then be index-linked to ensure
that it does not lose its value as costs increase in the future.
5.17 The ‘initial contribution’ will be clearly identified by the developer and will be
tested by the independent consultant as part of their testing of the
developer’s viability appraisal. Once the initial contribution has been agreed,
its value will be spread across all development proposed within the planning
application being considered. This will be achieved by identifying an initial
contribution per dwelling (or per square metre of residential developments)
and a separate initial contribution per square metre of gross internal
floorspace for non-residential development. These individual initial
contributions must exactly total the agreed overall initial contribution. The per
dwelling and/or per square metre contributions will be set out within the
Section 106 Agreement to be paid before occupation of each dwelling or
number of dwellings, or proportion of non-residential floorspace proposed
within the planning application.
5.18 It is likely that some infrastructure contributions, e.g. specific highway works
payments will be critical for the development to be acceptable in planning
terms and will need to be treated as special cases and given priority over
other contributions. If no alternative funding sources for these special cases
can be identified and secured, the contributions to ensure the critical
infrastructure is deliverable at the time it is needed will need to be paid
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 191

19
May 2014

notwithstanding the viability situation. This will need to be allowed for in the
calculation of the initial contribution.
5.19 The difference between the total contribution and the initial contribution
becomes the ‘deferred contribution’, which will be subject to the index-linked
“cap” as described above. The deferred contribution will therefore normally
be spread over all the open market units (both residential and nonresidential) to give a deferred contribution per open market dwelling or per
square metre of gross internal floorspace for non-residential development.
This is a notional figure representing the amount of deferred contribution
which would be recovered from each open market dwelling or non-residential
unit, but only subject to the sale/letting value having increased sufficiently
since the date of the viability appraisal to be able to pay it.
5.20 The individual deferred contributions (per dwelling or per square metre) will
not represent a ‘cap’ in the sense of being a maximum that any given
dwelling or unit will pay, since it may be necessary for dwellings/units sold/let
when the market improves to pay more than this amount, if the sale/letting
price achieved justifies it under the formula below. This will help to offset the
fact that dwellings/units sold/let in poorer market conditions may have paid
little or nothing by way of deferred contribution. Instead, the total amount
payable from the development will be “capped” as set out above.
5.21 The sale price of an open market dwelling taken from the independently
tested development viability appraisal will be the ‘base sale price’. For nonresidential units, or for dwellings to be delivered and secured specifically for
market rent, an equivalent ‘base letting price’ will be identified and agreed.
5.22 For each quarter (or other agreed period) when open market units are
sold/let, the developer will provide full details of the sales/lettings to the
Council, including the actual sale/letting price. The amount of additional
sales/letting value achieved is the difference between the actual sale price
and the base sale price.
5.23 Where, for example, there have been changes in the mix of dwellings
delivered, it may be appropriate for both the base sale price and the actual
sale price to be converted into a per square metre figure based on gross
internal floor area, in effect a “blended” rate that takes into account different
sizes of dwellings. The additional sales value achieved would then be
measured by comparing the actual average level of sales value per square
metre with the average level taken from the original viability appraisal.
Affordable housing obligations

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 192

20
May 2014

5.24 Where the delivery of on-site affordable housing units is agreed to be
included within the application of the deferral of contributions policy, these
will not be included within the calculations for the total or initial contributions,
but will be accounted for separately as a ‘total affordable housing obligation’
for the development and an ‘initial affordable housing obligation’. The former
represents the number of affordable units that would be normally expected
under relevant planning policies and the latter represents the number that, on
the basis of independent testing of the developers viability appraisals, has
been agreed is the maximum number that the developer could reasonable
expected to provide. As set out within Policy WEL18 of the Welborne Plan,
the initial affordable housing contribution will, in no circumstances, fall below
10% of the total number of dwellings proposed in the planning application.
5.25 As with infrastructure contributions described above, the difference between
the total and initial affordable housing obligations will be the deferred
affordable housing obligation. Unlike the deferred contribution for
infrastructure, the deferred affordable housing obligation will not need to be
index linked, but it will be spread over all open market dwellings (not nonresidential units) in order to derive a deferred obligation expressed as a
portion of an affordable unit per market dwelling. This may alternatively be
expressed as an obligation per square metre of gross internal floorspace. For
example, each square metre of market dwellings would carry a deferred
obligation to provide ‘x’ square metres of affordable housing, but only subject
to the sale value having increased sufficiently since the date of the viability
appraisal to be able to facilitate the provision of the deferred affordable
housing.
Payment of contributions
5.26 The developer will be required to pay the initial per dwelling/square metre
contribution at the timing agreed and set out within the section 106
agreement, taking account of any relevant triggers for the phase or tranche
of the development. In practice, the actual payment dates are likely to be
linked to occupation, but may need to be earlier than occupation in some
cases.
5.27 Following a calculation of the additional sales/letting value achieved from
each quarter’s or period’s sales, if any, the developer would have to pay an
amount of deferred contribution for the number of dwellings/units sold/let in
the previous period, i.e. in arrears. The same arrangement will apply for each
subsequent period during the life of the development. Safeguards may need
to be included in s106 agreements, in appropriate cases, to ensure that the
deferral of contributions does not act as a disincentive to the developer to
complete the development.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 193

21
May 2014

5.28 The amount payable as deferred contribution for each period will depend on
the ‘agreed percentage’ whereby any uplift in sales value would be
apportioned between the Council and the developer. The ‘agreed
percentage’ of any uplift to be paid to the Council, including provided in-kind
or as affordable housing, could vary depending on the circumstances, with
the developer keeping the balance. The intention behind the developer
keeping a proportion of any uplift in value is to cover any increased build
costs or other contingent risk, and also to avoid de-incentivising any
promotional or other activity designed to increase interest from purchasers
and seek sales at the highest realistic price.
5.29 Prior to any payment of deferred contributions, the Council will agree with the
developer, in consultation with relevant infrastructure providers, how the
agreed percentage would be paid. For example, this could be through
financial contributions, through infrastructure works in kind or through the
delivery of affordable housing, or a combination of the three. The decision on
this will depend on the stage of the development and the immediate priorities
identified as necessary to ensure that the development is able to comply with
planning policy and contribute to the overall vision for the new community of
Welborne. The Council will have absolute discretion, subject to any protocol
that may be agreed between the Council and other public sector service
providers, to determine how to allocate the ‘agreed percentage’ arising from
any given period throughout the life of the development.
5.30 The agreed percentage payable to the Council could be adjusted by way of a
sliding scale as the development progresses, and/or as the market improves.
This is a matter that will need to be part of the negotiations and will depend
entirely on the specific circumstances of each proposed development. It may
be appropriate in particular cases, where fully justified, for the agreed
percentage to be modest up to a certain trigger point in terms of sale values
achieved, and thereafter increasing in a series of stages for higher sales
values.
5.31 In view of the deferred contributions necessarily being payable in arrears,
after sales/lettings of open market dwellings/units have been completed, the
Council would require, in the section 106 agreement, that the developer
undertakes to provide to the Council with security for the payment of the
deferred contributions, where the Council reasonably considers this to be
necessary.
Pooling of financial contributions
5.32 All initial contributions and deferred contributions that are to be provided as

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 194

22
May 2014

financial payments, as opposed to on-site infrastructure works or the delivery
of affordable housing, will need to be paid to the Council, which will receive
them on behalf of all parties to whom contributions might otherwise be
payable (e.g. Hampshire County Council, the Highways Agency and local
bus operators). The reason for this is that such payments will not, as
payments usually are at present, be in respect of specific items of
infrastructure but as lump sums in respect of initial contributions and deferred
contributions. If the sums received are simply apportioned proportionately to
each piece of infrastructure required to support the development, there will
be insufficient funds to deliver individual items of infrastructure at the point it
may be required in order to support the development. It will therefore be
necessary to pool the financial contributions. This will allow infrastructure to
be brought forward in a prioritised sequence as funds are available. It will be
important to maintain a clear audit trail to show that sums of money paid to
the Council are spent on infrastructure needs arising from the development.
5.33 The Council will have absolute discretion, subject to any protocol that may be
agreed between the Council and other public sector service providers, to
determine how to allocate the financial payments received. Such decisions
would normally be delegated to the Director of Planning and Development
and would normally be made in consultation with partners and would seek to
be in accordance with any previously agreed protocols. Officers may of
course report larger or contested decisions to the Council’s Planning
Committee if they felt that course of action appropriate.
5.34 Following an allocation decision being made, the Council would then pass or
pay part of the initial contributions and/or deferred contributions to the
relevant service departments within the Council, the County Council or any
other relevant parties. These payments would be identified as being towards
or in settlement of specific elements contained within the agreed developer’s
infrastructure delivery plan, as set out in the resolution of the Planning
Committee to grant planning permission. The payments would be subject to
appropriate safeguards and would be monitored as would the delivery of the
funded infrastructure. The Section 106 Agreement will include detailed
provisions for these arrangements.
5.35 It should be noted that the arrangements referred to here, will be operated
only for the purpose of ensuring that necessary infrastructure required by the
development of Welborne can be provided at the time it is needed and for no
other purpose. The Council will seek to ensure that all arrangements put in
place under the deferral of contributions policy comply with the ‘scaleback of
planning obligations’ requirements set out within Regulations 122 and 123 of
the CIL Regulation 2010 (as amended). Ultimately, if despite best efforts,

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 195

23
May 2014

any application of the deferral of contributions policy would risk noncompliance with the legislation or would cause unacceptable delays to any
infrastructure which is necessary to support the development, site promoters
will be expected to work with the Council to identify and secure alternative
sources of funding to ensure that the infrastructure can be delivered at the
point it is required.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 196

24
May 2014

Section 6:
Planning Obligations for Welborne
Introduction
6.1

Much of the infrastructure that is required by policy in the Welborne Plan is to
be funded directly through planning obligations with the master developer.
The infrastructure to be provided in this manner is detailed in the following
section.

6.2

The infrastructure items listed in this section are those items identified in
policy in the Welborne Plan and within the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery
Plan.

6.3

It is understood that planning obligations cannot be expected to pay for all
infrastructure, and that the priorities within any given phase or tranche will be
determined in consultation with the landowners and relevant service
providers.

6.4

The following section looks in more detail at some of the more common types
of planning obligations the Council will seek to secure via a legal agreement.
It is important to note that this is not an exhaustive list and the exact
requirements for planning obligations will be decided on a case-by-case
basis. The infrastructure requirements cover both “local” infrastructure to
serve each development phase, and more strategic infrastructure serving
more than one phase. It will be for the site promoters to produce a phasing
plan and implementation strategy to show how both are anticipated to come
forward and set out how each are to be delivered.
Affordable Housing

6.5

6.6

Background
Meeting the needs of those in the Fareham area who cannot access the
housing market is one of the key priorities of the Council and is an important
objective for Welborne. Welborne provides a rare opportunity for the Borough
to deliver a significant number of affordable homes and to make a real
contribution towards addressing the current backlog of housing need.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
In accordance with paragraphs 47 of the NPPF, the Welborne Plan identifies
Welborne as being a key site which is critical to the delivery of the housing
strategy in Fareham Borough to 2026. As such, in line with NPPF paragraph
50, the Welborne Plan sets appropriate policy to ensure that affordable
housing needs are met at Welborne, in line with the overall needs of the
Borough and with respect to viability.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 197

25
May 2014

6.7

The key policy in the Welborne Plan relating to affordable housing provision at
Welborne is:
WEL18 Affordable Housing

6.8

Evidence
The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to affordable housing provision is:
• DTZ (2012). Fareham Borough Housing Needs Assessment Final Report.
• DTZ and Wessex Economics (2013). New Community North of Fareham
Housing Market Assessment: Summary Report
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
• PUSH South Hampshire SHMA (G L Hearn, Feb 2014)
Type and size of House Mix in the Early Phases

6.9

It is essential that affordable homes deliver good quality long term
accommodation and can cater for the changing dynamics within a family over
time. As such the Council aims to ensure that all new affordable homes are
of a suitable size and type to meet a variety of housing needs.

6.10 Based upon recommendations from the 2013 Strategic Housing Market
Assessment for South Hampshire13 the Council aims to achieve the mix of
units set out in Table 1 below for the initial phases of Welborne. The
proportions sought on individual sites may differ depending on the specific
circumstances of each development, but it will remain the Council’s decision
to stipulate the type and size of the units to be achieved within the context of
developer proposals, as set out in policy WEL18.

Table 1: Dwelling Type mix for affordable housing(initial phases of Welborne)
Occupancy
Unit size
Target %
Combined %
level
1 bedroom

2 person

35%

3 person

10%

4 person

25%

5 person

15%

6 person

10%

7 person

5%

2 bedroom

35%

3 bedroom
4 bedroom+

35%

25%
5%

13

Available at http://www.push.gov.uk/work/housing-andplanning/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 198

26
May 2014

6.11 It is likely that all one bedroom homes and larger family homes will need to be
for rent, but consideration shall be given to the prevailing housing demands at
the time of an application being made.
Tenure Mix
6.12 The greatest need for affordable housing in the borough is homes for social
rent. The Council therefore wishes to encourage the development of new
social rented homes (as opposed to affordable rented) where it is suitable and
financially viable to do so.
6.13 The long build-out period of Welborne means that the supporting evidence
provides only a starting point and the precise affordable housing mix required
throughout the development of Welborne cannot be known at this stage.
Housing needs change over time and are also influenced by Government
policies, such as welfare reforms. Therefore, the mix of affordable homes
provided within each residential phase will need to reflect the identified needs
at that time the phase comes forward and in agreement with the Council
6.14 In accordance with current evidence of housing need, a tenure ratio of 70:30
in favour of affordable /social rented accommodation against intermediate
housing will be expected when delivering a policy compliant scheme, in the
initial phases of the development at least. However, in instances where the
viability of a phase requires that the overall percentage of affordable homes in
that phase is reduced, the Council reserves discretion to increase the
proportion of affordable/social rented units required in light of this being the
tenure in greatest need.
Delivery
6.15 The Council’s preference is for affordable
recognised Registered Provider (RP) who
Council’s Affordable Housing Agreement.
expectation for delivering affordable housing
zero cost.

homes to be provided by a
is already signed up to the
In such cases, the Council’s
is provision of serviced land at

6.16 This ensures new affordable homes are developed and managed to the
Council’s required standards, and are available in perpetuity to people from
the Council’s Housing Waiting List. The Affordable Housing Agreement is
reviewed annually to ensure that management standards remain up to date
with current best practice.
6.17 In addition, the Council has established a joint venture housing company
(JVHC) that will allow the Council and its partners to play a more central and
active role in the delivery of affordable housing across the Borough.
Design Issues
6.18 The Council advocates a tenure blind approach to housing development.
Affordable housing should be integrated with, rather than segregated from,
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 199

27
May 2014

private housing with new developments. This should be as seamless as
possible to the extent that different tenures appear indistinguishable.
Affordable homes should be ‘pepper potted’ across a development in such a
way that avoids a sense of separation between the tenure types and
promotes sustainable communities.
6.19 New affordable homes must comply with the national and local standards
adopted at the time planning permission is sought. These will relate to issues
such as space, layout, and energy efficiency. This includes the general
design principles set out in WEL6, the Welborne Design Guidance, and
approved developer Strategic Design Codes.
Housing Mix
Background
6.20 As a large strategic site, Welborne provides the opportunity to meet a range
of housing needs. This also aids delivery, giving the project a range of
housing markets to cater for.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.21 Paragraph 50 of the NPPF, notes that Local Planning Authorities should plan
for a mix of housing based on current and future demographic trends, market
trends and the needs of different groups in the community.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.22 The key policies in the Welborne Plan relating to housing mix are:
WEL17
WEL19
WEL20
WEL21

Market Housing
Specialist accommodation for Older People
Wheelchair Adapted Homes
Custom Built Homes

Evidence
6.23 Evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version relating to
housing mix includes:
• DTZ (2012). Fareham Borough Housing Needs Assessment Final Report.
• DTZ and Wessex Economics (2013). New Community North of Fareham
Housing Market Assessment: Summary Report
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
• 2011 Census.
• Hampshire County Council (2013). Strategic Infrastructure Statement –
Version 1.
• Hampshire County Council (2009). Housing Provision for Older People in
Hampshire: Older persons Housing Study
• GL Hearn for PUSH (2014) South Hampshire Strategic Housing Market
Assessment
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 200

28
May 2014

Infrastructure Requirement
6.24 As set out in the Welborne Plan, the requirements are as follows:
• Approximately 15% of all market homes within each phase to be lifetime
homes
• Specialist accommodation for older people
• Approximately 2% of all homes within each phase to be designed to a high
standard of wheelchair accessibility
• Not less than 1% of all homes at Welborne to be delivered as custom-build
plots.
• In order to ensure that these policy requirements are effectively met, the
developer will be required to meet the costs of a Housing Enabling Officer
employed by Fareham Borough Council. This officer will be responsible for
negotiating and securing the provision of affordable housing (at Affordable
Rent, Social Rent and or Shared Ownership) to meet local housing need.
The officer will secure the provision of free serviced land for affordable
housing and ensure the homes that are developed on the site are
affordable, meet local housing needs and appropriate housing standards
(including space, energy and management standards). The officer will
liaise with the developer, local Registered Providers and the Homes and
Communities Agency to ensure the homes represent value for money,
comply with appropriate standards and are brought forward in a timely
manner.
Education
Background
6.25 The Council is committed to ensuring that Welborne residents have on-site
access to both primary and secondary school provision, in accordance with
current local standards.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.26 Paragraph 72 of the NPPF emphasises the need for a sufficient choice of
school places to be available to meet the needs of existing and new
communities. Furthermore, paragraph 38 identifies a preference for primary
schools to be located within walking distance of most properties.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.27 The key policies in the Welborne Plan relating to education provision at
Welborne are:
WEL15 Primary and Pre-School Provision
WEL16 Secondary School Provision
Evidence
6.28 Evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version relating to
education provision includes:
• Hampshire County Council (2012). School Places: Framework and
Analysis 2012-2016.
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 201

29
May 2014

• Hampshire County Council (2013). Developers’ Contributions towards
Children’s Services Facilities.
• Hampshire County Council (2011). School Places Plan.
Infrastructure Requirement
6.29 The education infrastructure that has been identified as being directly required
at Welborne is detailed as follows:
Item
Nursery 1
Nursery 2
Nursery 3
Primary School 1
Primary School 2
Primary School 3
Secondary School

Size/ Quantity
50 space
50 space
50 space
3 Form Entry (min 2.8ha site)
2 Form Entry (min 2.8ha site)
2 Form Entry (min 2.8ha site)
7 Form Entry (min 9.0ha site)

Phasing
2019
2026
2030
2019
2026
2030
2026

Community and Health Facilities
Background
6.30 The provision of sufficient community and health facilities is a strategic priority
of the Government and of the Council, both in terms of basic service provision
and in terms of helping develop new communities at Welborne.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.31 Paragraph 7 of the NPPF indicates the provision of local services that reflect
the community’s needs and support health, social and cultural well-being are
a key social component in achieving sustainable development. As such,
paragraph 156 of the NPPF emphasises the need for local authorities to set
strategic policies to deliver health and community infrastructure.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.32 The key policies in the Welborne Plan relating to the provision of community
and healthcare facilities at Welborne are:
WEL12 Community Hub
WEL13 Community Buildings
WEL14 Healthcare Services
Evidence
6.33 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to community and healthcare provision is:
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
Infrastructure Requirement
6.34 The community and health infrastructure that has been identified in the
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 202

30
May 2014

Council’s IDP as being directly required at Welborne is detailed as follows:
Item
Size/ Quantity
District Centre Community Building Approximately 1800m2
Public realm provision
Throughout each development
parcel
Primary Care Centre(s)
Minimum 8 GP surgeries
alongside ancillary primary care
Pharmacy 1
Ground floor unit – fit out only
Pharmacy 2
Ground floor unit – fit out only
Optician 1
Ground floor unit – fit out only
Optician 2
Ground floor unit – fit out only

Phasing
2020

2024
2024
2033
2024
2033

Community Development
Background
6.35 Assisting and helping ensure the new Welborne community develops in a
sustainable and cohesive manner is a priority for the Council, so as to ensure
that the high level development principles for the development are met.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.36 The NPPF’s overarching theme of sustainable development requires planning
to perform a social role that supports strong, vibrant and healthy communities,
whilst paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that “planning policies should aim to
ensure that developments will function wellJover the lifetime of the
development; establish a strong sense of place; create safe and accessible
environments”.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.37 The key policy in the Welborne Plan relating to community development at
Welborne is:
WEL2

High Level Development Principles

Evidence
6.38 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to community development is:
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
Infrastructure Requirement
6.39 The community development item in the IDP does not directly relate to an
item of built infrastructure, like other sections. This section identifies the
requirement for an annual commuted sum to be paid in order to finance the
position of a community development officer at Welborne, and to support a
range of programmes aimed at achieving community development throughout
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 203

31
May 2014

the plan period.
6.40 The purpose of the position is:
•
To facilitate the creation of a cohesive community and ensure
integration alongside existing adjoining communities;
•
To facilitate the active involvement of all sectors of the community in
sustainable community activity and encourage sustainable lifestyles;To
enable the community to develop experience, skills and knowledge, to
strengthen their capacity to make improvements to their quality of life, their
communities, and the local environment.
6.41 This role will need to liaise with the development monitoring function within
the Council, as set out in Section 4 of this document.
Sports and Recreation Facilities
Background
6.42 The provision of sports and recreational facilities within the new community is
a key component of creating a high quality and healthy new community.
Facilities may range from sports pitches to play areas.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.43 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF indicates the importance of having access to sport
and recreation space and the need to to ensure that planning policies are
underpinned by an appropriate needs assessment to determine what
provision is required.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.44 The key policy in the Welborne Plan relating to the provision of sports and
recreational facilities at Welborne is:
WEL29

On-site Green Infrastructure

Evidence
6.45 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to sports and recreation facility provision is:
• KKP (2012). NCNF Sports Facilities Implementation Plan.
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
Infrastructure Requirement
6.46 The sports and recreational infrastructure that has been identified in the
Council’s IDP as being directly required at Welborne is detailed as follows:
Item
Bowling Green
Tennis Court 1

Size/quantity
1700m2
670m2

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 204

Phasing
2026
2020
32
May 2014

Tennis Court 2
Tennis Court 3
Tennis Court 4
Swimming Pool (contribution)
Local Play Space (0-11 ages)
Neighbourhood Play Space
(all ages)
Youth Play Space (12+ age)
Playground Play Equipment
Outdoor Playing Pitches
Artificial Playing Pitch
(contribution to cover shortfall
from school funding)

670m2
670m2
670m2

2024
2028
2032

Up to 13 play space areas
Up to 8 play space areas

20152015-

Up to 13 play space areas
42 pieces across all play space
areas
18.2 ha
0.5 ha
(forms part of overall playing
pitch requirement)

20152015-

With
Secondary
School

Maintenance and Management
6.47 The governance and maintenance of sports and recreation facilities is
covered by policy WEL35.
Open Space and ‘Green Infrastructure’
Background
6.48 The provision of open space and green infrastructure within Welborne is key
to the creation of a high quality, visually attractive and healthy new
community. Facilities include amenity green space, allotments and seminatural greenspace.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.49 Green infrastructure is defined by the NPPF as “a network of multi-functional
green space, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a wide range of
environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities”. As such, in
accordance with paragraph 114 of the NPPF, the Welborne Plan positively
plans for the creation, protection, enhancement and management of networks
of biodiversity and green infrastructure.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.50 The key policies in the Welborne Plan relating to open space and green
infrastructure requirements at Welborne are:
WEL29
WEL30
Sites
WEL32
WEL33
WEL34
WEL35

On-site Green Infrastructure
Avoiding and Mitigating the Impact on Internationally Protected
and Off-site Green Infrastructure
Strategic Green Infrastructure Corridors and Connections
Structural Landscaping
Detailed Landscaping
Governance and Maintenance of Green Infrastructure

Evidence
6.51 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 205

33
May 2014

relating to open space and green infrastructure requirements at Welborne is:
•
•
•
•

KKP (2012). NCNF Sports Facilities Implementation Plan.
LDA Design (2014). The Welborne Plan Green Infrastructure Strategy.
AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.

Infrastructure Requirement
6.52 The open space and green infrastructure that has been identified as being
directly required at Welborne is detailed as follows:
Item
Main Park
Small Local Park
Allotments
Semi Natural Greenspace
Incidental GI
Adoption and Management of GI

Suitable alternative natural
greenspace

Size/quantity/ type
20ha
2.8ha
2.1ha
63.2ha – nature reserves,
natural green space
8.7ha – structural planting
Either through
management company or
commuted sum to FBC
See below

Phasing
TBC
TBC
TBC
TBC
TBC
TBC

In line with
house
building

6.53 Maintenance and Management
The governance and maintenance of on-site and adjoining green
infrastructure to Welborne is covered by policy WEL35, which requires details
of who will adopt and have responsibility for managing and maintaining the
network, and potentially the payment of a commuted sum.
Avoiding and Mitigating the Impact on Internationally Protected Sites
Background
6.54 The Solent coastline hosts a number of Special Protection Areas including
Solent and Southampton Water, Portsmouth Harbour and Chichester &
Langstone Harbours. As the Local Planning Authority, Fareham Borough
Council has a duty under the Habitats Directive to ensure that development
will not result in an adverse effect on these internationally protected habitats.
6.55 Local Authorities in South Hampshire and West Sussex that are within
proximity of the protected coastline have been working together with the
Solent Forum and Natural England on the Solent Disturbance and Mitigation
Project (SDMP) to assess the likely significant effects of planned development
and to implement a mitigation strategy. The SDMP has identified a 5.6km
zone of influence whereby development is likely to have a significant effect on
the protected coastal birds and habitats due to increased recreational activity.
The Welborne site falls within the 5.6km zone of influence which means that
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 206

34
May 2014

the development will be expected to mitigate its impact on the protected
habitats.
Policy
6.56 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
The Regulations provide for the designation of European sites and European
protected species. Under the Regulations, competent authorities (in this case,
Fareham Borough Council as the Local Planning Authority) have a duty to
ensure that development will not adversely affect the integrity of a European
site.
6.57 National Planning Policy Framework
Paragraph 166 of the NPPF emphasises the significance of the Habitats
Regulations to support Local Plans.

Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.58 The key policy in the Welborne Plan relating to this issue is
WEL30 – Avoiding and Mitigating the Impact on Internationally Protected
Sites and Off-site Green Infrastructure
Evidence
6.59 Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project
Infrastructure Requirement
6.60 There are two types of infrastructure required to mitigate the impact on the
European protected sites. Firstly the scale of development planned at
Welborne is such that the Council expects the development to provide
substantial green infrastructure (GI) adjoining and in close proximity to the
site, with multiple links to the wider GI network. Providing this GI as suitable
alternative natural greenspace (SANGS) will help to mitigate or avoid
potentially adverse effects on the European sites as residents will have the
opportunity to use the SANGS for recreation and this will reduce visits to the
coast. However it is recognised that the coast has qualities which cannot be
recreated by the provision of SANGS so there is likely to remain a residual
impact. The Welborne Plan recognises that the site promoters may put
forward an alternative Therefore, through the Welborne Plan, the Council has
set out a position in policy WEL30 of the Publication Draft Welborne Plan that
70% of the mitigation should be achieved through the provision of SANGS,
with the remaining 30% being mitigated by contributions towards the
forthcoming Solent Mitigation Strategy.
6.61 The SANGS standards have been calculated on the basis of 8 hectares per
1000 population. The population of Welborne is estimated to be around
15,000 when the development is complete.
8 hectares x 15 x 70% = 84 hectares
6.62 The position above set out in the Welborne Plan is subject to further
refinement. The Welborne Plan (WEL 30) acknowledges that an alternative
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 207

35
May 2014

strategy may be agreed by the Council and Natural England to avoid or
mitigate potential impacts on the internationally protected sites, and states
that the figures set out here could increase or decrease if the number of
homes changes.
6.63 An Interim Planning Framework has been implemented to collect
contributions from development within the zone of influence over the next 2-3
years and the charge is £172 per dwelling. Development at Welborne is not
due to commence until 2016 and by then the Interim Planning Framework
should be replaced by the full mitigation strategy. Therefore the likely level of
contribution will be 30% of whatever the final mitigation strategy proposes.
Natural England has indicated that the charge is likely to range from £250 to
£500 per unit. The Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan assumes a mid point
of £375 per unit.
£375 x 6000 dwellings x 30% = £675,000
Maintenance and Management
6.64 Policy WEL35 of the Welborne Plan sets out that planning applications for
Welborne must be accompanied by an implementation, phasing and
management plan for green infrastructure which identifies who will ultimately
adopt and have responsibility for managing and maintaining the different
components of green infrastructure within and adjoining the site. Key for the
delivery of an appropriate SANGs strategy will be measures to ensure that the
mitigation is secured in perpetuity.

Transport and Access
Background
6.65 The Council is committed to ensuring that Welborne will be designed to make
it easy for people to access homes, jobs and other facilities, both through
improvements in the public highway network and through the provision of high
quality public transport and pedestrian and cycle links.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.66 Making the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling is a
core planning principle of the NPPF, as detailed in paragraph 17. Furthermore
paragraphs 29-41 of the NPPF outline a series of principles and requirements
for promoting sustainable transport, which have been adhered to in
developing policy for the Welborne Plan.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.67 The key policies in the Welborne Plan relating to transport and access
infrastructure provision at Welborne are:
WEL23
WEL24
WEL25
WEL26

Transport Principles for Welborne
Strategic Road Access
Local Road Transport and Access
Public Transport

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 208

36
May 2014

WEL28

Walking and Cycling

Evidence
6.68 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to transport infrastructure provision is:
• Parsons Brinckerhoff (2014). Welborne Transport Strategy Final Report.
• Transport for South Hampshire (2014). Welborne SRTM Modelling
Analysis (Runs 6, 7, 7a, 8a, 8b & 9)
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
Infrastructure Requirement
6.69 The final assessment of necessary infrastructure will be determined through
the Transport Assessment(s) to be prepared by developers. As a guide, the
transport and access infrastructure that has been identified as being directly
required at Welborne in the Transport strategy is identified as follows:
Item
M27 Junction 10 Interim
Improvements
M27 Junction 10 Improvements
(including new junction with A32)
M27 Junction 11 Improvements
Primary Street Network

Description
Capacity improvements to
existing eastbound on-slip
Development of an alldirections Junction 10
TBC
Internal Welborne street
network
Secondary Street Network
Internal Welborne street
network
Adoption of On-Site Street
Adoption under Section 38
Network
including a commuted sum for
future maintenance.
A32 Northern Site Access
4-arm roundabout on A32 at
Forest Lane
A32 Knowle Road roundabout
Minor improvement works
A32 Central Access
4-arm signalised junction on
A32 between Knowle Road
roundabout and Junction 10.
A32 Corridor
A32 widening, alterations and
traffic management.
Off-site Traffic Management
Traffic management and
(rural)
control to surrounding rural
roads including A32 north and
Pook Lane.
Off-site Traffic Management
Traffic management and
(urban)
control to surrounding urban
roads and junctions.
Cycle Parking (Fareham Station) New facility.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 209

Phasing
2018
2018-2022
2018-2022
201520152015-

2016
2016
2015

2016
2022

2015-2018

2015

37
May 2014

On-site Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)
network

Off-site BRT network

Bus Operational Subsidy
Local Bus Infrastructure
Smarter choices
Pedestrian and Cycle Links

Implementation of BRT priority
measures at 4 internal
junctions plus signal
equipment.
Measures to improve proposed
BRT routes from J10 to High
Street.
Operational subsidy for new
Welborne – Fareham route
New bus stops and real-time
departure displays
Area wide travel plan
New linkages to a range of offsite destinations.

2016-2018
& 2020

2019

2016-2028
2019 &
2025
2016-2036
2016
2021

Maintenance and Management
6.70 As noted in the list derived from the Transport Strategy above, the Council
anticipates that the internal road network will be constructed to adoptable
standard and offered for adoption to the County Council as Highways
Authority, under Section 38 including a commuted sum for future
maintenance.
Types of Obligation
6.71 Hampshire County Council is the Highway Authority for the Fareham Borough
Council area. Fareham Borough Council has worked with Hampshire County
Council to determine the likely list of works and measures required, as
identified above, to mitigate the impact of the Welborne development.
6.72 Provision for on-site infrastructure can be made through planning conditions
and a Section 38 or Section 278 Agreement under the Highways Act 1980,
and they will also be secured through a S.106 planning obligation.
6.73 Mostly, the obligation will be on the developer to implement the approved
works via the relevant legal agreements. However there may be some
circumstances where it would be acceptable to contribute a sum of money to
the local highways authority to implement the work on the developer’s behalf.
Where improvements are secured in this way, the developers will be required
either to develop a fully costed scheme in consultation with the local
Highways Authority or commission the local Highway Authority to design and
implement the scheme.
6.74 Where the developer is obliged to implement a transport improvement
through a planning obligation, or has made a financial contribution to the local
highway authority to implement an item of the identified transport
infrastructure, the timing of implementation will be clearly specified in the
planning obligation agreement relating to the development. The trigger for
payment (of the financial contribution) is likely to be related to the
implementation of the development.
Utilities Infrastructure
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 210

38
May 2014

Background
6.75 The provision of, and upgrade to the appropriate utilities infrastructure at
Welborne is an essential part of developing the new community. Along with
new infrastructure for all utilities on-site, Welborne also requires some
extensive upgrades to off-site infrastructure, such as waste water, in order to
ensure appropriate provision of infrastructure.
6.76 Much of the utilities infrastructure will be secured by agreement between
developers and the utilities providers. However, planning obligations will be
used in securing waste facilities and appropriate standards of construction for
residential properties.
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.77 In accordance with paragraph 162 of the NPPF, the Welborne Plan has
assessed the existing capacity of utilities, together with water supply,
wastewater, telecommunications, waste and flood risk.
Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.78 The key policies in the Welborne Plan relating to utilities and the associated
items identified in 6.xx above at Welborne are:
WEL9
WEL36
WEL37
WEL39
WEL40

Employment
Energy
Water Efficiency, Supply and Disposal
Flooding and Sustainable Drainage Systems
Household Waste Recycling Centre and Recycling

Evidence
6.79 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to utilities and associated infrastructure is:
• AECOM (2013). NCNF Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 1 Report.
• AECOM (2014). Welborne Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Stage 2 Update
Report.
Infrastructure Requirement
6.80 The Council’s IDP identifies a number of utilities infrastructure projects which
are needed to bring forward the new community. Of these, key for this
document is the new Household Waste Recycling Centre.
6.81 Policy WEL 40 states that a new HWRC will be developed as part of
Welborne within the main employment areas in the south of Welborne, either
east or west of the A32.
6.82 Although Welborne does not on its own give rise to the need for a new
HWRC, it does form the largest of a number of proposed housing
developments within the area, all of which together give rise to the need for a
new facility.
Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 211

39
May 2014

6.83 In terms of delivery of the HWRC, the Welborne development will be expected
to make a 0.8 hectare plot available for purchase and subsequent
development by Hampshire County Council. As part of this, the development
will be expected to provide a proportionate financial contribution to Hampshire
County Council towards both the cost of constructing the HWRC and towards
the purchase of the specific plot.
6.84 In the circumstances where a suitable plot for a HWRC cannot be made
available at Welborne within the required timeframe, the Welborne
development would remain responsible for providing the same proportionate
financial contribution to Hampshire County Council towards the cost of
purchasing a suitable plot elsewhere and constructing a HWRC.
6.85 Delivery of a new HWRC at Welborne will depend on funding from a variety of
sources, including but not limited to a financial contribution from the
promoters of Welborne. The County Council will be responsible for ensuring
that the total funding package is sufficient to deliver the new facility and will
agree the specific timing of delivery with the site developers.
6.86 In addition, Policy WEL36 sets out the requirement for an Energy Strategy
which will include proposals for an appropriate element of housing to be built
to “passivhaus” standards. Any such housing will be secured through either a
condition or the use of a s106 agreement.
Employment and Skills
Background
6.87 The Core Strategy recognises the need to support programmes of skills
development to assist the local workforce
Policy
National Planning Policy Framework
6.88 In accordance with paragraph 21 of the NPPF, the Welborne Plan seeks to
set out a clear economic vision and strategy for the area which positively
encourages sustainable economic growth.
PUSH Delivery Framework
6.89 The PUSH delivery framework on the Use of Developer Contributions to
Provide Workforce Training was endorsed by the PUSH Joint Committee at
their meeting of 11 January 201114. This document sets out the case for the
appropriate use of developer contributions for training and employment.

Welborne Plan Publication Version (February 2014)
6.90 The key policy in the Welborne Plan relating to employment and skills at
Welborne is:

14

http://www.push.gov.uk/pjc-110111-r05-gtu-kra-.pdf

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 212

40
May 2014

WEL43 Development Construction and Quality Control
Evidence
6.91 The main evidence in support of the Welborne Plan 2014 Publication Version
relating to skills is in the Welborne Employment Strategy and the PUSH Skill
sand Employability Strategy.

Infrastructure requirement
6.92 Policy WEL 43 of the Welborne Plan requires that initial planning applications
are accompanied by employment and training plans demonstrating how local
people will be included in the development process and can develop relevant
construction and related skills and find employment in the development of
Welborne.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 213

41
May 2014

Glossary
Affordable
Housing

Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to
eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Eligibility
is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices.
Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable
price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for
alternative affordable housing provision.
Social rented housing is owned by local authorities and private
registered providers (as defined in section 80 of the Housing and
Regeneration Act 2008), for which guideline target rents are
determined through the national rent regime. It may also be owned by
other persons and provided under equivalent rental arrangements to
the above, as agreed with the local authority or with the Homes and
Communities Agency.
Affordable rented housing is let by local authorities or private
registered providers of social housing to households who are eligible
for social rented housing. Affordable Rent is subject to rent controls
that require a rent of no more than 80% of the local market rent
(including service charges, where applicable).
Intermediate housing is homes for sale and rent provided at a cost
above social rent, but below market levels subject to the criteria in the
Affordable Housing definition above. These can include shared equity
(shared ownership and equity loans), other low cost homes for sale
and intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing. Homes that
do not meet the above definition of affordable housing, such as “low
cost market” housing, may not be considered as affordable housing for
planning purposes

Community
Infrastructure
Levy (CIL):

A planning charge on new development. The rate(s) (at pounds
sterling per square metre) is set up in a charging schedule, which
balances the estimated total cost of infrastructure required to support
development and the overall potential effects of the levy on the
economic viability of development. The infrastructure required to
support new development, which the Community Infrastructure Levy
can help to pay for, includes roads, schools and recreational facilities.

Development
Plan

The Development Plan sets out the parameters for all development in
the Borough. It comprises the Local Plan (Parts 1, 2 and 3) and the
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 214

42
May 2014

European Sites

Defined in Regulation 8 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010, these include a range of ecological sites designated
for the protection of rare, endangered or vulnerable natural habitats
and species of exceptional importance within the European Union.
Designations include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and
Special Protection Areas (SPAs), while Ramsar sites, which generally
overlap SACs and SPAs.

Green
Infrastructure

A network of high-quality multi-functional green (and blue) spaces,
urban and rural, capable of providing and wide range of environmental
and quality of life benefits for local communities.

Habitats
Regulation

Refers to the Habitats and Conservation of Species Regulations 2010,
which provide for the designation and protection of European sites,
and the adaptation of planning and other controls for the protection of
European sites.

Hampshire
County Council

The higher tier local authority in which Fareham is located. Hampshire
County Council is the statutory planning authority for highways,
minerals and waste development in non-unitary and non-national park
local authority areas.

Infrastructure

The facilities and services needed for a place to function. This includes
roads and utilities as well as school places, GP surgeries, libraries and
a range of other facilities.

Local Plan

The plan for the future development of in law, the development plan
document adopted under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

Local Planning
Authority

The public authority that has a duty it is to carry out specific planning
functions for a particular area. All references to local planning authority
apply to the district council, in this Fareham, this is the Borough
Council. But also see the entry for Hampshire County Council above.

National Planning

Introduced in March 2012, this new framework sets out the

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 215

43
May 2014

Policy
Framework
(NPPF)

Government’s planning policies for England and how these are
expected to be applied. It provides the framework within which local
councils can produce local plans, which reflect the needs and priorities
of their communities.

Open Space

All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of
water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer
important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual
amenity.

Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG)

Introduced in March 2014, this guidance provides further detailed
explanation of how the policies within the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) should be applied.

“Ransom Strips”

Parcels of land which hold the key to unlocking the development
potential of adjoining land.

Solent
Disturbance &
Mitigation Project
(SDMP)

A project to investigate the disturbance on the SPAs that arises from
new development and consider and implement appropriate mitigation
measures.

Sustainable
Development

Development that meets the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs

Viability

In planning terms relates to the assessment of a development scheme
to establish that favourable conditions regarding the financial aspects
will enable development to proceed.

Fareham Borough Council
DRAFT Welborne Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD

Page 216

44
May 2014

Agenda Item 11(4)

Report to the Executive for Decision
02 June 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:

Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate Objective:

Planning and Development
Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document for the Borough of
Fareham (Excluding Welborne)- Draft for Consultation
Director of Planning and Development
Fareham Local Plan
To protect and enhance the environment
To maintain and extend prosperity
To ensure that Fareham remains a safe and healthy place
to live and work
To provide a reasonable range of leisure opportunities for
health and fun
To work with our key partners to enable and support a
balanced housing market
To build strong and inclusive communities
To be a dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
This report summarises the content, scope and purpose of the draft Planning
Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document for the
Borough of Fareham (Excluding Welborne), with a view to thereafter commencing a
public consultation exercise.

Executive summary:
The Council has historically utilised planning obligations, often also commonly
referred to as s106 agreements, from new development in order to secure
contributions towards open space, transport improvements, schools provision etc.
Following the introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) the amount of
planning obligations being secured has been scaled back as the majority of
infrastructure is now being secured through CIL. However, as CIL can only be used
for infrastructure, planning obligations are still needed to secure a number of
elements considered necessary to make development acceptable in planning terms.
The SPD sets out the Council’s approach for the use of planning obligations to
secure satisfactory development and essential infrastructure for the Borough
(excluding Welborne) where CIL is not being sought, including the delivery of
affordable housing. The document will provide a useful Development Management
tool against which planning applications can be assessed. It will also inform the
review of the Borough Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule.

Page 217

Recommendation:
That the Executive approves the following:
(a) That the Draft Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary
Planning Document for the Borough of Fareham (Excluding Welborne), as
set out in Appendix A, be published for a six-week public consultation.
(b) That the Director of Planning and Development, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Planning and Development and Executive Member for
Health and Housing, be authorised to make any necessary minor changes to
the document, prior to publication, providing that these do not change the
overall direction, shape or emphasis of the document, and do not raise any
significant new issues.
(c) That the Draft Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing Supplementary
Planning Document for the Borough of Fareham (Excluding Welborne) be
endorsed as interim guidance to be afforded due weight in the determination
of planning applications across the Borough.

Reason:
To fulfil the requirements of regulations 11-16 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for the production of Supplementary
Planning Documents.

Cost of proposals:
The cost of undertaking the publication of the Welborne Planning Obligations and
Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document is covered within existing
budgets.

Appendices:

A: Draft Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document for the Borough of
Fareham (Excluding Welborne)

Background papers: Local Plan Part 1: The Core Strategy (August 2011)

Page 218

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 June 2014
Subject: Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD for the Borough of
Fareham (Excluding Welborne) - Draft for Consultation
Briefing by: Director of Planning and Development
Portfolio: Planning and Development

INTRODUCTION
1.

Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) should be produced where they can help
applicants make successful planning applications and should build upon and provide
more detailed guidance on the policies in the Local Plan, whilst not unnecessarily
adding to the financial burdens on development (paragraph 153 of the National
Planning Policy Framework refers).

2.

The Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD for the Borough of Fareham
(Excluding Welborne) will be a material planning consideration for decision-making
purposes and, in conjunction with the Core Strategy and the Development Sites &
Policies Plan, will be used to assess planning applications across the Borough (but
excluding Welborne). It is anticipated that the Development Sites & Policies Plan will be
submitted for Examination in Public later this year.

3.

In addition, the document provides essential background evidence for the review of the
Community Infrastructure Levy charge for the Borough. This review will be the subject
of a separate Examination in Public later this year. The production of the SPD at this
stage will also, therefore, be a useful background document in both forthcoming
Examinations by providing more certainty of the Council’s policy requirements.
BACKGROUND

4.

National planning policy and legislation allows local authorities to use certain
mechanisms to facilitate necessary infrastructure provision and affordable housing
needs of their area. The key mechanisms are principally through the use of planning
obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Historically the Council has used
planning obligations to deliver essential infrastructure, to address the effects of
developments, or to control and/or enhance specific aspects of the development.
However, following the introduction of CIL the use of planning obligations has been
scaled back, with the majority of contributions towards infrastructure now secured
through CIL.

Page 219

5.

The Core Strategy contains Policy CS20: Infrastructure and Developer Contributions
sets out the Council’s strategic approach to securing contributions and provides the
Policy basis for the formulation of this SPD.

6.

In addition to satisfying the requirements of the national guidance and expanding on
Core Strategy Policy CS20, this SPD will also replace the detailed guidance currently
contained with the Affordable Housing SPD (2006) and the Open Space Supplementary
Planning Guidance (2002) into one up to date document. This document will cover the
Borough, with the exception of Welborne, which has a separate bespoke SPD.
CONTENT OF THE DOCUMENT

7.

The purpose of the Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD for the Borough
of Fareham (excluding Welborne) is to set out the approach to delivering infrastructure
and securing appropriate development through the use of planning obligations. This is
considered necessary to demonstrate clearly what the Council’s approach to securing
planning obligations will be in the light of the introduction of CIL.

8.

The proposed format and scope of the document is set out below. An outline of the
document showing section headings follows.

9.

Section 1 Introduction - Setting out the purpose and scope of the document and how it
has been produced.

10. Section 2 Policy Background - A run through of the relevant national and local policy
background, including existence of a borough-wide CIL charge.
11. Section 3 Methods of Securing Developer Contributions – This provides information on
the different methods the Council can use to secure developer contributions, including
conditions, obligations, section 278 agreements and CIL.
12. Section 4 How will the Council use Planning Obligations? - This explains the
relationship between CIL and planning obligations and in what circumstances the
Council will seek to utilise planning obligations.
It also sets out monitoring
arrangements.
13. Section 5 Development Viability - This sets out the national guidance with regards to
considering viability when seeking to secure developer contributions. This introduces
the Council’s approach which is that where viability issues are raised, and the required
obligations cannot be met, a full viability assessment will need to submitted, and the
Council may seek to have this checked by a third party for validity.
14. Section 6 Types of Planning Obligations - This introduces the Council’s approach to the
more common types of planning obligations including affordable housing, Solent Special
Protection Areas, transport and access, employment skills, on-site open space and
ransom strips.
15. The document has three appendices which provide further guidance on affordable
housing, the Solent Disturbance & Mitigation Project and on-site open space, outdoor
sports provision and children’s play equipment.

Page 220

CONSULTATION AND NEXT STEPS
16. Following approval by the Executive, the SPD will be published for a six-week
representation period between mid-June and late-July 2014. The public consultation will
include written notification to relevant parties who will be invited to comment on the
document. In addition, the consultation will be promoted on the Borough Council’s
website.
17. Following public consultation, officers will undertake any re-drafting considered
necessary to address salient points raised. The draft document, responses to the
consultation, and any proposed changes, will be available to inform the forthcoming
Examinations into the Development Sites & Policies Plan and the revised CIL Charging
Schedule. Once the document has been re-drafted, the finalised SPD will be brought
back to the Executive for approval to adopt.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
18. The costs involved in undertaking publication and consultation of the Guidance is
covered in existing budgets.
CONCLUSIONS
19. The Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD for the Borough of Fareham
(Excluding Welborne), as set out in Appendix A, would supplement the policies of the
Core Strategy to secure the satisfactory delivery of new development, by helping to
deliver the necessary essential infrastructure and affordable housing. It is therefore
recommended that the requisite public consultation be undertaken to enable
progression of the document to adoption.

Page 221

Page 222

Planning Obligations and Affordable
Housing Supplementary Planning
Document for the Borough of Fareham
(Excluding Welborne)

DRAFT

May 2014

Page 223

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

0

Page 224

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Contents
Consultation

3

1: Introduction
Purpose of this Document
Scope of this Document
How this Document has been produced

4
4
4
4

2: Policy Background
National Planning Policy
Fareham Local Plan

7
7
7

3: Methods of Securing Developer Contributions
Planning Conditions
Planning Obligations
Section 278 Agreements
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

8
8
8
10
11

4: How will the Council use Planning Obligations?
The relationship between CIL and Planning Obligations
The future use of Planning Obligations in Fareham
Monitoring

12
12
12
13

5: Development Viability
National Planning Policy Guidance
The Council’s Approach to Developer Viability

14
14
14

6: Types of Planning Obligations
Affordable Housing
Solent Disturbance & Mitigation Project (SDMP)
Employment Skills
Transport & Access
On-site Open Space & Children’s Play Equipment
Ransom Strips

16
16
16
17
17
18
18

Glossary

20

Appendices
Appendix A: Affordable Housing Standards
Appendix B: Solent Disturbance & Mitigation Project Research &
Justification
Appendix C: On-site Open Space, Outdoor Sports Provision &
Children’s Play Equipment Standards

1

Page 225

23
27
32

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

2

Page 226

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Consultation
i

Fareham Borough Council is now consulting on the Planning Obligations and
Affordable Housing (excluding Welborne) Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD). This document has been produced as supplementary guidance to
support the Council’s preparation of the Local Plan and the review of the
current Fareham CIL Charging Schedule, which came into effect on 1 May
2013.

ii

All comments received in response to this consultation will be fully
considered before the final version of the Planning Obligations and
Affordable Housing SPD is produced. The Council’s intention is to adopt the
final version of this SPD in late 2014 or early 2015.

iii

The Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD is available for
consultation between the XX June 2014 and XX July 2014. All comments
should be received in writing by 5pm on XX July when the consultation will
close. For further information on this SPD and to submit comments on the
document please visit the Council's website at:
Hyper link neededBBB

iv

Alternatively,
comments
can
be
submitted
planningpolicy@fareham.gov.uk or by post to:

via

e-mail

to

Planning Policy
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way,
Fareham
PO16 7AZ.
Comments may also be delivered by hand to the Council’s reception at the
Civic Offices. For any queries please call 01329 236100.
v

Please note that comments cannot be treated as confidential. They will be
made available as public documents, in accordance with Government
regulations.

3

Page 227

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

1: Introduction
Purpose of this Document
1.1

The Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing (Excluding Welborne)
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out Fareham Borough
Council’s approach to securing planning obligations from new development,
either to deliver essential infrastructure, to address the effects of
developments, or to control and/or enhance specific aspects of the
development.

1.2

The SPD also provides further detailed guidance on the Council’s approach
to securing affordable housing (outside of Welborne), as well as setting out
the Council’s preferred tenure, dwelling type and size mix for affordable
housing.
Scope of this Document

1.3

This SPD relates to all of Fareham Borough except the area included within
the Welborne Plan policy boundary (see Figure A). There is a separate
planning obligations SPD being produced to cover Welborne. It should be
noted that presently the CIL charging schedule covers the whole of Fareham
Borough. The CIL charging schedule is currently being reviewed and should
be completed by the end of 2014 or ealy 2015.

1.4

The reason why the Council is producing two separate planning obligations
SPDs relates to the very large scale and special circumstances of the
Welborne development, which is being planned through a separate Local
Plan document. The Council considered that including the detailed planning
obligations guidance for Welborne within a single SPD for the Borough would
make that document too large, complicated and potentially confusing for
landowners and developers of the smaller developments across the rest of
the Borough.
How this Document has been Produced

1.5

This SPD and the guidance within it have been produced to comply with the
relevant planning legislation and to be fully consistent with national planning
policy and guidance1 and with the Fareham Local Plan, which consists of the:
•
•

Adopted Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy;
Emerging Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan; and

1

The National Planning Policy Framework (DCLG, March 2012) and the National Planning Guidance
(DCLG, March 2014)

4

Page 228

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

•
1.6

Emerging Local Plan Part 3: The Welborne Plan.

This SPD has also been informed by the evidence base which supports the
Local Plan.

5

Page 229

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Figure A: Map showing the areas of the Borough covered by this document.

Page 230
6

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

2: Policy Background
National Planning Policy
2.1

National planning policy and legislation provide the mechanisms for local
authorities to work to the infrastructure and affordable housing needs of their
area. The main ways of doing this are through the use of planning
obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy. Planning conditions and
Section 278 agreements are also commonly used for this purpose.

2.2

Supplementary Planning Documents are documents that provide “further
detail to the policies in the Local Plan”. They can be used to provide further
guidance on particular issues, and while they are not part of the development
plan, they are a material consideration in planning decisions

2.3

The Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing (Excluding Welborne) SPD
has responded to the advice set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF). The NPPF requires local planning authorities to
“consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made
acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning
obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address
unacceptable impacts through a planning condition”.
Fareham Local Plan

2.4

Policy CS20 of the adopted Fareham Core Strategy (Local Plan Part 1),
which is set out below, gives the local policy context for the guidance in this
SPD.
CS20 Infrastructure and Development Contributions
Development will be required to provide or contribute towards the provision of
infrastructure through planning conditions, legal agreement or directly
through the service provider. Contributions or provision may also be required
to mitigate the impact of development upon infrastructure. Detailed guidance
on provision or contributions is or will be set out in Supplementary Planning
Document(s) including any standard charges introduced through the
Community Infrastructure Levy.
Provision or financial contributions will be required to include arrangements
for on-going maintenance where necessary and appropriate.
Phasing of development will be related to the provision of infrastructure.
Consideration will be given to pooling of contributions towards the cost of
facilities.
7

Page 231

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

3: Methods of Securing Developer Contributions
3.1

Developer contributions can be sought through a number of different
mechanisms. These include:
•
•
•
•

Planning conditions (these cannot secure financial contributions);
Planning obligations (also known as Section 106 agreements)
Section 278 agreements
Community infrastructure levy

Planning Conditions
3.2

Planning conditions can deal with a wide variety of matters. Types of
conditions include, for example, time limits on development, undertakings
regarding environmental and noise issues, and limits on the size and external
appearance of a new development. Planning conditions cannot be used to
secure financial contributions. The power for local planning authorities to
attach conditions when granting planning is given by Section 72 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

3.3

When imposing planning conditions, local planning authorities are required
by law to ensure that they are:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

necessary;
relevant to planning;
relevant to the development to be permitted;
enforceable;
precise; and
reasonable in all other respects

3.4
Planning Obligations
3.5

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 gives local planning
authorities the power to enter into agreements (known as planning
obligations) with the owners of land (but also see below) for the following
purposes:(a) Restricting the use or development of land in any specified way;
(b) Requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on,
8

Page 232

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

under or over the land;
(c) requiring the land to be used in a specified way; or
(d) requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified
date or dates or periodically.
3.6

Paragraph 203 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that “Local
planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used when it is not
possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition”.

3.7

There are occasions on which local planning authorities, when granting
planning permission, will use the powers given by section 106 when the
desired objective cannot be achieved by the attachment of a planning
condition to the planning permission. In those cases the local planning
authority will require that the planning obligation is completed prior to the
issuing of the planning permission. For example, planning obligations can
secure the provision of on-site works such as the provision of public open
space and can secure financial contributions to allow the local authority to
carry out works to mitigate the impact of the development. Planning
obligations can also place restrictions or requirements on how land is used.

3.8

Planning obligations are legal deeds that have to be entered into by the land
owner(s) (generally freehold and leasehold) and anyone else who has a legal
interest in the land such as mortgagees. Planning obligations usually take the
form of an agreement between the local planning authority and the land
owner(s)/interested parties but section 106 also makes provision for planning
obligations to be given to the local planning authority unilaterally i.e. only
signed by the land owner(s) and other parties with and interest in the land
and not by the Council. Unilateral obligations are most frequently used in
appeal situations but can be used in others.

3.9

Planning obligations are a tried and tested mechanism. They are flexible and
have historically delivered a wide range of on-site and wider community
infrastructure benefits, including the transfer of land for community use as
well as regulating the way in which land is used.
Section 278 Agreements

3.10 These are agreements made under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980
between the owners of land and the Highway Authority (Hampshire County
Council are the Highway Authority Fareham Borough) for the private sector
9

Page 233

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

funding of works on the public highway network. Section 278 agreements
provide a mechanism for ensuring delivery of mitigation works identified as
necessary for planning permission to be granted. The works can be carried
out by the Highway Authority and recharged to the developer, or the
developer can carry them out themselves as its agent. Unlike planning
obligations, there is no legal provision for unilateral versions of section 278
agreements.
3.11 The need for a section 278 agreement arises when alterations or
improvements to the highway are identified as being necessary in order to
make a development acceptable in planning terms. Examples of works that
may be required are: provision of a new junction to access the site or
construction of a footway along the frontage of a site to make access to and
from the development safe for pedestrians. Typically such works are
identified as part of the Transport Assessment and subsequent discussions
with the Highway Authority (the County Council). The works would need to
be secured by planning condition or section 106 agreement and then carried
out at an agreed point in the development, typically prior to commencement
or occupation of the development depending on the nature of the works.
3.12 The wording of the section 278 agreement ensures that the works are carried
out to the necessary design standards, requiring that details of the scheme
be submitted to the Highway Authority for approval before they can be
implemented. The agreement also ensures that the contractor has the
necessary insurance to work on the highway, and provides for a bond to be
secured so that, if the contractor defaults on the works, the Highway
Authority has the funds in place to complete the scheme.
3.13 The Community Infrastructure Levy Amendment Regulations 2014 brought
section 278 agreements within the restrictions imposed by CIL Regulation
123. The implication of this is that it will not be possible for a section 278
agreement to be entered into in relation to any scheme that is identified on
the infrastructure list published by Fareham Borough Council in accordance
with CIL Regulation 123. This will ensure that there is no overlap between
the highway infrastructure funded through CIL and that funded by, or secured
through, section 278 agreements.

Community Infrastructure Levy
3.14 The Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule for its area with effect from 1 May 2013. From that date any
development gaining planning permission is liable for the payment of CIL in
10

Page 234

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

accordance with the Charging Schedule and the CIL Regulations.
In
simplistic terms CIL is a charge on development that provides new buildings
into which people normally go to use.
3.15 The CIL chargeable amount is not negotiable and is derived from the figures
contained in the Council’s Charging Schedule and the formula contained in
the CIL Regulations. The Council has produced a CIL Guide for Developers
and Land Owners which is available on its web site. The Guide explains how
CIL is calculated and gives some example calculations. Also available on the
Council’s web site is a CIL calculator which enables the CIL liability for a
given development proposal to be calculated.
3.16 CIL is not intended to provide funding for the total cost of required
infrastructure but will be used in conjunction with other sources of
infrastructure funding.
3.17 The use of CIL receipts is controlled by the CIL Regulations but broadly will
be used to help fund infrastructure projects that support residential and
economic growth, provide certainty for future development, and benefit local
communities. It will also provide a predictable funding stream so that the
delivery of infrastructure projects can be planned more effectively.

11

Page 235

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

4: How will the Council use Developer Contributions?
The Relationship between CIL and Planning Obligations
4.1

Following the adoption of the Council’s CIL Charging Schedule, CIL has
become the primary source of infrastructure funding through the grant of
planning permissions. Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations restricts the use
of planning obligations to secure funding for infrastructure projects or types of
infrastructure as explained below.

4.2

In conjunction with the adoption of its CIL Charging Schedule, the Council
has published a ‘Regulation 123 list' on its website that sets out the
infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure that it intends will be, or may
be, wholly or partly funded by CIL receipts. These types of infrastructure or
projects on the list cannot be funded through the imposition of section 106
planning obligations. This is to avoid any developer/land owner contributing
towards the same infrastructure through both CIL and a planning obligation.
It should be noted however that CIL receipts can be spent on any relevant
infrastructure and not just those projects or types of infrastructure that appear
on the Regulation 123 list.

4.3

In addition, Regulation 123 limits the pooling of contributions resulting from
planning obligations completed after 1 April 2010 to no more than five for
each infrastructure project or type.

4.4

There will be occasions in which a development will be liable for CIL as well
as there being the requirement for the completion of a planning obligation.
Such obligations will relate to site specific requirements that are necessary to
make the proposed development acceptable in planning terms while
adhering to the provisions of Regulations 122 and 123 of the CIL
Regulations.

4.5

For further details about the relationship between CIL and Planning
Obligations please read the Council’s Guide for Developers and
Landowners2 which is available on the Council’s website.
The Future Use of Planning Obligations

4.6

2

Following the adoption of its CIL Charging Schedule the Council has been
scaling back its use of planning obligations.
In particular, planning
obligations will no longer be used to secure general tariff type contributions,

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/Fareham_CILGuideRevised.pdf

12

Page 236

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

such as for the provision of off-site public open space and recreational
facilities. The use of planning obligations may however continue to be used
for, but not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Affordable housing
The on-site provision and maintenance of public open space including
children’s play areas
The provision of on-site footpaths/cycleways through or leading to onsite open space or which will form part of a wider network
Contributions towards the Solent Disturbance Mitigation Project
(SDMP)
Other restrictions on the use of land
Securing access to developable land adjoining application sites to
ensure comprehensive development (the prevention of the creation of
ransom strips)
On-site nature conservation measures
The promotion of employment skills
Contributions to fund the making of traffic regulation orders e.g. to
impose waiting restrictions on roads near to application sites

More detail on some of these types of obligations can be found in Section 6.
Monitoring
4.7

The Council monitors completed obligations to ensure compliance by all
parties with any covenants, restrictions, and stipulations contained within
them.

4.8

Planning Obligations secured by way of a Section 106 agreement or
Unilateral Undertaking are binding on the land and are therefore enforceable
against all successors in title. They are registered as a local land charge and
will remain on the register and therefore revealed on local searches until the
planning obligation has been fully complied with or the planning permission to
which the Section 106 agreement or Unilateral Undertaking relates has
expired.

4.9

All financial contributions are monitored closely to ensure their spending is
wholly in accordance with the terms set out within the agreement and that
allocations of contributions are appropriate and in accordance with the tests
set out in National Planning Guidance (formerly set out in Circular 05/2005).

4.10 Through these monitoring processes the Council is confident that it can
provide a full and comprehensive audit trail of any allocation and spending of
planning obligations' monies should any developer require it. In due course
the developer will be expected to pay a charge for monitoring purposes in
order to cover the expenses incurred by the Council for this service.
13

Page 237

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

5: Development Viability
National Planning Policy Guidance
5.1

The NPPF3 puts emphasis on the need for Local Authorities to consider the
viability of schemes carefully. It states that “to ensure viability, the costs of
any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements
for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other
requirements should, when taking into account of the normal costs of
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land
owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable.”

5.2

Viability considerations are emphasised further in the Planning Practice
Guidance4, which states that “In making decisions, the local planning
authority will need to understand the impact of planning obligations on the
proposal. Where an applicant is able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the
local planning authority that the planning obligation would cause the
development to be unviable, the local planning authority should be flexible in
seeking planning obligations.”
The Council’s Approach to Development Viability

5.3

Taking into account the guidance in the NPPF and Planning Practice
Guidance the Council will take a pragmatic approach to contributions.
However, when assessing the financial viability of a potential scheme,
developers should carefully consider the principles in this guidance.

5.4

Assessing the overall viability of a scheme should lead to an understanding
of the scale of planning obligations which are appropriate. Where viability
concerns are raised by a developer in relation to contributions for an
application the Council will expect a full “open-book” viability assessment for
the scheme to be submitted. The Council reserves the right to have all
viability assessments checked by an independent third party to ensure the
validity of the assumptions used. The Council’s viability assessment costs
incurred would be paid be the developer.

5.5

The NPPF Framework is clear that where safeguards are necessary to make
a particular development acceptable in planning terms, and these safeguards
cannot be secured, planning permission should not be granted. This means

3

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/viability-guidance/viability-and-decisiontaking/ (paragraph 173)
4
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/viability-guidance/viability-and-decisiontaking/ (paragraph 019)

14

Page 238

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

that whilst the Council will be flexible in seeking planning obligation where
viability is a concern, development that cannot provide the necessary
requirements may be considered unacceptable and will, in such cases, be
refused.

15

Page 239

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

6: Planning Obligations
6.1

The following section looks into more detail at some of the more common
types of planning obligations the Council will seek to secure via a legal
agreement. It is important to note that this is not an exhaustive list and the
exact requirements for planning obligations will be decided on a case-bycase basis.
Affordable Housing

6.2

The Council’s requirement for the provision of affordable housing is set out in
Core Strategy Policy CS18. Policy CS18 states, in summary;
•

•
•

On sites with a capacity of 5 to 9 dwellings, 30% of the new dwellings
will need to be affordable, unless it is impracticable in which case
alternative methods of delivery can be considered.
Sites that can produce a net gain in units of between 10 and 14 new
dwellings are required to provide 30% affordable housing on site.
Sites that can produce a net gain in units of 15 new dwellings or more
are required to provide 40% affordable housing on site.

The Policy also states that development will be required to provide a mixture
of dwelling types, sizes and tenures reflecting the identified housing needs of
the local population.
6.3

The Council’s current approach to securing on-site affordable housing is
primarily through planning conditions. In cases where off-site provision is to
be made, or financial contributions are taken, these are secured through
section 106 agreements. It is the Council’s intention to secure all affordable
housing, whether on or off site, through section 106 agreements in due
course.

6.4

Detail on the Council’s desired approach to delivering affordable housing, in
terms of method of provision, tenure split and mix of types and size of
dwellings is set out in detail in Appendix A. This should form the basis of the
affordable housing provision to be proposed on all relevant developments.
Solent Special Protection Areas (SPAs)

6.5

Through the work of the Solent Disturbance & Mitigation Project (SDMP) it
has been concluded that any net increase in residential development will give
rise to likely significant effects on the Solent Coastal Special Protection
Areas (SPAs), either “alone” or “in combination” with other development
16

Page 240

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

proposals. As a result, in order to meet the requirements of the Habitats
Regulations 2010, mitigation measures will need to be provided where
necessary from development schemes before works can go ahead.
6.6

Through the SDMP work, Local Authorities and Natural England have agreed
a set of interim mitigation measures. This mitigation scheme is being
operated by all of the local authorities along the Solent, and has been scaled
based on the amount of development in current and progressing Local Plans.

6.7

The total cost of the mitigation framework is currently calculated as £172 per
net additional dwelling and is applicable across the whole Borough.
Developments such as sheltered accommodation, retirement homes,
nursing/rest homes may need to provide mitigation and will be assessed on a
case-by-case basis based on an analysis of the likely impact of the residents
and the level of care.

6.8

More information on the SDMP work, research and justification for the
mitigation measures proposed are set out in Appendix B.
Transport & Access

6.11 In some cases a planning obligation will be used to secure a contribution
towards the cost of making a traffic regulation order (TRO) on the highway
adjacent to the application site. In most cases, the TROs are likely to be ones
imposing parking restrictions but could also be used for restricting or
controlling vehicular use of a particular stretch of highway.
6.12 Planning obligations may also be used to secure the provision of on-site
footpaths or pedestrian/cycle links to open space or where they form part of a
wider network.
Employment Skills
6.13 The Core Strategy recognises the need to support programmes of skills
development to assist the local workforce. This can prevent unnecessary
commuting to employment sites in the Borough. The Council will assess on
a case-by-case basis the need for a developer to provide a commitment to
targeted recruitment and training for local residents. Planning Obligations to
secure such commitments are only likely to be necessary on major
developments or significant employment sites.

17

Page 241

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

On-site Public Open Space, Outdoor Sport & Children’s Play Equipment
6.14 With the introduction of CIL the majority of strategic open space
improvements will be delivered using accumulated CIL funds. However
developments of a certain size (see Appendix C) will be required to provide
open space, outdoor sport facilities and/or children’s play equipment on-site.
Such open space is requirement to make development acceptable in policy
terms and will be secured through a section 106 agreement. As this
provision is required to meet the on-site needs of the development CIL funds
will not be used to deliver the same piece of infrastructure.
6.15 Policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy requires that appropriate provision
is made for open space, outdoor sport and children’s play equipment in new
developments. The determination will be based upon the contents of the
latest available survey of Open Space in the Borough, which is currently the
Fareham Greenspace Addendum 20145.
6.16 Calculating what types, and how much on-site open space and children’s
play equipment are required is set out in detail in Appendix C.
6.17 For all on-site open space the Council will need to be satisfied that suitable
arrangements have been made for their long-term maintenance and that they
will be kept as public open space in perpetuity.
Ransom Strips
6.18 To ensure the most efficient use of land the Council may require a section
106 agreement to ensure that development does not prejudice the provision
of access to adjacent land. The necessity for the use of section 106 in this
regard will be considered on a case by case basis.

5

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/local_plan/GreenspaceStudyAddendum2014.pdf

18

Page 242

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Glossary
Affordable
Housing

Affordable housing: Social rented, affordable rented and
intermediate housing, provided to eligible households whose
needs are not met by the market. Eligibility is determined with
regard to local incomes and local house prices. Affordable
housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable
price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be
recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.
Social rented housing is owned by local authorities and private
registered providers (as defined in section 80 of the Housing and
Regeneration Act 2008), for which guideline target rents are
determined through the national rent regime. It may also be
owned by other persons and provided under equivalent rental
arrangements to the above, as agreed with the local authority or
with the Homes and Communities Agency.
Affordable rented housing is let by local authorities or private
registered providers of social housing to households who are
eligible for social rented housing.
Affordable Rent is subject to rent controls that require a rent of
no more than 80% of the local market rent (including service
charges, where applicable).
Intermediate housing is homes for sale and rent provided at a
cost above social rent, but below market levels subject to the
criteria in the Affordable Housing definition above. These can
include shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other
low cost homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not affordable
rented housing.
Homes that do not meet the above definition of affordable
housing, such as “low cost market” housing, may not be
considered as affordable housing for planning purposes.

Community
Infrastructure
Levy (CIL):

A planning charge on new development. The rate(s) (at pounds
sterling per square metre) is set up in a charging schedule, which
balances the estimated total cost of infrastructure required to
support development and the overall potential effects of the levy
on the economic viability of development. The infrastructure
required to support new development, which the Community
Infrastructure Levy can help to pay for, includes roads, schools
and recreational facilities.

19

Page 243

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Development
Plan

The Development Plan sets out the parameters for all
development in the Borough. It comprises the Local Plan (Parts
1, 2 and 3) and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan.

European Sites

Defined in Regulation 8 of the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2010, these include a range of ecological
sites designated for the protection of rare, endangered or
vulnerable natural habitats and species of exceptional
importance within the European Union. Designations include
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection
Areas (SPAs), while Ramsar sites, which generally overlap SACs
and SPAs.

Green
Infrastructure

A network of high-quality multi-functional green (and blue)
spaces, urban and rural, capable of providing and wide range of
environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.

Habitats
Regulation

Refers to the Habitats and Conservation of Species Regulations
2010, which provide for the designation and protection of
European sites, and the adaptation of planning and other
controls for the protection of European sites.

Hampshire
County Council

The higher tier local authority in which Fareham is located.
Hampshire County Council is the statutory planning authority for
highways, minerals and waste development in non-unitary and
non-national park local authority areas.

Infrastructure

The facilities and services needed for a place to function. This
includes roads and utilities as well as school places, GP
surgeries, libraries and a range of other facilities.

Local Plan

The plan for the future development of in law, the development
plan document adopted under the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

Local Planning
Authority

The public authority that has a duty it is to carry out specific
planning functions for a particular area. All references to local
planning authority apply to the district council, in this Fareham,
this is the Borough Council. But also see the entry for
Hampshire County Council above.

National
Planning Policy
Framework
(NPPF)

Introduced in March 2012, this new framework sets out the
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are
expected to be applied. It provides the framework within which
local councils can produce local plans, which reflect the needs
20

Page 244

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

and priorities of their communities.
Open Space

All open space of public value, including not just land, but also
areas of water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs)
which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and
can act as a visual amenity.

Planning
Practice
Guidance (PPG)

Introduced in March 2014, this guidance provides further detailed
explanation of how the policies within the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) should be applied.

“Ransom
Strips”

Parcels of land which hold the key to unlocking the development
potential of adjoining land.

Solent
Disturbance &
Mitigation
Project (SDMP)

See Appendix B.

Sustainable
Development

Development that meets the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own
needs

Transport
Regulation
Order (TRO)

the legal document required to support a range of measures,
which govern or restrict the use of public roads including double
yellow lines, one-way streets, banned turns and bus lanes.

Viability

In planning terms relates to the assessment of a development
scheme to establish that favourable conditions regarding the
financial aspects will enable development to proceed.

21

Page 245

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Appendix A: Affordable Housing Standards
Methods of providing Affordable Housing
A.1

There are three ways of providing affordable housing on private (market)
scheme and the Council’s preferences, in order, are:
1. On-site provision
2. Off-site provision
3. Financial contributions.
On-site Provision

A.2

On-site provision is where units on a private market development are
brought forward as affordable housing to help create socially balanced
communities. This is the Council’s preferred method for providing the
required amount of affordable housing units on any given development.
Only on developments with fewer than 10 units, and where on-site provision
can be shown to be impractical or unviable, will alternative methods be
considered.

A.3

To ensure the creation of a mixed, integrated and socially inclusive
community, affordable housing should be developed to a similar design so
they become indistinguishable from the market housing.
Off-site Provision

A.4

In exceptional circumstances the Council may agree to affordable housing
being delivered at an alternative location. Provision would need to be
equivalent to that otherwise required on site, in a location agreeable to the
Council and built out in a reasonable time frame.
Financial Contributions

A.5

On sites of 5-9 dwellings, and where on-site and off-site provision are
demonstrated to be, and accepted as, impractical or unviable, an equivalent
financial contribution will be sought. Nationally there is no prescribed
methodology for calculating commuted sums but any such contribution
should be broadly equivalent in value to the cost of on-site provision.

A.6

In seeking to reach agreement on any commuted sum to be paid in lieu of
affordable housing on site a contribution representing 30% of the open
market value (OMV) for each affordable dwelling will provide the basis for
22

Page 246

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

negotiation.
Example:
A Developer is proposing to build 6 x 2 bedroom homes all for
private sale. A scheme of this size attracts an affordable housing
contribution of 30%, equating to 2 x 2 bedroom homes.
Based on recent research the OMV for each 2 bedroom property is
assessed as £150,000, meaning the OMV of the total affordable
provision is worth £300,000.
Based on the assumption that the land value will be broadly
equivalent to 30% of the OMV, the Council would require £90,000 as
a commuted sum and in lieu of affordable housing being provided on
site.
Tenure and Dwelling Mix
A.7

The Council advocates a tenure blind approach to housing development.
Affordable housing should be integrated with, rather than segregated from,
private housing with new developments. This should be as seamless as
possible to the extent that different tenures appear indistinguishable.
Affordable homes should be ‘pepper potted’ across a development in such
a way that avoids a sense of separation between the tenure types and
promotes sustainable communities.

A.8

The greatest need for affordable housing in the Borough is homes for rent.
The Council will therefore seek a proportion of affordable housing for rent
as a part of all new residential developments with an affordable housing
requirement.

A.9

A tenure ratio of 70:30 in favour of affordable /social rented accommodation
against intermediate housing will normally be acceptable when delivering a
policy compliant scheme. However, in instances where the viability of a
development is challenged and the overall percentage of affordable homes
is reduced, the Council reserve discretion to increase the proportion of
affordable/social rented units required in light of this being the greatest area
of need.

A.10

The Council would wish to encourage the development of new social rented
homes (as opposed to affordable rented) where it is suitable and financially
viable to do so.

23

Page 247

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Dwelling Type
A.11

It is essential that affordable homes deliver good quality long term
accommodation and can cater for the changing dynamics within a family
over time. As such the Council aims to ensure that all new affordable
homes are of a suitable size and type to meet a variety of housing needs.

A.12

Based upon recommendations from the 2013 Strategic Housing Market
Assessment6 the Council aims to achieve the mix of units set out in Table 1
below. The proportions sought on individual sites may differ depending on
the specific circumstances of each development, but it will remain the
Council’s decision to stipulate the type and size of the units to be achieved
within the context of developer proposals.

Table 1: Dwelling Type mix for affordable housing
Occupancy
Unit size
Required %
Combined %
level
1 bedroom

2 person

35%

3 person

10%

4 person

25%

5 person

15%

2 bedroom

35%

3 bedroom
4 bedroom+

A.13

35%

25%
6 person

10%

7 person

5%

5%

It is likely that all one bedroom homes and larger family homes will need to
be for rent, but consideration shall be given to the prevailing housing
demands at the time of an application being made.
Design Requirements

A.14

6

New affordable homes must comply with the national and local standards
adopted at the time planning permission is sought. These will relate to
issues such as space, layout, and energy efficiency. Of particular
relevance are Core Strategy Policy CS17: Design and Council’s the
Supplementary Planning Document on Design (due for adoption in early
2015).

http://www.push.gov.uk/work/housing-and-planning/strategic_housing_market_assessment.htm

24

Page 248

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Delivery Partners
A.15

The Council’s preference is for affordable homes to be provided by a
recognised Registered Provider (RP) who is already signed up to the
Council’s Affordable Housing Agreement (details of providers can be
provided upon request).

A.16

This ensures new affordable homes are developed and managed to the
Council’s required standards, and are available in perpetuity to people from
the Council’s Housing Waiting List. The agreement is reviewed annually to
ensure that management standards etc remain up to date with current best
practice.

25

Page 249

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Appendix B: Solent Disturbance & Mitigation Project
Research and Justification
What are Special Protection Areas?
B.1

A Special Protection Area (SPA) is an area of land, water or sea which
has been identified as being of international importance for the breeding,
feeding, wintering or the migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds
found within the European Union. SPAs are European designated sites,
classified under the European Wild Birds Directive which affords them
enhanced protection.

B.2

Almost the Borough’s entire coastline is covered by one of the Solent
Coastal Special Protection Areas (SPAs) designation. The Solent Coastal
SPAs have been designated for the protection of significant number of
waders and waterfowl which spend the winter in the Solent. It is estimated
that the Solent as a whole supports about 10-13% of the world population
of Brent Geese, and about 30% of the UK population during the winter.
Policy Context & Research

B.3

The European Habitats and Birds Directives protect rare species and
habitats. Member states are required to classify particular habitats as
SPAs and manage them to a favourable condition.

B.4

The Directives have been transposed into UK law through the Habitats
Regulations, which state that Local Planning Authorities must assess
whether development is likely to have a significant effect on an SPA. Due
to the precautionary approach in the regulations, it is necessary to
demonstrate, with a reasonable degree of certainty, that any project will
not be likely to have an effect on the SPA before it can lawfully be
authorised.

B.5

The Council has been working with neighbouring authorities, the
Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH), Natural England and
other stakeholders to investigate the disturbance on the SPAs that arises
from new development. A great deal of research has now been done
through the Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project (SDMP), which has
involved:
•
•

A desktop review of existing national and local research
A survey of visitors at the Solent SPAs

26

Page 250

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

•
•
•

•

A survey of households living close to the Solent SPAs
Bird disturbance fieldwork at the SPAs
Computer modelling to establish whether the patterns of
activity which were observed at the Solent SPAs lead to
mortality in bird populations
Advice on the kinds of mitigation measures that could be
used to remove mortality in bird population.

B.6

The research looked at where people travel from to reach the coast and
the distance they have to travel. It found that 75% of all visits to the Solent
SPAs are from 5.6km or less. All of Fareham Borough is within 5.6km of
the Solent SPAs.

B.7

Through the work of the SDMP it has been concluded that any net
increase in residential development will give rise to likely significant effects
on the Solent Coastal SPAs, either “alone” or “in combination” with other
development proposals. As a result, in order to meet the requirements of
the Habitats Regulations, mitigation measures will need to be provided
where necessary from development schemes before works can go ahead.

B.8

In the long-term the most effective solution to this issue would be a joint
mitigation framework amongst all local authorities within 5.6km of the
Solent SPAs. However, whilst work continues on this, an interim migration
framework will enable development to provide the necessary mitigation in
order to go ahead in compliance with the Habitats Regulations.
Interim Mitigation Measures

B.9

The following interim mitigation measures have been agreed by Local
Authorities and endorsed by Natural England:
•

•
•

A team of rangers who will work on the ground at European
sites to reduce disturbance levels and initiate specific
measures at the sites to reduce disturbance levels
A project officer to oversee the rangers
A monitoring scheme.

B.10

This mitigation scheme is being operated by all of the local authorities
along the Solent, and has been scaled to reflect the amount of
development in current and progressing Local Plans.

B.11

The total cost of the mitigation framework will be £172 per net additional

27

Page 251

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

dwelling. Developments such as sheltered accommodation, retirement
homes, nursing/rest homes may need to provide mitigation and will be
assessed on a case-by-case basis based on an analysis of the likely
impact of the residents and the level of care.
B.12

This fee is chargeable to all locations in the Borough as the whole
Borough is within the 5.6km distance from the SPA which is deemed to
have the greatest impact upon the SPA.

B.13

These proposals are one way in which developments could provide a
package of mitigation measures which would remove the likelihood of a
significant effect as a result of disturbance on the Solent SPAs. Applicants
are free to propose an alternative approach to the protection of the Solent
SPAs from disturbance caused by recreation and this will be considered
by the Council.

B.14

The £172 sum has been developed by taking account of all planned
residential development across the Solent, looking at adopted and
progressing Local Plans (see section below). This allows developers to
benefit from economies of scale in implementing the mitigation and
ensures a consistent approach across the areas affected.

B.14

The measures set out in the interim mitigation scheme are not considered
to be infrastructure under Regulation 123 of the CIL regulations. As a
result, they can be secured using a legal agreement.
Calculation of the Developer Contribution

B.15

Table 2 below lists the nature and cost of the measures included within the
interim framework.

Table 2: Estimated annual cost of mitigation framework
Item
Cost
Notes
Full-year ranger (one £40,000
As the mitigation is required to prevent
post)
impacts on over-wintering birds, most of the
rangers will only be employed during each
Winter-only
rangers £60,000
winter. The figures include salaries plus an
(three posts)
allowance for uniform, personal protective
equipment,
equipment,
vehicle
rent,
maintenance and fuel.
Project implementation £28,000
Officer
Operating budget
£21,080
Operating budget includes printing, signage
28

Page 252

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Monitoring

£8,333

Sub-total of mitigation £157,413
costs
In perpetuity funding
£215,184

Total annual costs:

and web-design.
Three years of funding will be rolled together
to pay for on-site collection of data on bird
and visitor behaviour during one winter.

Set at 136.7% of annual mitigation costs,
which is the level that allows for sufficient
interest to be gained by the year 2029 to
cover the annual mitigation costs. See table
3 below.

£372,597

B.16

The local authorities across the Solent anticipate that planning permission
will be granted for approximately 2,220 homes per annum within the 5.6
kilometre zone, of which around 100 are expected to be one bedroom
properties with no parking provision. The latter will generate far fewer
recreational trips to the coast and as a consequence will require far less
mitigation; so they will be required to contribute only half that of other new
dwellings. Sharing the £372,597 total cost between those anticipated
dwellings means a contribution of £172 per standard dwelling and £86 for
each property with only one bedroom and no parking provision.

B.17

To maintain the mitigation measures in perpetuity, some of the funding
contribution will be invested, so that by 2029 there should be sufficient
money invested to generate sufficient annual income to cover the annual
cost of the mitigation measures. Table 3 below shows the accumulation of
cash necessary to ensure a future income stream to achieve that. The first
row shows the in-perpetuity allowance element of the developer
contributions secured during the preceding year. A 4% interest rate has
been assumed for each year (row 2): this is an average as it is recognised
that rates will vary over time. Row 3 shows the interest earned and row 4
shows that year's contribution from developers to the in-perpetuity fund.
Row 5 is the total of rows 1, 3 and 4: it then becomes the sum carried
forward to the ensuing year.

29

Page 253

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

2014/15

2015/16

Table 3: In-perpetuity funding
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

Page 254

1

Carried
Forward

0

£215,184

£438,974

£671,717

£913,769

£1,165,504

£1,427,307

2

Interest Rate

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

3

Interest Earned

0

£8,607

£17,559

£26,869

£36,551

£46,620

£57,092

4

Developer
Contributions

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

5

Total Funds

£215,184

£438,974

£671,717

£913,769

£1,165,504

£1,427,307

£1,699,583

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

2027/28

2028/29

1

£1,699,583

£1,982,750

£2,277,244

£2,583,517

£2,902,041

£3,233,306

£3,577,822

£3,936,119

2

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

4.00%

3

£67,983

£79,310

£91,090

£103,341

£116,082

£129,332

£143,113

£157,454

4

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

£215,184

5

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

£1,982,750

30

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Appendix C: On-site Open Space, Outdoor Sport &
Children’s Play Equipment Standards
Fareham Borough’s On-site Open Space Standards
C.1

The Borough Council’s on-site Open Space Standards set out in Policy
CS21 have been derived from the Fareham Green Space Study 2007, its
2010 addendum and the 2012 Fareham Playing Pitch Study. The overall
Standard is divided into the different categories of provision as summarised
in the box below.
Parks & Amenity Open Space
1.5ha/1,000 population
Outdoor Sport
1.2ha/1,000 population

Definitions
C.2

The Greenspace study sets out a clear definition of “Parks and Amenity
Open Space”, but in short it contains urban parks, buffer zones around
children’s play equipment, informal recreation spaces, incidental space,
village greens and green paths between developments. This type of space
is not laid out for defined sport, recreation or as a playspace but is
accessible, available and safe for all purposes. It is largely comprised of
the sort of areas that people think of as “typical” public open space, for
everyday activities such as dog-walking or a “kickabout”.

C.3

These types of spaces are vital to the success of new developments as
they not only provide a pleasant backdrop to the urban environment, but
they also play an important function in the health and wellbeing of all
residents. In order to provide a useable space, which is of true value to its
users, the minimum size of any on-site open space should be 0.1ha
(approx. 35m x 30m, with no single dimension less than 10m).

C.4

Outdoor sport is made up of playing pitches, courts, greens, athletics tracks
or training areas. Playing pitches should be grass, artificial or synthetic
surfaces marked out for team sports including football, rugby, cricket,
hockey etc. This also includes areas around pitches required for “run-off” or
player safety purposes. Appropriate ancillary facilities, including changing
rooms can count towards this standard.
31

Page 255

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

What Types of Development Generate an on-site Open Space and
Sports Provision Requirement?
C.5

All residential development is likely to create some need for Open Space.
However, individual dwellings and small developments will only create a
limited demand and are unlikely to be able to deliver a practical on-site
solution. Therefore the Council will require the provision of on-site Open
Space in line with the thresholds in table 4 below.
Table 4: On site Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision
Thresholds
Net increase Parks and
Outdoor Sport
in dwellings
Amenity Open
Space
Less than 20
Not normally
Not required
required
20-49
May be required
Not required
depending on
circumstances and
location
50-299
Will be required
Not normally required
300+
Will be required
Will be required

7

C.6

Different age groups will have different requirements for Open Space;
however, all the residents of a community will make some use of their local
Open Spaces, whether it is for walking, sitting, sports or play. Therefore, in
general, all types of new residential development above the threshold are
considered to generate demand for on-site parks and amenity open space.

C.7

For specialist accommodation (such as hostels, student accommodation
and accommodation for those with special needs etc) the Council will
consider the need for on-site open space on a case by case basis.

C.8

For sites yielding between 20 and 49 dwellings the Council will normally
only seek to secure the provision of on-site parks and amenity Open Space
where the proposed development will exacerbate, or create, a deficit in
provision. The determination will be based upon the contents of the latest
available survey of Open Space in the Borough, which is currently the
Fareham Greenspace Addendum 20147. However, on sites of 50 or more
dwellings on-site parks and amenity open space will normally be expected

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/PDF/planning/local_plan/GreenspaceStudyAddendum2014.pdf

32

Page 256

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

to be delivered on site regardless of local provision in order to serve new
resident’s needs as local as possible.
C.9

In large developments there may be a requirement to provide on-site
Outdoor Sports facilities to serve the needs of the new residents. For sites
of 300-599 units the need for pitches will be determined by taking into
consideration the local provision of sports pitches, including their
accessibility in relation to the development site. Of sites of 600 or more
units the provision of on-site playing pitches will be required.
Calculating the Requirement for on-site Open Space and Outdoor
Sports Provision

C.10

Table 5 has been developed as a simple tool to determine the level of open
space and outdoor sports provision required in new developments (where
considered using the site thresholds set out in table 4). The table is derived
from the space standards set out in the Core Strategy multiplied by the
average number of people per dwelling size (calculated from FBC and HCC
research).
Table 5: Calculating the Requirement for on-site Open Space and
Outdoor Sports Provision
Parks & Amenity Outdoor
Sports
Open Space
Provision

Provisional rates
1 Bed
2 Bed
3 Bed
4 Bed
5+ Bed
Studio
Elderly 1bed
Elderly 2 bed

15 sq.m per person
(Insert no. of units)
20.70 x
=
29.40 x
=
38.70 x
=
46.35 x
=
49.80 x
=
15.00 x
=
15.00 x
=
18.00 x
=

Total Requirement (sq.m)

sq.m

12 sq.m per person
(Insert no. of units)
16.56 x
=
23.52 x
=
30.96 x
=
37.08 x
=
39.84 x
=
12.00 x
=
12.00 x
=
14.40 x
=
sq.m

Children’s Play Equipment
C.11

Children’s play equipment should be provided on new development to
serve the needs of the children on that development. The Council has two
different definitions of areas for children’s play equipment: “LEAP’s” (Local
33

Page 257

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Equipped Areas for Play) and “NEAP’s” (Neighbourhood Equipped Areas
of Play), their definitions are below. The Council will seek areas of
children’s playing for the site size thresholds site out in table 6.
Table 6 Children’s Play Equipment Thresholds
Net increase in Children’s Play Equipment
dwellings
Less than 20
Not normally required
20-49
May be required depending on
circumstances and location
50-199
LEAP
200+
NEAP
C.12

For sites of less than 50 children’s play equipment may be required on site
if there are no accessible areas of children’s play within a reasonable
walking distance. However, for sites yielding over 50 dwellings children’s
play equipment will normally be expected to be delivered on site
regardless of local provision in order to serve new resident’s needs as
local as possible.

C.13

Older person’s accommodation is not considered to create a demand for
children’s play equipment. In schemes proposing to deliver wholly older
person’s accommodation children’s play equipment is therefore not
required. Where older person’s accommodation forms part of a wider
scheme, those units proposed for that use should not be included in the
dwellings total used to determine what form of children’s play area is
required (table 6).
LEAP’s are designed to provide equipment for younger children and
should be located where they are easy and safe to access. Ideally this
means they should serve a catchment area within 5 minutes’ walk or
400m. They should be a minimum 400sq.m in size, include at least 5
pieces of equipment on safety surfacing and be surrounded by dog-proof
safety fencing. Given the Council’s experience to-date regarding the
impact of LEAP’s and the likely form of housing layouts in the future, the
distance between the equipped area and the nearest residential boundary
should be a minimum 20m. Therefore a LEAP (0.04Ha), including buffer
zone (0.46Ha), extends to a minimum 0.50Ha.
NEAP’s are designed to provide equipment mainly for older children and
should be located where they are easy and safe to access. Ideally this
means they should serve a catchment area within 15 minutes’ walk or
1Km. They should be a minimum 1,000 sq.m in size, include at least 8
34

Page 258

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

pieces of equipment on safety surfacing and a hard surfaced multipurpose area and surrounded by dog-proof safety fencing. Given the
Council’s experience to-date regarding the impact of NEAP’s and the likely
form of housing layouts in the future, the distance between the equipped
area and the nearest residential boundary should be a minimum 30m.
Therefore a NEAP (0.1Ha), including buffer zone (0.90Ha), extends to a
minimum 1.00Ha.
Outline Applications & Amended Permissions
C.14

Where outline or other planning applications contain insufficient detail to
allow the calculation of the open space requirement, applicants will be
required to enter into a planning obligation in order that any open space
required may be calculated and provided in accordance with adopted
Policy CS21 and this SPD at the appropriate time in the future. Given that
the appropriate provision of open space required by the future residents of
proposed developments is a material consideration in the determination of
planning applications, proposals to renew or extend the time limit
conditions of previously permitted development will be subject to the
adopted Policy CS21 and this SPD. Applications to amend previously
permitted development will also be subject to a reassessment of the Open
Space required under Policy CS21 and this SPG, except where the
revisions are considered to comprise minor amendments.
Maintenance

C.15

Developers will be required to make provision for the maintenance of
Open Space they supply and retain on or off-site. Subject to obtaining the
Council’s written agreement, developers may make their own
arrangements for maintenance. However, given the costs and other issues
associated with private maintenance, most developers are likely to prefer
to transfer ownership and future maintenance to the Council. In such
cases, the developer will be required to maintain the approved Open
Space to the Council’s satisfaction for a period of 12 months following its
completion. After this period, the land will be transferred to the ownership
of the Council for a nominal fee set out in the planning obligation and
subject to the payment of a sum to cover the future maintenance of the
Open Space.

C.16

Where maintenance is secured by means of a development contribution,
the amount due will be calculated using Table 9, which will be revised as
at 1 April annually in line with inflation (Retail Price Index); unless
otherwise justified, for example by greater than average price rises in
35

Page 259

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Open Space equipment.

36

Page 260

Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD (Excluding Welborne) 2014Fareham Borough Council

Table 9: Calculating Maintenance Contributions
Parks & Amenity Outdoor
Open Space
Provision
Provisional rates

Sports Children’s
Equipment

Play Total
Maintenance
Contribution

Page 261

1 Bed
2 Bed
3 Bed
4 Bed
5+ Bed
Studio
Elderly 1bed
Elderly 2 bed

£6 per sq.m
(Insert no. of units)
£124 x
=
£177 x
=
£232 x
=
£278 x
=
£299 x
=
£90 x
=
£90 x
=
£108 x
=

£17 per sq.m
(Insert no. of units)
£282 x
=
£400 x
=
£526 x
=
£630 x
=
£677 x
=
£204 x
=
£204 x
=
£245 x
=

£92 per sq.m
(Insert no. of units)
£254 x
=
£361 x
=
£475 x
=
£569 x
=
£611 x
=
£184 x
=
NOT APPLICABLE
NOT APPLICABLE

Total Contribution

£

£

£

37

£

Page 262

Agenda Item 12(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
02 June 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Policy and Resources
Matched Funding – Quarterly Report
Director of Finance and Resources
Grants Policy
All corporate objectives apply

Purpose:
To provide details of matched funding requests received by the Council during the
first quarter of the 2014/15 financial year.

Executive summary:
During this quarter, the Council has received two matched funding requests as
follows:
Holy Rood Church has requested £25,000 towards extending and upgrading its
kitchen. Full details are set out in Appendix A.
Portchester Community School has requested £9,800 towards replacing all of the
gym equipment in its fitness suite. Full details are set out in Appendix B.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive agrees:
(a) that matched funding of up to £25,000 be awarded for Holy Rood Church; and
(b) that matched funding of up to £9,800 be awarded for Portchester Community
School.
(c)
Reason:
To act as an enabler, assisting the local community in making improvements to local
community facilities, and introducing new facilities for the benefit of all age groups
within the community.

Cost of proposals:
Up to £34,800 (the matched funding budget currently has funds of approximately
£112,973).

Page 263

Appendices: A: Matched Funding Application – Holy Rood Church
B: Matched Funding Application – Portchester Community School

Background papers:

Page 264

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 June 2014
Subject: Matched Funding Report
Briefing by: Director of Finance and Resources
Portfolio: Policy and Resources
INTRODUCTION
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide details of any matched funding requests
received by the Council during the first quarter of the 2014/15 financial year.
BACKGROUND

2.

On 8 March 2010, the Executive considered a report on the various discretionary grants
provided by the Council. The report included details on each category of grant and the
level of funding available. Members agreed to combine a number of grants into a single
pot for the 2010/11 financial year onwards.

3.

The report also highlighted the need for the Council to take a more coordinated
approach in assessing matched funding requests in the future.

4.

It was agreed that the procedure for applying for matched funding be changed so that
bids would be considered by the Executive on a quarterly basis, by predefined dates, in
order that applications could be prioritised.

5.

It was also suggested that as matched funding requests are received, those "in the
pipeline" are identified, as well as those submitted for formal consideration.
CRITERIA

6.

The criteria for matched funding awards have been deliberately kept simple. The
Council will consider any project which benefits the local community and/or improves
the local environment.

7.

Awards will only be made for capital projects and will not include on-going revenue
funding.

8.

The important fact about a matched funding application is that the sum being requested
from the Council needs to be matched by the applicant and/or other agencies. This
helps to ensure that there is a definite commitment and sense of ownership from the
local community in both delivering the project and maintaining the facilities thereafter.
Page 265

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
9.

The current balance of the matched funding budget is approximately £112,973.
MATCHED FUNDING BIDS RECEIVED
Holy Rood Church

10. A matched funding bid has been received from Holy Rood Church for a sum up to
£25,000 towards extending and upgrading its kitchen which has reached the end of its
useful life and requires complete replacement.
11. The improvements would enable the church to continue to provide catering facilities to
those members of the community who hire their rooms on a private basis and to
encourage additional community use of the facilities. The details are set out in Appendix
A.
Councillor Consultation
12. Ward Councillors Mrs Mandry and Forrest are fully supportive of the application.
Portchester Community School
13. A matched funding bid has been received from Portchester Community School for a
sum up to £9,800 towards replacing the gym equipment in its fitness suite which is over
20 years old.
14. The improvements would enable more people to use the fitness suite and for the
community to have access to a low cost facility in the Portchester area. There is no
other such provision locally. The details are set out in Appendix B.
Councillor Consultation
15. Ward Councillors Fazackarley, Norris and Price are fully supportive of the application.
MATCHED FUNDING BIDS “IN THE PIPELINE”
16. There are no potential matched funding bids in the pipeline at the current time.
RISK ASSESSMENT
17. The risks and opportunities associated with each funding bid are considered on an
individual basis and details are included in each assessment document.
CONCLUSION
18. This report sets out details for the matched funding bids received by the Council for the
first quarter of the 2014/15 financial year.
Reference Papers:
• Report to the Executive on 8 March 2010 – Review of Discretionary Grants
•

Report to the Executive on 17 May 2010 – Grants Review Update

Page 266

Appendix A - MATCHED FUNDING REQUEST
APPLICANT
PROJECT
DESCRIPTION

Holy Rood Church, Crofton.
Crofton is a Church of England parish within the
villages of Stubbington and Hill Head. The Holy
Rood church is one of two buildings that the church
has in the parish and is the larger of the two and
holds traditional church services. One of the
morning services includes children groups,
activities and crèche.
The church has a selection of rooms of different
sizes that are available for hire to groups or
individuals including a main hall and kitchen
facilities.
The church is seeking to extend and upgrade its
kitchen which is 22 years old. It has reached the
end of its useful life and requires complete
replacement.
The project will extend the kitchen to incorporate
the old boiler space. It will include the installation
of replacement stainless steel furniture and
equipment in the kitchen, to meet current health
and safety requirements.
The improvements would enable the church to
continue to provide catering facilities to those
members of the community who hire their rooms on
a private basis and to encourage additional
community use of the facilities.

PROJECT
COSTS

The total project cost is £62,000.

PROJECT
FUNDING

As of 31 December 2013 the church had £155,000 of
restricted funds and £73,000 of unrestricted funds
(which could potentially be used for this project) in
their current and deposit accounts respectively.
These are grants or donations with conditions
attached by the donor and therefore cannot be used
for the kitchen project.
The applicant has allocated £23,000 of their reserves

Page 267

to this project and seeks to fund the balance from:

COMMUNITY
BENEFITS

•

A £6,000 grant from the Hammond Trust.

•

A £6,200 grant from Portsmouth Diocese
Mission Opportunities Fund.

•

£25,000 from the Council's Community Fund.

The proposed works will ensure that the current
community provision can continue. Installing larger
serving hatches to each of the two rooms directly
served by the kitchen will allow additional community
groups to benefit from the facilities.
Currently, 20 community groups make use of the
kitchen facilities. Approximately 1800 people make
use of the facilities from these groups and from
festivals.
The community facilities are provided to both church
and non-church related groups, all age ranges, the
vulnerable and is also accessible for those with a
disability.

ENVIRONMENTAL
BENEFITS

LINKS TO THE
COUNCIL'S
CORPORATE
PRIORITIES

There are no significant environmental benefits.
However, the use of modern kitchen appliances
will be more energy efficient.
This application is consistent with the Council’s role
of “a partner”, as identified in the Leisure Strategy,
to continue, where possible, to actively collaborate
with other providers within the local area and to
maximise potential opportunities for sport.
The ward councillors are fully supportive of the
application and proposals and the Executive
Leader has given "in principle" support subject to
consideration by the Executive.

PROJECT RISKS

The project would be managed by the church who
would appoint a sole contractor to carry out all of the
works.

Page 268

RECOMMEND

That the Executive gives consideration to making a
matched funding award of up to £25,000 to this
application, subject to:
1. The remainder of funding being in place.
2. The club entering into a Community Use
Agreement.
3. Receipt of all Local Authority approvals, i.e.
building regulations.

Page 269

Page 270

Appendix B - MATCHED FUNDING REQUEST
APPLICANT
PROJECT
DESCRIPTION

Portchester Community School
Portchester Community School has extensive
community provision including adult education,
childcare, an adult day centre, facility hire, a 3G
football pitch and tennis courts.
The existing fitness suite has been in use of over
20 years, with the result that much of the
equipment has become tired and many of the
items are now beyond repair. As a result of the
poor standard of the equipment, community use
of the fitness suite has declined and there are
now only six regular members.
The school is seeking to replace all of the current
fitness equipment to allow the community use of
the facility to increase.
The improvements would enable more people to
use the fitness suite and for the community to
have access to a low cost facility in the
Portchester area. There is no other such provision
locally.

PROJECT COSTS

The total project cost is £19,800.

PROJECT
FUNDING

Portchester Community School currently has
£121,000 in reserve funds.
Of this, £84,000 is allocated to existing projects.
Within this, £10,000 is being put towards the
replacement of the fitness equipment.
The remaining balance of £37,000 is used to pay
for staff cover and unforeseen expenses.
The school propose to fund the project from:
•
•

£9,800 from the Councils Community Fund.
£10,000 from the existing reserves.

Page 271

COMMUNITY
BENEFITS

The proposed works will mean that the service can
be enhanced by the provision modern and reliable
fitness equipment. This will help ensure that the
current community provision can continue and be
increased.

ENVIRONMENTAL
BENEFITS

There are no significant environmental benefits.

LINKS TO THE
COUNCIL'S
CORPORATE
PRIORITIES

This application is consistent with the Council’s
role of “a partner”, as identified in the Leisure
Strategy, to continue, where possible, to actively
collaborate with other providers within the local
area to maximise potential opportunities for sport.
The ward councillors are fully supportive of the
application and proposals. The Executive Member
for Leisure and Community has given "in principle"
support subject to consideration by the Executive.

PROJECT RISKS

The project would be managed by the community
school.

RECOMMEND

That the Executive gives consideration to making a
matched funding award of up to £9,800 to this
application, subject to:
1. The remainder of funding being in place.
2. The club entering into a Community Use
Agreement.

Page 272

Agenda Item 14(1)

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 273

Page 298

Agenda Item 14(2)

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 299

Page 308

